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ANNUAL REPORT 2002

In millions, except
per common share
and selected data.
Twelve months ended

November 30 2001 2000 19989 1998
Financial Information
Net revenues $ 6,155 £ 6,736 $ 7,707 $ 5,340 $ 4,113
Net income @ $ 975 $ 1.255 $ 1,775 $ 1,132 § 736
Total capital @ $ 48,330 $ 47,470 $ 43,874 $ 37,684 § 32,754
Per Common Share Data®
Earnings @¢ $§ 347 $ 438 $ 638 § 4.08 § 260
Dividends declared $ 036 $ 028 $ 022 $ 018 $ 015
Book value $ 34.15 § 31.81 $ 2878 $ 2275 $ 18.53
Ending stock price $ 61.40 $ 66.15 § 49.56 $ 3819 $ 25.00
Selected Data
Return on average common equity © 11.2% 15.9% 26.6% 20.8% 15.2%
Return on average common equity
{excluding the special
preferred dividend) ®% 11.5% 16.5% 27.4% 21.8% 16.3%
Pre-tax operating margin *® 22.7% 26.0% 33.5% 30.5% 25.6%
Adjusted leverage ratio ® 17.2x 17.9x 16.6x 18.6x 20.6x
Weighted-average common and
equivalent shares (in miliions) @® 261.2 265.3 264.2 258.6 250.0
Employees 12,343 13,090 11,326 8,893 8,873

(1) 2002 net income includes a $128 million
pre-tax charge ($82 miliicn after-tax) related
10 the reconfiguration of certain of the
Company's global real estate, $108 million
pre-tax gain {$60 million after-tax) from
Septernber 11th relzted {recoveriesyexpenses,
net and pre-tax charge of $80 million (356
million after-tax} related to the Company’s
requlatory settlement. 2001 net income
includes a $127 million pre-tax charge ($71
million after-tax) for September 11th related
expenses, net.

(2) Total capital includes long-term debt, stock-
halders” equity and preferred securities sub-
ject to mandatory redernption,

(3) All share and per share data have been
restated for the twa-for-one common stock
split effective Octaber 2000,

{4) Diluted EPS was reduced by $0.30 in 2002
a5 a result of the real estate reconfiguratian
charge, September 11th related {recoveries)
expenses, net and regulatory settlement
charge. Diluted EPS was reduced by $0.26 in
2001 25 a result of September 11th related
expenses, net.

{5} For the years enced November 30, 2000 and
1999, the assumed conversion of Series A
and B Convertible Preferred Stock into
2,438,375 and 5,558,474 common shares
had the effect of decreasing dituted earnings
per share by $0.03 and $0.02, respectively.

{6) The Company's return on common sauity
was reduced by 1.0% in 2002 as a resutt
of the real estate reconfiguration charge,
September 11th related (recoveriesiexpenses,
net and requlatary settlement charge. The
Company's retum on comman equity was
reduced by 1.0% in 2001 as a result of
Septernber 11¢h related expanses, net.

(7) Retusn on common equity calculated using
net incame before adjusting for special
preferred dividends of $25 million in 2002
and $50 million in years 1998-2001. These
dividends have been excluded on an adjusted
basis, as they will no longer be recurring
after 2002.

(8) Pre-tax operating margin was reduced by
approximately 1.7% in 2002 as a result
of the real estate reconfiguration charge,
Septerber 11th relatad (recaveries)iexpenses,
net and regulatory settlement charge. Pre-tax
operating margin was reduced by approxi-
mately 1.8% in 2001 as a result of
September 11th related expenses, net,

{9) Ratio of total assets excluding matched
book to total stackhalders’ equity and other
preferred securities.



To succeed: Distinguish yourself
from the competition. Our way:
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Dear Shareholders and Clients,

In 2002, Lehman Brothers had its third best
revenue year in another very difficult market
environment. Although the economy and
financial markets were weak, the Firm was
strong. The teamwork, creativity and dedi-
cation of our people
helped our clients
solve their most com-
plex and challenging
issues, all of which
enabled the Firm to
succeed throughout the
year. We finished the
year by winning
Thomson IFR’s “Bank
oftheYear” award,
the industry’s most

prestigious honor.

omies around the world and both investor
skepticism and greater regulatory scrutiny in
the wake of high profile cases of corporate
fraud. Merger and acquisition activity dropped
substantially from the already depressed 2001
levels; global equity
markets suffered
their third consecu-
tive year of negative
returns, which had
not happened in over
70 years; and fixed
income markets

experienced extreme

volatility and signifi-
cant deterioration
in corporate credit

quality. Despite all

The award recog-
nized a year of achievement, including innova-
tive transactions for many of the most sophis-
ticated clients in the world, ga;ns in market
share across products and regions and the
continued success of our Best Operator strategy.
Our financial results in 2002 demonstrat-
ed the breadth and resiliency of our franchise.
We performed well in a period of market
turmoil resulting from heightened geopolitical

risks, weak growth rates in the major econ-

 these challenges,
the Firm reported net revenues of $6.2 billion
and net income of $975 million, after special
items. These special items included pre-tax
charges of $128 million to reconfigure certain
of our global real estate interests and $80 mil-
lion for an industry settlement with securities
regulators related to investigations into
equity research practices. These charges

were partially offset by a net pre-tax gain of

$108 million related to insurance recoveries



Letter from the Chairman

associated with the events of September 11,
2001. For the year, after these special items,
the Firm achieved a pre-tax operating margin
of 23 percent and recorded a return on equity
of 11 percent. These results underscore the
success of each element of
our Best Operator strategy:
to build and diversify our
platform of high-margin
businesses; to maintain our
focus and discipline on
expense, risk and balance
sheet management; and to
continue to enhance our
unique One Firm culture.
During the year, we
announced several changes
in the responsibilities of our
senior management team to
help position the Firm for

continued success. In May,

I FR
BANK OF THE YEAR
2002

“[Lehman Brothers is] a hard-nosed, highly
competitive investment banking firm

with an uncompromising focus on deliver-

management, private equity and strategy.

In June, we then expanded our Executive
Committee to nine members with the appoint-
ments of Dave Goldfarb, Chief Financial
Officer, Herbert H. McDade 111, Head of
Global Fixed Income, and
Robert S. Shafir, co-Head
of Global Equities. These
changes reflect an impor-
tant evolution in the senior
management structure

of the Firm, broadening
decision-making powers
and strengthening our
resources devoted to risk

management.

Success in
Our Businesses
Our strategy empha-

sizes the building of a

ing results to clients, generating revenue

Joseph M. Gregory, the

diversified set of high-

and creating shareholder value.” — IFR

Firm’s Chief Administra-

margin businesses that,

tive Officer, and Bradley

H. Jack, the Head of Global Investment
Banking, were named to the newly created
posts of co-Chief Operating Officers and
Jeffrey A. Vanderbeek was named to the Office

of the Chairman with responsibility for risk

together, deliver consistent-
ly strong results throughout the market cycle.
In 2002, even at the weakest point in the cycle
so far, we increased market share in nearly
every one of our major products.

Our Global Fixed Income Capital Markets



Letter from the Chairman

franchise capitalized on historically low inter-
est rates to produce record revenues of $2.6
billion, overcoming volatile credit spreads and
a record volume of corporate debt downgrad-
ed to below investment grade status. Through-
out the year, increased customer activity across
the debt business units was key to the Firm’s
performance. Qur mortgage and credit busi-

nesses produced especially

and the Nikkei each lost roughly a fifth

of their value during 2002. Lehman Brothers’
equity platform produced solid results, as the
Firm continued to gain an increasing share
of equity trading volume. We traded 7.2 per-
cent of all shares traded on the New York
Stock Exchange in 2002, up from 5.7 percent
the prior year; we also traded 5.0 percent

of all shares traded on

OUR STRATEGY EMPHASIZES

strong results, as investors
sought more defensive asset
classes with less volatility.

We continued to make sub-

THE BUILDING OF A DIVERSI-

FIEDSET OF HIGH-MARGIN

pan-European exchanges,
up from 4.6 percent a
year earlier. Our Equity
Research group had a

BUSINESSES THAT, TOGETHER,

stantial gains in foreign

DELIVER CONSISTENTLY

exchange and interest rate
and credit derivatives, as
investors focused on using
these financial tools to miti-
gate their risk. Our Fixed Income Research
group, which produces comprehensive credit,
quantitative and relative value research, as
well as the industry’s most respected bench-
mark market indices, was again ranked #1
in Institutional Investor’s survey. This was the
ninth time Lehman Brothers has been ranked
first in the past 13 years.

Our Global Equities Capital Markets
business recorded revenues of $1.0 billion,

despite the fact that the S&P 500, the FTSE

STRONG RESULTS THROUGH-

breakthrough year, improv-
ing to second place from
fifth last year, as ranked

in Institutional Investor’s

OUT THE MARKET CYCLE.

survey. Our leadership

positions in trading and research indicate that
our Equities franchise has gained the scale
and depth necessary to compete in an extraor-
dinarily competitive environment.

Our Investment Banking business contin-
ued to gain both market and fee share in 2002.
This was a significant achievement in a year
when market conditions continued to deter-
iorate from what we experienced in 2001.
In calendar year 2002, global equity issuance

reached its lowest level since 1995. Global



Letter from the Chairman

merger and acquisition volumes fell 40 percent
from 2001, and have fallen 65 percent from
the levels of 2000. The declines in equity
issuance and merger and acquisition activity
lowered revenue opportunities industry-wide.
These declines were partially offset by near-
record volumes in fixed income issuance,

primarily due to the lowest

significant to note that we doubled our lever-
aged loan market share to 3.6 percent in 2002
versus 1.8 percent the prior year. These gains
are noteworthy since they were achieved with-
out increasing our risk profile. Instead of increas-
ing our lending exposure to clients, we used
our well-developed capital markets and risk

management expertise to

Lehman Brothers

interest rate levels in four

Stock Price vs. S&P 500

provide clients with the nec-

Indexed to 1998

At November 30

decades. Despite the overall 300%

weak market fundamentals,

essary capital and liquidity
while distributing or hedg-

aN

—
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250
we made significant market

200

ing the incremental risk.

share gains across products

and services, Our share of
150

/
/

Importantly, we contin-

ued to improve our share

global advisory volume

[

of global fees paid to invest-

jumped to 10.7 percent %

from 7.4 percent a year ago,

\U% ment banks in fiscal 2002,
s&p

500 to 5.0 percent versus 4.4

and our share of global lead-

managed debt and equity

866 1L
6661

underwriting increased to
6.9 percent from 6.6 per-
cent in 2001. We achieved substantial share
gains in European fixed income, global
leveraged finance and worldwide common
stock and initial public offerings. We also
improved our already strong positions in
worldwide high grade debt and mortgage-
backed securities. With the continued compet-

itive pressure from the large global banks, it is

go00¢

percent in 2001. Our fee

share from our targeted

Loo¢
zoo0¢c

clients was nearly double
that amount. Around the
world, our industry and product teams have
engineered groundbreaking transactions and
have earned wonderful credibility with both
our clients and the marketplace. We are confi-
dent that the Investment Banking division,
now under the leadership of Hugh “Skip”

E. McGeeg, is strongly positioned to continue to

gain profitable market share when the major
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global economies begin to recover.

In 2002, our Client Services division proved
to be a stable source of revenues. In our Private
Client Services business, our 420 investment
representatives produced $762 million in rev-
enues, up 7 percent from the prior year. We
continue to diversify and enhance the products
that we offer to our client base. In early 2002,
we launched a joint venture with Ehrenkranz &
Ehrenkranz that offered our clients access to a
diversified set of hedge funds. In late 2002, we
acquired the fixed income asset management
business of Lincoln Capital Management, offer-
ing our clients a family of funds with successful
track records. Our Private Equity business
also continued to expand its suite of products,
launching several new funds across various asset

classes in 2002.

Cur Global Reach

A significant portion of the Firm’s rev-
enues continues to come from outside the
U.S., another element in the diversification
of our franchise.

In 2002, our European operations gener-
ated 27 percent of global revenues, as we con-
tinued to prosper in the high-margin products
that we have targeted in the region. We held

our position as the leading investment bank

in Italy, gained significant ground in France
and continued to make inroads in Germany
and the U.K. We gained substantial momen-
tum in M&A advisory throughout Europe,
increasing our market share to 14.9 percent
from 6.1 percent in 2001. We also successfully
exported our U.S. structured finance and secu-
ritization expertise to our European clients,
which contributed to a record year in Fixed
Income in that region.

In Asia, we shifted resources to focus on
Greater China, South Korea and Japan, which
offered the best opportunities. We had great
success in helping clients monetize distressed
assets by leveraging our historical strengths
in real estate, structured finance and global
distribution, enabling clients to repair their

balance sheets.

Our Core Competencies

Disciplined risk, expense and capital
management are especially important during
tough environments and are, as always, critical
to our Best Operator strategy. We continued
to focus and build on these core competencies
during 2002. Instead of using a high percent-
age of the Firm’s capital for proprietary trading,
we held strong to our well-defined risk appe-

tite and remained committed to our customer
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flow business model. We operated with con-
servative capital and liquidity positions and
funded the Firm primarily with long-term
debt rather than short-term commercial paper.
We remained disciplined in controlling our
level of non-personnel expenses throughout
the year, recording a slight increase from
2001 due to the cost of our new corporate

headquarters in New York

ers suffered. With the spotlight on corporate
America, every public company had an oppor-
tunity and a responsibility to evaluate and assess
its corporate governance practices. [ am pleased
to report that our reviews have confirmed our
adherence to the high standards we have
established regarding corporate governance.
My senior management team and I have

always taken our responsi-

DISCIPLINED RISK, EXPENSE

City and a higher rate of
spending on technology.
We also held our compen-
sation expense steady at

51 percent of net revenues,

AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

ARE ESPECIALLY IMPORTANT

bility to our shareholders
very seriously. To further
ensure the confidence of all

those who touch the Firm,

DURING TOUGH ENVIRON-

we took this opportunity to

MENTS AND ARE, AS ALWAYS,

as we have for the past
three years. The 23 percent
pre-tax margin that we
posted in the midst of this
downturn is a clear demonstration of the

high degree of variability we have achieved

in our expense base.

Our Commitment to Best Practices

Our strategy to be the Best Operator requires
a commitment to achieve best practices in every-
thing we do. In 2002, widespread public atten-
tion was brought to several cases of gross cor-
porate governance abuses. In these cases, basic

responsibilities were neglected and sharehold-

CRITICAL TO OUR BEST

OPERATOR STRATEGY.

further improve upon our
governance and controls
by implementing several
recently developed best
practices. We understand that we must main-
tain full and direct knowledge of all parts

of the Firmv’s financial risk profile. We must
communicate well with our shareholders and
provide the best financial disclosure possible.
We must maintain a consistent, open dialogue
with our external auditors to ensure that we
understand the independent views regarding
our Firm. We know that our Board of Directors
must have a thorough understanding of the

Firm’s businesses and that it is our duty to



Ensuring Trust

As part of its Best Operator strategy, Lehman Brothers
continues to be committed to creating and adopting
industry best practices across all of its business
activities, including corporate governance. The in-
dependence of the Firm’s Board of Directors (i.e.,
only one director is a member of management and
only one non-management director is a consultant

to Lehman Brothers), and the high attendance rate

of directors (98 percent in 2002) are evidence

of the Firm’s and the Board of
Directors’ commitment to corporate
governance best practices. Also, the
Board’s relatively small size fosters
interaction among directors and
with management.

Recently, the U.S. Congress
addressed issues of corporate gover-
nance in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. In addition, there have been a
number of proposals from the New
York Stock Exchange, the SEC and
others to enhance the quality of cor-
porate governance in companies
that operate in the U.S. We have considered these
requirements and recommendations in forming
our own policies and practices regarding Board
composition and directors’ roles and responsibilities.
Lehman Brothers will continue to examine its corpo-
rate governance practices as new requirements and
recommendations develop to ensure that the Firm
remains a leader in the oversight of its business and
the effectiveness of its Board of Directors. Some of
our recently adopted changes with regard to corporate
governance include:

« The Firm has extended its education of non-

management directors. In the past year, Lehman Brothers

Lehman Brothers will

corporate governance
practices to ensure that
the Firm remains a
leader in the oversight
of its business and the
effectiveness of its Board

of Directors.

conducted programs to enhance directors’ knowledge
of Lehman Brothers’ risk management and different
aspects of the Firm’s businesses. Topics covered during
the past year included the Fixed Income and Equities
Capital Markets businesses as well as the development
of new asset management capabilities within our Client
Services business.

« In October 2002, Lehman Brothers sponsored
a symposium of corporate governance experts entitled
“Restoring Trust: A Practical
Approach,” which served as a forum

for more than 100 business leaders

continue to examine its

to discuss contemporary corporate
governance issues and best practices.

+ When considering nominees
for director, the Board and the
nominating committee now take
into account the nominees’ current
occupations and the number of
other boards on which they serve.

* The Board has added cor-
porate governance duties to the
nominating committee.

+ Lehman Brothers’ audit committee now has the
full responsibility to hire and dismiss the company’s
independent auditors and to pre-approve all audit
and non-audit services provided by its auditors.

» The Board now has a policy of regularly sched-
uled executive sessions, where non-management
directors meet independently of management.

* Lehman Brothers has established a corporate
governance page on its website, www.lehman.com,
and will be posting on this page its corporate
governance guidelines, its charters for the audit, com-
pensation, nominating and corporate governance

committees and its code of conduct and ethics.
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keep them informed. We respect and honor
these and other responsibilities to shareholders
through our continued commitment to good
corporate governance and controls. Please refer
to page 8 to learn more about our commit-

ment to corporate governance best practices.

Our People

Our partnerships with our clients are
built on integrity and trust. Those partner-
ships are only as strong as the quality of our
people, their dedication to our clients and
our ability to deliver all of the resources of
the Firm to those clients. At Lehman Brothers,
this is all about our culture.

We are a Firm of shareholders. We think
and act like owners because, together, our
employees own about 30 percent of this Firm.
This protects the franchise that we have built.
Risk, expense and liquidity decisions are made
by shareholders, in the best interests of share-
holders. Our Firm succeeds because of our cul-
ture of partnership and teamwork; our One Firm
culture allows us to deliver our resources and
services to our clients in a unique and powerful
way. Our clients recognize our unique culture,
especially in these difficult markets. Increas-
ingly, we are their most trusted advisor and this

is clearly reflected in our market share gains.

Challenges and Opportunities Ahead

Global capital markets still face many
uncertainties and challenges, including the
ongoing restoration of investor trust and
potentially destabilizing geopolitical issues.
Lehman Brothers is well positioned to
succeed in this environment. We are building
our partnerships with our clients each and
every day by maintaining our focus on help-
ing them solve the complex issues they face.
These efforts will stand out even more clearly
when market conditions improve.

I thank our employees for their dedica-
tion, our clients for their partnership and our

shareholders for their longstanding support.

Sincerely,

@M Shtdy,

Richard S. Fuld, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
February 17, 2003
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Richard S. Fuld, Jr. Joseph M. Gregory

The members of our
Executive Committee
have long histories
at Lehman Brothers,

providing consistency

and stability for our
clients and shareholders.

1980
Stephen M. Lessing Herbert H. McDade IlI
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1984

Bradley H. Jack

1990
Robert S. Shafir

Continuity of leadership is a defining
characteristic of the Lehman Brothers
culture. The Firm’s Executive Commit-
tee expanded during 2002 to include
Chief Financial Officer Dave Goldfarb,
Head of Global Fixed Income Herbert
H. McDade 111, and co-Head of Global
Equities Robert S. Shafir. The commit-
tee’s members, new and existing, have
worked as a team for many years: In
sum the three new committee mem-
bers have served 40 years at Lehman

Brothers; as a whole, the nine mem-

1993

Dave Goldfarb

bers of the group have 172 years

of service to the Firm. Their pooled
experience—on trading desks, in
corporate board rooms, with clients,
as decision-makers and as leaders—
has engendered an ethos of consis-
tency, commitment, excellence and
teamwork.

The atmosphere of trust and
constancy that surrounds our most
senior leadership permeates the Firm
and defines its culture. A significant

majority of the people managing

1996

Jeremy M. Isaacs

1984

Jeffrey A. Vanderbeek

business units today, and a great many
of the Firm’s most productive employ-
ees, are career-long Lehman people.
The combination of their long-term
vision and the vibrant ideas that have
entered the Firm with our newer addi-
tions has enabled Lehman Brothers

to see beyond current conditions, to
understand and anticipate change,

to provide a consistently high quality
of service and to generate intelligent

and creative solutions for our clients.

11



We have successfully
built a broad-based
business platform

that provides a reliable
and diversified set of
revenue streams.

Worldwide
Net Revenues:
Total $6,155
(in millions of USS)

Fixed
income

$2,619

Investment | /
Banking :
$1,731 :

Equities

$1,001

Client ‘\

Services ;

$804 \ :

A

Total
Capital
Markets
$3,620

12

Alan P. Marantz
Fixed Income

Fixed Income
A long-term strength of the Lehman
Brothers franchise, the Fixed Income

Capital Markets division produced

record revenues of $2.6 billion in 2002.

Historically low interest rates spurred
global debt issuance, while investors
sought the relative safety of fixed
income asset classes. The division’s
origination, distribution, research and
trading capabilities span the entire
suite of fixed income asset classes

and provide the Firm with a reliable
revenue source in many different

economic environments.

3000 Fixed
Income Net
Revenues
(in millions of US$)

Roger B. Nagioff
Equities

Equities

Our Global Equities Capital Markets
franchise continues to progress in spite
of a third consecutive year of declining
markets. In 2002, we gained market
share on all major U.S. and pan-European
exchanges, made significant strides

in developing industry-leading tech-
nologies and distributed the year’s
largest initial public offering. We take
particular pride in the rise of our equity
research organization, which placed
second in the 2002 Institutional
Investor survey of analysts, a clear indi-

cation of the value we bring to clients.

3000 Equities Net
Revenues
(in millions of USS)




Hugh “Skip” E. McGee
Investment Banking

Investment Banking

In the face of the most revenue-
challenged—and most competitive—
environment in decades, the Invest-
ment Banking division gained market
share across products and regions.

We accomplished this feat by staying
at our clients’ sides and by finding the
most compelling ideas to meet their
strategic advisory and financing needs.
Our success in building the Investment
Banking franchise bodes well for the
future: As fundamentals improve and
corporations begin to think about
growth again, we will be there to assist

them as a trusted partner.

3000 Investment
Banking Net
Revenues
{in millions of USS)

Client Services

The value of our high-net-worth
client franchise proved itself again

in 2002 by delivering quality invest-
ment ideas and execution for our
clients, while providing the Firm

with a dependable source of revenues.
We enhanced the Client Services
division with a number of personnel
additions charged with continuing to
build our asset management business
and oversee the Private Client Services
group, and through the creation of
several new products within our

Private Equity group.

Client
Services Net
Revenues

(in milltions of USS)

Jasjit S. Bhattal
CEQ, Asia

Geographic Diversity

Lehman Brothers has consistently
generated a greater percentage of its
revenues from outside the U.S. than
any of our American competitors, a
clear testament to our cross-border
expertise and global reach. We remain
committed to our strategy in Europe
and believe we are ideally positioned to
benefit from the region’s ongoing shift
to a capital markets paradigm. In Asia,
we continued to bolster our franchise
by shifting resources into the northern
part of the region and by focusing on
the balance sheet restructuring needs

of our clients.

Net Revenues
by Geographic
Location

(in millions of USS$)

Europe
$1,674

United States
$3,868

Asia Pacific
and Other
3612




Through steadfast
focus on our “core

competencies,”

Lehman Brothers
reaps maximum

value from every
dollar of revenue.

Risk Menagement

At Lehman Brothers, risk management

is at the core of, and central to, every
decision we make. Every decision
regarding the commitment of capital
goes through a rigorous process of risk

assessment and careful consideration
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Capital and Liquidity Management
Our management of capital is predi-
cated on a simple premise: Regardless

of market conditions or shocks,

we do not want to be in a

position where we have

to reduce our balance sheet

by the most senior leaders of the Firm.
The Firm’s integrated, multi-tiered
approach to risk, which employs
industry-leading, robust modeling

of all potential market, credit and

other risks, has served the Firm well

majority of our debt is long-term.

We also are extremely active in
managing the Firm’s equity and other
financial resources, redeploying capital
among business units to maximize

our ability to benefit from shifts in

B —

lan T. Lowitt
Treasurer

sl
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for liquidity reasons—although we
may choose to do so for risk reasons.
That philosophy leads us to manage
our capital resources extremely con-
servatively. Compared with others in
our industry, we have very low reliance

on commercial paper and the vast

market conditions. This strategy works
because our people are motivated

to optimize their use of the Firm’s
financial resources—businesses are
evaluated on the basis of the return
on capital deployed, not simply

revenues generated.



during the turbulent market conditions
of the past several years.

Risk management is integral in
the day-to-day business of the Firm,

ensuring that all risks associated with

trading positions are understood,
and that no commitment exceeds
the Firm’s very conservative “risk
appetite.” The robust nature of our

risk management process has

Madelyn Antoncic
Global Head of
Risk Management

Expense Management and Internal Control

Expense management is the responsi-
bility of every single person at Lehman
Brothers. We have an overarching
philosophy of challenging the appro-
priateness of every spending decision
we make, in every expense category.
And because every employee is an
owner of the Firm’s common stock,
every employee is motivated to make
smart spending decisions. This consis-
tent attention, coupled with the highly
variable structure of our

expense base, results in

Christopher M. O'Meara
Controller

a real advantage for the Firm: our
pre-tax margin has consistently been
among the highest in our industry.
The maintenance of a strong
internal control environment is also
at the core of our Firm. It is fostered
by senior management throughout
the organization, and reinforced by
a fundamental operating principle to
conduct business in a manner which
ensures the preservation of our repu-
tation. We are committed to being at

the forefront of the ongoing evolution

been an important element of our

disciplined risk posture, of the Firm'’s

strong credit profile and of the culture
of risk attentiveness that

permeates the Firm.

of best practices in internal control,
and we have continued to invest in
this effort. In addition to having
effective internal controls built into
our business segments, we have a
multi-dimensional support and
control organization, independent
from the business segments, dedicated
to maintaining a strong internal
control environment and ensuring
compliance with all applicable rules

and regulations.




Clients are at the center
of Lehman Brothers’
focus, and the Firm mar-
shals all of its resources
in pursuit of the best
solutions to their strate-

Oren G. Shaffer
Vice Chairman and CFO
Qwest Communications

gic and financing needs.

Richard C. Notebaert
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2ring one firm

Chairman and CEQ :
Qwest Communications ;

Qwest Communications

The highest priority for Qwest’s new
CEO and CFO, upon their midyear
arrival at this key player in the tele-
communications industry, was to
reinforce the company’s balance sheet.
The company, impacted by sector-
wide tumult that significantly lowered

credit ratings and stock prices, launched

% a number

QWeSt Dex/\/—’/, of correc-

tive initia-

tives. They sought assistance from
Lehman Brothers, which formed a
multi-disciplinary team that delivered
a series of de-leveraging recommenda-
tions to Qwest. After an exhaustive
review of its alternatives with Lehman
Brothers, Qwest turned to the Firm
to execute its primary solution.

In August, Qwest agreed to sell
its telephone directory publishing

business, QwestDex, for $7.05 billion
to a financial consortium comprised
of The Carlyle Group and Welsh,
Carson, Anderson & Stowe. This
transaction was the second-largest
leveraged buyout in corporate history.
The Firm was involved in planning
and executing all aspects of the trans-
action, acting as Qwest’s financial
advisor and, in order to improve the
financing for the transaction, also
serving as joint bookrunning manager
for the acquisition financings associat-
ed with the transaction.

The transaction was recognized
with the “Breakthrough M&A Deal
of the Year,” “Best Financing Package”
and “Best U.S. Leveraged Loan”
awards by several prominent industry

publications.
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CIY Group
Less than a year after acquiring CIT
Group Inc., a leading commercial
and consumer finance company, Tyco
International embarked on a major
restructuring which included the
divestiture of CIT. After analyzing
the alternatives,
..“. Lehman Brothers
= recommended

pursuing an unprecedented 100%
IPO of CIT to meet Tyco’s and CIT’s
objectives. Despite fierce competition
from other investment banks, Lehman
Brothers prevailed as joint bookrun-
ning manager for the $4.6 billion
offering, providing the right advice
and outstanding execution and
distribution.

The IPO was the largest 100%
offering ever, the largest financial
services IPO ever, the fourth-largest

IPO of any kind ever, and by a

significant margin the largest IPO kets, underwriting $2.5 billion of bonds.

of the year. Lehman Brothers’ relationship
CIT’s IPO met with investor with CIT illustrates the Firm’s ability
enthusiasm as the offering was over- to serve all of a client’s capital funding
subscribed and was executed in full needs, from the largest of equity offer-
on its pricing date, despite substantial ~ ings to advisory work to debt issuance.

volatility in equity markets

and turmoil surrounding
CIT’s parent company.
Lehman Brothers also
helped CIT access the
public debt mar-

Albert R. Gamper, Jr.

Chairman,

President and CEO

T and CFO
(e))

Joseph M. Leone
Executive
Vice President
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sistency

Federated Investors
One of the most important keys to
successful relationships with clients

is consistency—staying with clients

F through-
ederated out busi.
WORLD-CLASS INVESTMENT MANAGER

ness and

economic cycles, and providing trusted
service regardless of the current cli-
mate. Lehman Brothers has formed a
strong long-term capital markets and

investment banking relationship with

Federated through mutual trust and
dedication to flawless execution.
Federated thrived in 2002 in spite
of poor market conditions, producing
the firm’s best-ever earnings per share
and reaching a record $195 billion in
assets under management. Lehman
Brothers is proud to have partnered
in this success by serving as a trusted
capital markets counterparty and cor-

porate finance advisor to Federated.

We stay at our clients’

sides at all times, pro-
viding trustworthy

guidance throughout
entire business cycles.

James F. Getz
President
Federated Sec

). Christopher Donahue
President and CEO
Federated

urities Corp.




GE Capital

Lehman Brothers has been a consistent
partner to General Electric Capital
Corp. for many years, and the relation-
ship has earned Lehman Brothers
some of the largest debt underwriting
mandates in corporate history. During
2002, the Firm lead-managed $30 bil-
lion of GE Capital’s global debt offer-
ings, bringing the total of Lehman’s
lead-managed transactions on behalf
of GE Capital to $44 billion since
2000, when the company initiated its

global issuance program. The com-

pany’s $11 billion, three-tranche trans-
action, for which Lehman Brothers
was joint bookrunner, was the largest
U.S. bond offering ever. Lehman
Brothers has been the number one
underwriter of GE Capital debt
securities for three consecutive years.
GE Capital employs Lehman
Brothers for the Firm’s broad under-
standing of global markets, advice
with regard to the timing of its issues,
and unsurpassed capacity for matching

investors with the company’s offerings.

INVESCO

At the forefront of Lehman Brothers’
competencies is the Firm’s structuring
capabilities, a highlight of which is
our ongoing work on behalf of
INVESCO, one of the world’s leading
brands in asset management. During
2002, Lehman Brothers served as

sole structurer and manager for two
INVESCO collateralized debt obliga-
tions, a $300 million U.S. issue and

a €350 million European issue. In
spite of difficult conditions for CDO
issuance, both offerings met with
strong response from investors, signal-

ing the strength of the Firm’s market-

ing and distribution capabilities.




Lehman Brothers
people work as
a think tank:

We innovate on
behalf of our
clients every day.
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Steven J. Malcolm Phillip D, Wright
Chairman, Chief ReStructuring

President and CEOQ Officer

Williams Williams

The Williamms Companies
The Williams Companies faced a
fiscal crisis in 2002, as the company
assumed telecommunications-related
debt, while its energy trading unit
suffered in the aftermath of Enron
Corporation’s bankruptcy filing.
Williams enlisted Lehman Brothers’
help to avoid
Williams. "=~
- ®  and together
CC% Lehman and
Williams created a remarkable set of
transactions to keep Williams solvent.
In the face of credit rating down-
grades, increased cash collateral
requirements, impending debt maturi-
ties and an expiring credit facility,
Williams was able to raise $3.5 billion
in cash and available credit in a very
brief timeframe. Lehman Brothers led

a $900 million senior credit agreement

and advised the company on $1.5 bil-
lion of asset sales (and served as joint
lead arranger for the associated $1.2
billion in bridge financing). These
transactions immediately stabilized
Williams’ liquidity position and
restored the confidence of the compa-
ny’s investors and counterparties.

To accomplish this package of
creative financing transactions,
Lehman Brothers quickly deployed
a team of 30 investment bankers to
assess the company’s options. The
transactions brought together repre-
sentatives of the Firm’s Leveraged
Finance, Natural Resources, Restruct-
uring, Fixed Income, Debt Capital
Markets, Credit and Financial Sponsors
groups. Together they helped preserve
the value of one of America’s most

important energy companies.



New York Mets

In the world of professional sports,

creative financing options are impera-

tive to create smooth transitions of

Wilpon and provided acquisition
financing which allowed him and his

partners to consummate the owner-

franchise ownership.
After a long period of
common ownership
of the New York Mets
Major League Base-
ball franchise, the
team’s two principal
owners reached an
agreement under
which Fred Wilpon
and his Sterling Equities partners pur-
chased Nelson Doubleday’s stake in
the team. Lehman Brothers’ Sports
Adyvisory and Finance group, a leader
in the business of advising and financ-

ing professional sports teams, advised

)
bl 4

ship transfer. The
transaction highlights
the Firm’s creative
approach to solving
client situations:
Presented with a
number of challenges
in a baseball environ-
ment that was then
threatened by a poten-
tial work stoppage, Lehman Brothers
found a way to resolve a number of
complex issues and provide a creative

financing solution to facilitate the

acquisition.
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Legrand

In a major financial sponsor trans-
action, Lehman Brothers advised the
global buyout firm Kohlberg Kravis
Roberts & Co. and the French buyout

{ firm Wendel Investisse-

/\

ment on their €4.5 bil-

Eé% lion purchase of Legrand

WENDEL S.A., a French electrical

INVESTISSEMENT prOdUCtS COmPanY- The

cross-border transaction, which was

the largest European leveraged buyout

1

iNg poraers

i —

We recognize that
businesses are uncon-
strained by national
and continental
borders, and we pro-
vide global clients
with global service.

ever, called upon many of the Firm’s
resources, including its Leveraged
Finance, Financial Sponsor, French
Coverage and Fixed Income groups.
In conjunction with its advisory
work on behalf of the KKR/Wendel
consortium, the Firm underwrote
€2.8 billion in financing for the
acquisition, including €600 million
in high yield securities and €2.2 bil-

lion in syndicated bank financing.




Railtrack
When the main subsidiary of Railtrack

Group PLC, the former monopoly
provider of rail infrastructure in the
UK, was placed into administration,
Railtrack and the British government
needed a solution. Lehman Brothers,
in its role as sole advisor to Railtrack,
disposed of the Group’s assets to two
government-backed companies in
sales that raised £9.1 billion. Network
Rail bought Railtrack PLC for £7.6 bil-
lion, and London & Continental Rail-
ways purchased Railtrack UK for £1.5
billion, creating resolution to a com-

plex financial and political situation.

Jeremy Greenhalgh
Director . L
Charterhouse Developm’c-_:rm*@gpﬁfa
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Coral Eurobet

While merger and acquisition activity
declined during 2002 to levels last seen
in the mid-1990s, the year produced
one strong sign that asset valuations
had reached a low point: financial
sponsors were extremely active.
Lehman Brothers was a primary par-
ticipant in many of the year’s largest
sponsor transactions.

In one of the largest leveraged
buyouts of the vear in Europe, Lehman
Brothers advised Coral Eurobet
Limited, a UK-based betting and gam-
ing company, and Morgan Grenfell
Private Equity on the sale of Coral

Eurobet to Charterhouse Development

Capital for £860 million. The Firm was
the sole lead arranger and bookrunner
for £705

million of

(cor4 LE EUROBET)

senior and subordinated financing in
support of Charterhouse’s acquisition.
Lehman Brothers evaluated a range
of possibilities for Morgan Grenfell,
including a possible public offering,

a recapitalization and other sale
opportunities.

The long-standing relationships
between Lehman Brothers and all of
the firms involved in the 2002 transac-
tion helped to ensure that each party’s

objectives were met.

Vaughn Ashdown
CEO
Coral Eurobet



Our global reach

and industry-leading
structuring capabilities
enable Lehman Brothers
to help clients unleash
the value of their

businesses. \ Byungchul Yoon
N Chairman and CEO

N Woori Financial Group
NS
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Woor! Financial Group
While market conditions in Asia
remained extremely challenging,
clients continued to value Lehman
Brothers’ creativity and expertise in
developing effective strategies to repair
their balance sheets and improve their
access to
the capi-
tal markets. An innovative partnership
and series of investments with Woori
Financial Group, Korea’s largest finan-
cial holding company, characterized
the Firm’s work in the region during
fiscal 2002. Lehman Brothers’ global
Investment Banking, Fixed Income
and Securitization teams partnered
with Woori to assist the group in
resolving up to 10 trillion won ($8.4
billion) in non-performing loans,
significantly strengthening Woori’s

balance sheet. Lehman Brothers’

ability to structure a joint venture
asset management company and
investment vehicles allowed Woori to
participate in the upside from success-
ful resolutions of troubled loans.

Lehman Brothers also became
Woorl’s strategic partner through an
equity investrment, sending positive
signals regarding the group’s restruc-
turing efforts to its investors. The joint
venture provides Lehman Brothers
with unprecedented access to large
pools of Korean assets; Lehman
Brothers in turn can use its global dis-
tribution network and securitization
expertise to match investors with the
assets. This innovative set of transac-
tions was honored by Institutional
Investor, FinanceAsia and Asiamoney
as a “Deal of the Year” for 2002.




umic

Displaying Lehman Brothers’ long-
standing relationships with global
clients, the Firm executed a number of
important transactions on behalf of
United Microelectronics Corporation
in 2002. UMC, one of the world’s largest

UM

tor foundries, came to Lehman Brothers

independent

semiconduc-

for three offerings during the year:

a $235 million issue of exchangeable
bonds, a $440 million American Deposi-
tary Shares offering, and a ¥17 billion
convertible bond offering for its sub-
sidiary, UMC Japan. These transac-
tions indicate the Firm’s ability to find
and execute the most appropriate and
most cost-efficient capital markets
solutions for a client’s needs, regardless

of the product or region of the world.

PO GEL "Ity
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Dr. Kwang Woo Jun
Vice Chairman
Woori Financial Group
T

Securitizations

Long a pioneer in securitization tech-
nology in the U.S., Lehman Brothers
successfully expanded its European
and Asian securitization footprint
during 2002. In Europe, notable
transactions included the £2.4 billion
securitization of prime UK mortgage
collateral for Northern Rock Plc, £555
million in financing for Southern
Pacific Mortgages Limited, one of

the UK’s largest non-conforming loan
originators, and the €1.2 billion Imser
Securitization transaction, the first
commercial mortgage-backed security
transaction and the first monoline-

wrapped transaction in Italy.

rr

Euoo Sung Min
Vice Chairman and CFO
Woori Financial Group

In Asia, the Firm sponsored the
first publicly rated securitization of
distressed assets in Thailand, issuing
a total 7.2 billion Thai baht of mort-
gage-backed securities, and completed
a ¥10.7 billion securitization of serv-
iced apartment buildings for WMT
Global Funding I, the first transaction
in Japan secured by these asset types.
Also during the year, the Firm com-
pleted Japan’s first securitization
collateralized by non-recourse loans
for rental apartment buildings in a
¥6.3 billion transaction on behalf of
Daito Trust Construction Co. Ltd.

25



Hybrid Capital

In 2002, Lehman Brothers was
extremely active in helping a number
of prominent financial institutions
raise Tier-I capital. During the year, we
served as bookrunner on Tier-1 capital
offerings for clients such as Abbey
National, ABN AMRO, Bradford &
Bingley, Credit Lyonnais, Landesbank

o

Kiel, Prudential Financial and Lloyds
TSB, among others. This work on
behalf of some of the world’s largest
financial organizations demonstrates
the strength of both Lehman Brothers’
Financial Institutions banking group
and the Firm’s capital markets struc-

turing and distribution capabilities.

Our resiliency, our
capital base and our
global reach across
capital markets
enable us to execute
all the transactions
our clients demand.
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Asset Reallocation

Lehman Brothers’ broad reach across
capital markets around the world gives
our trading clients access to a full scope
of investment options. During the
turbulent market conditions of 2002,
clients relied upon the Firm’s knowl-
edge and execution as they sought

to shift assets toward risk-averse
vehicles, during moments of market
turmoil, and to higher yielding invest-
ments when markets turned more
positive. This process of reallocation
between asset classes produced another
very sttong year in the Firm’s Capital
Markets business, proving the resiliency

of the Lehman Brothers model.

Leveraged Lending

Lehman Brothers enjoyed its best year
ever in leveraged lending, moving to
sixth in the global league tables from
eleventh in 2001 and twenty-first in
2000. Lehman Brothers was the only
pure-play investment bank among the
top 10 leveraged lending firms in 2002,
serving as lead-manager on $15.5 bil-
lion in leveraged loans. Importantly,
the rise of the Firm'’s leveraged lending
business has been accomplished
without taking increased balance

sheet risk, a strong testament to the
Firm’s ability to meet clients’ funding
needs while disseminating risk to the

capital markets.

Research

Research remains central to Lehman
Brothers’ business model, and we are
pleased that the Firm has made huge
strides in both Fixed Income and
Equity Research. In the influential
Institutional Investor survey of research
analysts, Lehman Brothers ranked

#1 in Fixed Income Research for the
ninth time out of the past 13 years,
and the Firm improved from fifth

to second in the magazine’s U.S. Equity
Research survey. The Firm ranked #1
in overall research in the U.S. and rose
to #7 in European Equity Research, a
clear recognition of the distinct value

we provide to our investing clients.




“Lehman Brothers
never stops
challenging me.”
Ayumi Yamamoto

Culture is more
than a buzzword

at Lehman Brothers.
We operate as a
team, motivated by
clearly understood
common goals.

28

“It's great to work
at a firm that
values people
based on what
they contribute
and places a pre-
mium on initiative
and creativity.”
Steven Berkenfeld

"It is refreshing to
work in an envi-
ronment where
we are not only
encouraged, but
also expected, to
chailenge how
we operate as
a firm.”
Heidemarie
Echtermann

“The Firm has
an outstanding
culture where
initiative and
teamwork are
encouraged
and rewarded.”
Carol Sabbagha

“We at Lehman

Brothers ali share
the same value
system, which is
one of integrity,
respect for one
another, hard
work and a com-
plete focus on
our clients.”
Amany Attia

“| have always felt
that what is of
paramount impor-
tance at Lehman
Brothers is the
team working
together towards
a common goal—
serving the client.”
Brian Reilly

"Lehman Brothers
has continually
offered me
increasingly
challenging
opportunities in
an entrepreneurial
environment.”
Wally Maloney

“Lehman Brothers
has always provid-
ed great opportu-
nities for me to
develop my ideas
and work on the
cutting edge of
my abilities.”
Fiona Harrop

“It is exhilarating to
be part of a driven
team, sharing and
building a com-
mon vision within
a diverse environ-
ment.”

Daniel Shum

* “Qur focus is
straightforward:
work hard, be
effective and
bring value to
the table for
all interested
g B parties.”

“In addition to Kim Wallace
being part of a
team of highly
motivated and
innovative people,
it is the integrity
of the Firm that
makes Lehman
Brothers a great
place to work.”
Aaron Johari

"What | really love
about Lehman is
to see people
around me make
the best out of
their opportuni-
ties. It inspires and
encourages me.”
Sergio Morita
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Weaker economic con-
ditions lead to greater
competition for busi-
ness. Still, Lehman
Brothers has achieved
broad-based market
share gains in the

last two years.

Institutional
Investor
Rankings

Fixed Income
Research 1 1

Equity
Research 8 5

Fixed Income
Trading 4 2

000¢
100¢
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Debt & Equity:
Global Issuance®
(Market share, percent)

8.0%

6.0

4.0

20

Fixed Income:
Global Issuance®

(Market share, percent)

8.0%

6.0

4.0

2.0

'Source: Thomsen Financial Securities Data Corp.

*Source: Autex

IPOs:
Global Issuance®
(Market share, percent)

6.0%

4.5

3.0

High Yield Debt:
Global Issuance®
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Common Stock: M&A Announced: M&A Completed:
Global Issuance® Global® Global®
(Market share, percent) (Market share, percent) (Market share, percent)
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Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (“Holdings”) and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Com-
pany” or “Lehman Brothers”) is a leading financial services firm that provides invest-
ment banking and capital markets facilitation to a global client base. The Company’s
business activities are divided into three segments: Investment Banking, Capital Mar-
kets and Client Services. The investment banking industry is influenced by several fac-
tors inherent in the global financial markets and economic conditions worldwide. As a

result, revenues and earnings may vary from quarter to quarter and from year to year.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements contained in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, including those relating to the Com-
pany’s strategy and other statements that are predictive in nature, that depend upon or

» &«

refer to future events or conditions or that include words such as “expects,” “antici-

» «

pates,

» «

plans,” “believes,” “estimates” and similar expressions, are forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
These statements are not historical facts but instead represent only the Company’s
expectations, estimates and projections regarding future events. These statements are
not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks and uncertainties that
are difficult to predict, which may include, but are not limited to, the factors listed
below. The Company’s actual results and financial condition may differ, perhaps mate-
rially, from the anticipated results and financial condition in any such forward-looking
statements and, accordingly, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such
statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking

statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

. The Company’s results of operations may be affected b
Certain Factors pany P Y v

Affecting Results
of Operations

uncertain or unfavorable economic, market, legal and

other conditions. These conditions include:

MARKET FLUCTUATIONS AND YOLATILITY

Changes in interest and foreign exchange rates, securities
and commodities valuations and increases in volatility can increase risk and may also
impact customer flow related revenues in the Capital Markets and Client Services busi-
nesses, as well as impact the volume of debt and equity underwritings and merger and

acquisition transactions.

INDUSTRY COMPETITION AND CHANGES (N COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT
Increased competition from both banking institutions and non-traditional financial serv-
ices providers and industry consolidation could impact fees earned from the Company’s

investment banking and capital markets businesses.

INVESTOR SENTIMENT

This past year has seen a record number of accounting and corporate governance
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scandals which have had a significant impact on investor confi-
dence in the market place. In addition, geopolitical concerns
about possible military action and terrorist activities can have

an effect on the global financial markets.

LQuIDITY

Liquidity risk management is of critical importance to the Com-
pany. Liquidity could be impacted by the inability to access the
long-term or short-term debt markets or the repurchase and
securities lending markets. However, the Company’s liquidity and
funding policies have been designed with the goal of providing
sufficient liquidity resources to continually fund its balance sheet

and to meet its obligations in all market environments.

CREDIT RATINGS

The Company’s access to the unsecured funding markets is
dependent upon the Company’s credit ratings. A reduction in
the Company’s credit ratings could adversely affect the Com-
pany’s access to liquidity alternatives and its competitive posi-
tion, and could increase the cost of funding or trigger additional

collateral requirements.

CREDIT EXPOSURE

Credit risk represents the possibility that a counterparty will be
unable to honor its contractual obligations to the Company.
Although the Company actively manages daily credit risk expo-
sure as part of its risk management framework, counterparty

default risk may arise from unforeseen events or circumstances.

LEGAL/REGULATORY
Legal and regulatory changes in the U.S. and other jurisdictions
could have unfavorable impacts on the Company’s businesses

and results.

. The principal business activities of
Business

Environment the Company are investment bank-

ing and capital markets facilitation.
Through the Company’s investment
banking, trading, research, structur-
ing and distribution capabilities in
equity and fixed income products, the Company continues to
build on its client/customer business model. This model focuses
on “customer flow” activities. The “customer flow” model is based
upon the Company’s principal focus of facilitating customer
transactions in all major global capital markets products and

services. The Company generates customer flow revenues from

34

institutional and high-net-worth clients/customers by (i) advis-
ing on and structuring transactions specifically suited to meet
client needs, (ii) serving as a market maker and/or intermediary
in the global marketplace, including having securities and other
financial instrument products available to allow clients to rebal-
ance their portfolios and diversify risks across different market

cycles and (iii) acting as an underwriter to clients.

Marketplace uncertainties experienced throughout 2001 con-
tinued into 2002, with a further deterioration in global market
conditions. The market downturn was fueled by a number of
negative influences: a heightened degree of geopolitical risks,
simultaneously weak levels of economic activity globally and
reduced investor confidence levels, particularly in the U.S,
resulting from certain corporate accounting practices and gov-
ernance issues. These negative factors served to increase both
the risk premium and volatility in the global equity markets,
which resulted in lower returns in all major equity markets
during 2002. The Dow Jones Industrial Average (“DJIA”) fin-
ished the year at 8,896, down 10% from fiscal year-end 2001.
The NASDAQ composite and the S&P 500 decreased 23% and
18%, respectively, from the fiscal year-end of 2001. The FTSE
100 decreased 20% during the fiscal year while the DAX
decreased 33%. In Asia, the Nikkei closed the year down 14%,
reaching its lowest level in the past two decades, as Japan con-
tinued to be mired in a decade long recession. In November
2002, the Federal Reserve lowered the Federal Funds rate by 50
basis points to 1.25% in an attempt to stimulate growth after
having left the Federal Funds rate unchanged for most of the fis-
cal year. The Bank of England kept rates unchanged at 4%
throughout 2002 while the European Central Bank lowered
rates in December of 2002 in hopes of spurring confidence and

growth in the marketplace.

Declining market valuations had a significant impact on global
equity origination activity. Fiscal 2002 global equity origination
activity was at a five-year low, with volume slightly down from

the already depressed levels of 2001.

Fixed income markets continued to benefit from low interest rates
in 2002 with global debt origination relatively flat to the robust
levels experienced in 2001. However, accounting and corporate
governance scandals coupled with historically unprecedented
numbers of debt downgrades and high profile defaults caused
investors to move away from certain credit products and towards
more defensive assets such as government and mortgage-backed

securities. This resulted in a widening of credit spreads and
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negatively impacted investment grade and high yield debt origi-
nations, which declined by 13% and 22%, respectively, from prior
year levels. Asset- and mortgage-backed debt issuances benefited
from the shift into more defensive asset classes and saw increases
of 15% and 44%, respectively, during fiscal year 2002. (Statistics
provided by Thomson Financial Securities Data Corp (“TFSD”).)

Mergers and acquisitions (“M&A”) advisory activity, which slowed
in 2001, experienced even further declines in 2002 to its lowest
level since 1995. Market conditions for acquisitions continued to
be extremely difficult, as corporations concentrated on corporate
governance matters and focused less on strategic transactions.
Worldwide completed M&A activity for 2002 decreased 45% from
the prior year, according to TFSD, and announced M&A activity
for fiscal 2002 decreased 29% from the prior year’s levels.

The Company reported net income
of $975 million or $3.47 per share
(diluted) in 2002 down from net
income of $1,255 million and earn-
ings per share {(diluted) of $4.38 in
2001. Net revenues were $6,155
million and $6,736 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Although 2002 results decreased from the prior year’s levels, the

Results of
Operations

Company believes that these results in an extremely challenging
market environment, coupled with market share increases in
many products, demonstrate the strength, diversity and
resiliency of the Company’s franchise. The Company has
improved its market position in a number of key areas includ-
ing: M&A advisory and debt and common stock underwriting.
The Company also continued to maintain a strict discipline
with regard to its core competencies during the year, specifically

managing expenses, risk management and capital deployment.

The Company’s results in 2002 include the impact of three spe-
cial items: a pre-tax net gain of $108 million associated with
September 11th related costs and insurance settlement pro-
ceeds, a $128 million pre-tax charge associated with decisions to
reconfigure certain other global real estate holdings and an $80
million pre-tax charge related to the Company’s participation in
the proposed settlement regarding allegations of research ana-
lyst conflicts of interest. The net pre-tax effect of these three
items is a charge of $100 million ($78 million after-tax), which
resulted in a decrease to earnings per share (diluted) of $0.30.
(Additional information about these amounts can be found in

Notes 2, 3 and 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)

e

The Company’s 2001 results include the impact of a $127 mil-
lion pre-tax charge ($71 million after-tax) stemming from the
events of September 11th, which resulted in the displacement
and relocation of substantially all of the Company’s New York
based employees. The effect of the charge was a decrease to
earnings per share (diluted) of $0.26. (Additional information
about this charge can be found in Note 2 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements.)

In 2000, the Company reported record net income of $1,775 mil-
lion or $6.38 per share (diluted) and net revenues of $7,707 mil-

lion, reflecting a much more favorable global market environment.

NET REVENUES

The Company recorded net revenues of $6,155 million, $6,736
million and $7,707 million for fiscal years 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. The decrease in net revenues over this three-
year period principally resulted from the deterioration of
global market conditions from the more favorable environ-
ment in 2000 in which the Company recorded record net rev-
enues. The 9% decrease in net revenues in 2002 was principally
the result of lower M&A, equity origination and equity capital
markets revenue levels, partially offset by an increase in fixed
income capital markets revenues. Client Service revenues and
debt origination revenue levels remained relatively unchanged
from fiscal 2001. (See page 38 for a detailed discussion of rev-

enues by segment.)

Global equity markets declined significantly throughout this
period, as evidenced by an average decline in global equity
indices of 20% and 17% in fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001, respec-
tively. The declines in equity market valuations negatively
impacted both the volume of global M&A transactions, as com-
pleted transactions were approximately 65% lower in 2002 than
2000, and the level of global equity underwriting, as volumes
were 45% lower in fiscal 2002 than fiscal 2000.

Global fixed income markets have benefited as a result of the
historically low interest rate environment over the past two
years. Global fixed income underwriting volumes reached
record levels in 2002 from robust activity levels in 2001, fueled
by lower interest rates globally, particularly in the U.S., which
saw decreases in the Federal Funds rate of 75 basis points in fis-
cal 2002 and 450 basis points in fiscal 2001. Benefiting from the
low interest rate environment as well as expanding market
share, the Company increased its volume of global debt origina-
tions by 12% in fiscal 2002 and 51% in fiscal 2001. Revenues
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from fixed income products were also bolstered by strong levels
of institutional customer flow activity as investors sought more
defensive asset classes in 2002 and 2001. However, record levels
of accounting and corporate governance scandals as well as sig-
nificantly higher levels of issuer defaults, resulted in a significant
widening of credit spreads, and extreme volatility, which had a
negative impact on valuations and customer flow trading vol-

umes for certain credit sensitive products in 2002.

PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS, COMMISSIONS

AND NET INTEREST REVENUES

The Company evaluates the performance of its Capital Markets
and Client Services revenues in the aggregate, including Princi-
pal transactions, Commissions and net interest. Decisions relat-
ing to these activities are based on an overall review of aggregate
revenues, which includes an assessment of the potential gain or
loss associated with a transaction, including any associated com-
missions, and the interest revenue or expense associated with
financing or hedging the Company’s positions. Therefore, the
Company views net revenues from Principal transactions, Com-
missions and Interest revenue, offset by Interest expense, in the
aggregate. Caution should be used when analyzing these rev-
enue categories individually, as they are not always indicative of
the performance of the Company’s overall Capital Markets and

Client Services activities.

Principal transactions, Commissions and Net interest revenues
totaled $4,339 million in 2002 as compared to $4,684 million in
2001 and $5,357 million in 2000. The 7% decrease in 2002 from
2001 principally reflects the negative conditions within the
global equity markets. These negative conditions resulted in a
decline in equity capital markets revenues, most notable in
equity derivatives, as investor concerns regarding corporate gov-
ernance and geopolitical risks resulted in reduced demand for
these products. Equity capital markets revenues were also
reduced by losses on the Company’s private equity investments
in 2002. Despite these negative conditions, the Company
improved its market share in both listed and NASDAQ trading
volumes. Partially offsetting these revenue declines was an
increase in fixed income revenues, particularly in mortgage
products, which benefited from their less credit sensitive nature
and low interest rate levels. Principal transactions, Commissions
and net interest revenues decreased by $673 million or 13% in
2001 from 2000 as robust revenues from fixed income products,
fueled by declining interest rates and increased customer flow
activity as investors sought more defensive asset classes, were

more than offset by lower revenues from equity products.
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Within the above amounts, Principal transactions revenues were
$1,951 million in 2002 as compared to $2,779 million in 2001
and $3,713 million in 2000. Commissions revenues were $1,286
million in 2002 as compared to $1,091 million in 2001 and $944
million in 2000. Interest and dividend revenues were $11,728
million in 2002 as compared to $16,470 million in 2001 and
$19,440 million in 2000. Interest expense was $10,626 million in
2002 as compared to $15,656 million in 2001 and $18,740 mil-
lion in 2000.

The decrease in Principal transactions revenues in 2002 and
2001 principally reflects reduced equity product revenues
resulting from poor global market conditions. In addition,
Principal transactions revenues decreased in 2002 as a result of
the transition to a commission-based revenue structure on
NASDAQ trades, whereby these revenues are classified as Com-
missions in 2002. In prior years, the Company’s NASDAQ trades
for substantially all of its institutional customers were trans-
acted on a spread basis, with related revenues classified within

Principal transactions.

Commissions revenues increased in 2002 as compared to the
prior year’s levels due to the migration to institutional commis-
sion-based pricing in the NASDAQ market, growth in market
trading volumes and an increase in the Company’s market share
of listed and NASDAQ trading volumes. Commission revenues
increased in 2001 as a result of growth in market trading vol-
umes and an increase in the Company’s market share of listed
and NASDAQ trading volumes.

Interest and dividends revenues and Interest expense are a
function of the level and mix of total assets and liabilities, prin-
cipally financial instruments owned and secured financing
activities, the prevailing level of interest rates, as well as the term
structure of the Company’s financings. Interest and dividends
revenues and Interest expense are integral components of the
Company’s overall customer flow activities. The decline in
interest revenues and interest expense in 2002 and 2001 is prin-
cipally due to the substantial declines in interest rates during
those periods. The increase in net interest revenue to $1,102
million in 2002 from $814 million in 2001 was due in part to a
change in inventory mix to higher levels of interest-bearing
assets in response to shifts in customer asset preferences. The
increase in net interest revenue to $814 million in 2001 from
$700 million in 2000 was primarily due to a decline in the cost
of financing and a change in inventory mix to higher levels of

interest bearing assets.
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INVESTMENT BANKING

Investment Banking revenues were $1,771 million for 2002 as
compared to $2,000 million for 2001 and $2,216 million in
2000. Investment banking revenues result mainly from fees
earned by the Company for underwriting public and private
offerings of fixed income and equity securities, and advising
clients on M&A activities and other services. In 2002, Invest-
ment banking revenues decreased 11% from 2001, reflecting the
significant market weakness in equity underwriting and M&A
advisory activities, partially offset by improvements in the Com-
pany’s market share for completed M&A transactions and
underwriting of fixed income and certain equity products. In
2001, Investment banking revenues decreased by 10% driven by
industry wide decreases in M&A and equity origination activi-
ties. (See page 40 for a detailed discussion of the Company’s

Investment Banking segment.)

Non-interest Expenses

—

technology and communication, and brokerage and clearance
expenses, partially offset by decreases in discretionary spending
items. Occupancy expenses increased to $287 million in 2002
from $198 million in 2001, principally attributable to additional
space to accommodate the growth in headcount resulting from
the Company’s expansion during the past several years as well as
the increased cost of our new corporate headquarters. Technol-
ogy and communication expenses were $552 million in 2002
compared to $501 million in 2001. This increase reflects addi-
tional spending to enhance the Company’s capital markets trad-
ing platforms and technology infrastructure. Brokerage and
clearance expenses increased by 7% due to higher volumes in
certain fixed income structured products. Business develop-
ment and professional fees decreased by 20% and 15%, respec-
tively, from 2001, due to lower discretionary spending in

response to the current market environment. Nonpersonnel

In millions

Twelve months ended November 30 2002 2001 2000
Compensation and benefits $3,139 $ 3,437 $3931
Nonpersonnel 1,517 1,424 1,197
September 11th related (recoveries)/expenses, net (108) 127 -
Other real estate reconfiguration charge 128 - -
Regulatory settlement 80 - -
Total non-interest expenses $4,756 $4,988 $5,128
Compensation and benefits/Net revenues 51.0% 51.0% 51.0%

Non-interest expenses were $4,756 million for fiscal 2002, down
5% from $4,988 million in fiscal 2001 and down 3% in fiscal
2001 from $5,128 million in fiscal 2000. Total non-interest
expenses in fiscal 2002 included a net gain of $108 million asso-
ciated with September 11th related costs and insurance settle-
ment proceeds, a charge of $128 million for certain other real
estate reconfiguration costs and a charge of $80 million result-
ing from the Company’s regulatory settlement associated with
allegations of research analyst conflicts of interest. Fiscal 2001
total non-interest expenses included a charge of $127 million
related to September 11th insurance recoveries and expenses,
net. (Additional information about these charges can be found

in Notes 2, 3 and 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)

Nonpersonnel expenses were $1,517 million in 2002 compared
to $1,424 million in 2001. The increase in nonpersonnel

expenses is principally attributable to increases in occupancy,

expenses increased 19% in 2001 from 2000 mainly attributable
to increases in investments in technology and communications,
occupancy expenses to accommodate headcount growth and

increased brokerage and clearance expenses.

Compensation and benefits expenses were $3,139 million in
2002, $3,437 million in 2001 and $3,931 million in 2000. Com-
pensation and benefits expense as a percentage of net revenues
in 2002 remained at 51%, consistent with fiscal 2001 and 2000.
Compensation and benefits expense includes the cost of salaries,
incentive compensation and employee benefit plans as well as
the amortization of deferred stock compensation awards. Lower
levels of revenues in 2002 resulted in lower variable compensa-
tion expenses, which decreased by 21% from 2001. Fixed com-
pensation, consisting primarily of salaries and benefits,
increased 6% in 2002 from 2001, due to an increase in pension

expense, related to lower asset values and projected returns, as
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well as higher severance costs related to headcount reductions
made during the fourth quarter of 2002, Compensation and
benefits expenses decreased 13% in 2001 from 2000 consistent

with the decrease in the Company’s revenues.

Net pension expense/(income) was $26 million, $(32) million
and $(34) million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
Company views its pension cost as a component of compensa-
tion expense and, in keeping with its expense management dis-
cipline, has maintained total compensation at 51% of net

revenues over the past several years.

Nonpersonnel and compensation expenses combined were
$4,656 million, $4,861 million and $5,128 million in 2002, 2001
and 2000, respectively. The overall decrease year-over-year
is principally associated with the decrease in net revenues cou-
pled with the Company’s continued disciplined approach to

expense management.

INCOME TAXES

The Company recorded an income tax provision of $368 mil-
lion, $437 million, and $748 million for 2002, 2001, and 2000,
respectively. These provisions resulted in effective tax rates of
26.3%, 25.0%, and 29.0%, respectively.

The increase in the effective tax rate in 2002 from 2001 was prin-
cipally due to a less favorable mix of geographic earnings, par-
tially offset by a greater impact of permanent differences,
including tax-exempt income. The decrease in the effective tax
rate in 2001 from 2000 was primarily due to a greater impact of
permanent differences, resulting from a decrease in the level of
pre-tax income, an increase in tax-exempt income, and a higher

level of income from foreign operations.

Additional information about the Company’s income taxes can

be found in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Segments The Com.pany is segregated into
three business segments (each of
which is described below): Invest-
ment Banking, Capital Markets and
Client Services. Each segment rep-

resents a group of activities and

Segment Resuits

products with similar characteristics. These business activities
result in revenues from both institutional and high-net-worth
retail clients, which are recognized across all revenue categories
contained in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income.
(Net revenues also contain certain internal allocations, includ-

ing funding costs, which are centrally managed.)

In millions Investment Capital Client

Twelve months ended November 30, 2002 Banking Markets Services Total
Principal Transactions $ $ 1,474 § 477 $ 1,951
Interest and Dividends 11,691 37 11,728
Investment Banking 1,731 - 40 1,771
Commissions 1,059 227 1,286
Other 1 a4 45
Total Revenues 1,731 14,225 825 16,781
Interest Expense 10,605 21 10,626
Net Revenues 1,731 3,620 804 6,155
Non-Interest Expenses " 1,321 2,722 613 4,656
Earnings Before Taxes $ 410 $ 898 $ 1N § 1,499

38



2002 Management’s Discussion & Analysis

In millions Investment Capital Client

Twelve months ended November 30, 2001 Banking Markets Services Toral
Principal Transactions $ - $ 2,342 $ 437 $ 2,779
Interest and Dividends - 16,371 99 16,470
Investment Banking 1,925 - 75 2,000
Commissions - 879 212 1,081
Other - 13 39 52
Total Revenues 1,925 19,605 862 22,392
Interest Expense - 15,581 75 15,656
Net Revenues 1,925 4,024 787 6,736
Non-Interest Expenses @ 1,552 2,702 607 4,861
Earnings Before Taxes @ $ 373 £ 1,322 $ 180 $ 1,875
In millions Investment Capital Client

Twelve months ended November 30, 2000 Banking Markets Services Total
Principal Transactions $ - $ 3,259 § 454 $ 3,713
Interest and Dividends - 19,271 169 19,440
Investment Banking 2,179 ~ 37 2,216
Commissions - 731 213 944
Other - 29 105 134
Total Revenues 2,179 23,290 978 26,447
Interest Expense - 18,601 139 18,740
Net Revenues 2,179 4,689 839 7,707
Non-Interest Expenses 1,680 2,888 560 5,128
Earnings Before Taxes $ 499 $ 1,801 $ 279 $ 2,579

(1) Excludes the impact of the real estate reconfiguration charge of $128 million, Septamber 11th related (recoveries)/expenses, net gain of {$108) million and regulatory settle-

ment charge of $80 million.
(2) Excludes the impact of September 11th related expenses, net of $127 million.

The following discussion provides an analysis of the Company’s

results by segment for the above periods.

Lehman Brothers provides a full array of capital markets prod-
ucts and advisory services worldwide. Through the Company’s
banking, trading, research, structuring and distribution capa-
bilities in equity and fixed income products, the Company con-
tinues to effectively build its client/customer business model.
This model focuses on “customer flow” activities, which repre-
sent a majority of the Company’s revenues. In addition to its
customer flow activities, the Company also takes proprietary
positions, the success of which is dependent upon its ability to
anticipate economic and market trends. The Company believes
its customer flow orientation helps to mitigate its overall rev-

enue volatility.

The Company, through its subsidiaries, is a market-maker in all
major equity and fixed income products in both the U.S. and
international markets. In order to facilitate its market-making
activities, the Company is a member of all principal securities

and commodities exchanges in the U.S. and holds memberships

or associate memberships on several principal international
securities and commodities exchanges, including the London,
Tokyo, Hong Kong, Frankfurt, Milan and Paris stock exchanges.
As part of its customer flow activities, the Company maintains
inventory positions of varying amounts across a broad range of
financial instruments, which are marked-to-market on a daily
basis and, along with any proprietary trading positions, give rise

to Principal transactions revenues.

Net revenues from the Company’s customer flow activities are
recorded as either Principal transactions, Commissions or net
interest revenues in the Consolidated Statement of Income,
depending upon the method of execution, financing and/or
hedging related to specific inventory positions. In assessing the
performance of Capital Markets and Client Services, the Com-
pany evaluates Principal transactions, Commissions and net
interest revenues in the aggregate. Decisions relating to Capital
Markets and Client Services activities are based on an overall
review of aggregate revenues, which includes an assessment of
the potential gain or loss associated with a transaction including

any associated commissions, and the interest revenue or expense

39




2002 Management’s Discussion ¢ Analysis

associated with financing or hedging the Company’s positions.
Therefore, the Company views net revenues from Principal
transactions, Commissions and Interest revenue, offset by
related Interest expense, in the aggregate, because the revenue
classifications, when analyzed individually, are not always
indicative of the performance of the Company’s Capital Markets

and Client Services activities.

INVESTMENT BANKING

This segment’s net revenues result from fees earned by the Com-
pany for underwriting public and private offerings of fixed
income and equity securities, and advising clients on merger
and acquisition activities and other services. The division is
structured into global industry groups—Communications &
Media, Consumer/Retailing, Financial Institutions, Financial
Sponsors, Healthcare, Industrial, Natural Resources, Power, Real
Estate and Technology—where bankers deliver industry knowl-
edge and the resources to meet clients’ objectives. Specialized
product groups within Mergers and Acquisitions, Equity Capi-
tal Markets, Debt Capital Markets, Leveraged Finance and Pri-
vate Placements are partnered with global relationship
managers in the industry groups to provide comprehensive
solutions for clients. The Company’s specialists in new product
development and derivatives also are utilized to tailor specific

structures for clients,

Investment Banking net revenues decreased 10% in 2002 to
$1,731 million from $1,925 million in 2001, primarily due to a
decline in M&A advisory revenues. Investment Banking net rev-
enues decreased 12% in 2001 to $1,925 million from $2,179 mil-
lion in 2000 as record fixed income underwriting activity in
2001 was more than offset by decreases in equity origination
and M&A activity.
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Investment
Banking
Net Revenues
In millions 2002 2001 2000
Debt Underwriting $ 886 $ 893 $ 585
Equity Underwriting 420 440 817
Merger and

Acquisition Advisory 425 592 777

$1,731 $ 1,925 $2,179

Named “Bank of the Year” in 2002 by International Financing
‘Review Magazine

Increase in market share across most major product categories

.Decline in Investment Banking net revenues reflects difficult
global market conditions '

Debt underwriting revenues of $886 million in 2002 remained
relatively flat compared to the record results of $893 million in
2001 as issuers continued to take advantage of historically low
interest rates. The Company also continued to improve its com-
petitive position resulting in an increase in global market share
for debt origination, which grew to 7.2% in calendar year 2002
from 6.9% in calendar year 2001, according to TFSD. In addi-
tion, the Company’s market share for high yield debt issuance
increased to 7.9% from 6.3% and market share for leveraged
loan transactions increased to 3.6% from 1.8%. In 2001, debt
underwriting revenues increased 53% to a record $893 million
from $585 million in 2000 as issuers took advantage of lower
interest rates to raise long-term debt and replace short-term
financing. In calendar year 2001, the Company’s market share

increased to 6.9% from 5.9% in calendar year 2000.

Equity origination revenues of $420 million in 2002 were down
5% as compared to a year ago. Global equity markets remained
challenging in 2002 as market-wide new issuance volumes
declined for the second consecutive year. Despite the difficult
market conditions, the Company increased its share of common
stock new issuances to 4.2% in 2002 from 3.6% in the prior year,
but saw a reduced share of activity in the convertibles market.
Equity origination revenues decreased 46% in 2001 from $817
million in 2000 as industry-wide equity underwriting declined
significantly during 2001, partially offset by an increase in the
Company’s global equity underwriting market share in 2001.
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M&A advisory fees decreased 28% to $425 million in 2002 from
2001. This decrease reflects extremely difficult global market
conditions and weakened demand for strategic transactions as
corporations remained conservative amid an uncertain business
climate. Market volume in 2002 for M&A advisory was at a six-
year low. Despite the low volume of activity in the advisory mar-
kets, the Company improved its market share for completed
transactions in calendar year 2002 to 10.7% vs. 7.4% for calen-
dar year 2001, and its market share for announced transactions
increased to 10.7% for calendar year 2002 from 6.5% for calen-
dar year 2001, according to TESD. M&A advisory fees decreased
24% in 2001 to $592 million from 2000 record results as a result
of depressed market conditions in 2001.

Investment Banking pre-tax earnings of $410 million in 2002
increased 10% from 2001, as the 10% decrease in net revenues
was more than offset by lower expenses. The decrease in
expenses reflects reduced compensation expenses associated
with lower revenue and headcount levels and reduced nonper-
sonnel related expenses, particularly business development and
professional fees, as the Company focused on minimizing dis-
cretionary spending in light of reduced revenue levels. In 2001,
Investment Banking pre-tax earnings of $373 million decreased
25% from 2000, as a result of the 12% decrease in net revenues
coupled with higher compensation and benefits expenses as a

result of an increase in headcount.

CAPITAL MARKETS

This segment’s earnings reflect institutional customer flow activities and secondary trading and financing activities related to fixed

income and equity products. These products include a wide range of cash, derivative, secured financing and structured instruments.

Capital Markets
Net Revenues

2002 2001 2000
Gross Interest Net Gross Interest Net Gross Interest Net
In millions Revenues Expense Revenues Revenues Expense  Revenues Revenues Expense  Revenues
Fixed Income $10,674 $ (8,055 $2,619 $13,984  §(11,757) $2,227 $16671  3${14,611) $2,060
Equities 3,551 (2,550) 1,001 5,621 (3,824) 1,797 6,619 (3,990) 2,629
$14,225  $(10,605) $3,620 $19,605  $(15,581) $4,024 $23,290  $(18,601) $4,689

T

Record fixed income net revenues for second consecutive year |

_U.S. fixed income research team ranked #1 and fixed income trading ranked #2 by Institutional Investor

U.S. equity research ranked #2 by Institutional Investor in 2002, :‘up from #5 in 2001

" Gains in fixed income net revenues were more than offset by a ?14% decline-in equitiés netrevenues in 2002

Market share increases in both listed and NASDAQ eduii:ty tradirib volumes in 2002

T N T i

Capital Markets net revenues were $3,620 million for 2002,
down 10% from 2001 as record fixed income revenues were
more than offset by a 44% decline in equities net revenue. The
decrease of $665 million in Capital Markets net revenues in
2001 was principally due to lower equities revenues as a result of

declining global equity market valuations.

In fixed income, the Company remains a leading global market-
maker in numerous products, including U.S., European and

Asian government securities, money market products, corpo-

i
!
i

rate high grade and high yield securities, mortgage- and asset-
backed securities, preferred stock, municipal securities, bank
loans, foreign exchange, financing and derivative products. Net
revenues from the fixed income component of capital markets
increased 18% to a record $2,619 million from $2,227 million in
the prior year. The increase was principally driven by a strong
level of institutional customer flow activity, particularly in
mortgage-related products, as secondary flow was aided by near
record levels of origination activity as investors continued to

minimize risk by moving toward more diversified and defensive
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T

asset categories. The Federal Funds rate remained at historically
low levels throughout the fiscal year, with a 50 basis point
decrease in the rate occurring in November 2002. The low inter-
est rate environment throughout 2002 contributed to strong
results in the Company’s mortgage businesses, principally from
increases in securitization transactions and the distribution of
various mortgage loan products, which were bolstered by the
active refinancing environment. Additionally, the Company had
strong results in structured credit related products, particularly
in collateralized debt obligations (“CDOs”), as clients migrated
to products offering diversification and hedging capabilities. In
2001, fixed income net revenues increased 8% to a then record
level of $2,227 million from $2,060 million in 2000, principally
driven by a strong level of institutional customer flow activity as
investors sought more defensive asset classes. Areas that bene-
fited the most from the strength in institutional customer flow

included mortgages, high grade debt and municipals.

In equities, the Company is one of the largest investment banks
for U.S. and pan-European listed trading volume, and the Com-
pany maintains a major presence in over-the-counter U.S.
stocks, major Asian large capitalization stocks, warrants, con-
vertible debentures and preferred issues. In addition, the Com-
pany makes certain investments in private equity positions
and/or partnerships for which the Company acts as general
partner. Net revenues from the equities component of Capital
Markets decreased 44% to $1,001 million in 2002 from $1,797
million in 2001, driven by negative market conditions which
resulted in revenue declines across most equity products,
including equity derivatives, equity financing and private equity.
Equity derivative revenues declined primarily as a result of
reduced client demand for structured equity derivative products
given market weaknesses. The decrease in equity finance rev-
enues was primarily attributed to a decline in customer balances
in the prime brokerage business, while private equity invest-
ments suffered losses on both private and public investments.
These declines in revenues were partially offset by improve-
ments in the Company’s market share in both listed and NAS-
DAQ securities, which increased to 7.2% and 3.6%, respectively,
in 2002 from 5.7% and 3.2% in 2001. Net revenues from the
equities component of Capital Markets decreased 32% to $1,797
million in 2001 from $2,629 million in 2000 primarily as a result
of declining global equity markets.

42

-

Capital Markets pre-tax earnings of $898 million in 2002
decreased 32% from pre-tax earnings of $1,322 million in 2001,
driven by a 10% decrease in net revenues. Capital Markets non-
interest expenses remained relatively flat in 2002 when com-
pared to the previous year as a decrease in compensation and
benefits was offset by an increase in nonpersonnel expenses,
including increased occupancy costs associated with increased
headcount levels and higher technology spending in order to
enhance the Company’s trading platforms and technology
infrastructure. Capital markets pre-tax earnings of $1,322 mil-
lion in 2001 decreased by 27% from $1,801 in 2000 as a result of
a 14% decrease in net revenues, partially offset by a 6% decrease

in non-interest expenses.

INTEREST AND DIVIDENDS

The Company evaluates the performance of its Capital Markets
business revenues in the aggregate, including Principal transac-
tions, Commissions and net interest. Substantially all of the
Company’s net interest is allocated to its Capital Markets seg-
ment. Decisions relating to these activities are based on an over-
all review of aggregate revenues, which includes an assessment
of the potential gain or loss associated with a transaction,
including any associated commissions, and the interest revenue
or expense associated with financing or hedging the Company’s
positions; therefore, caution should be utilized when analyzing

revenue categories individually.

Interest and dividend revenues for Capital Markets businesses
decreased 29% in 2002 from 2001, whereas interest expense
decreased 32% over this same period, reflecting the decline in
interest rates over the year. Net interest revenue increased 37% in
2002 over the prior year, reflecting benefits from the steepening
yield curve environment and higher interest earning asset levels
in 2002 as compared to 2001. Interest and dividend revenue for
Capital Markets businesses decreased 15% in 2001 from 2000,
whereas interest expense decreased 16% over this same period,
reflecting the decline in interest rates during 2001. Net interest
revenue increased 18% in 2001 over the prior year, primarily
due to a decrease in the cost of funding coupled with a change

in inventory mix.
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CLIENT SERVICES

Client Services
Net Revenues

In millions 2002 2001 2000
Private Client $ 762 $711 $795
Private Equity 42 76 44

$ 804 $787 $ 839

. Private Client net revenues increased 7% over prior year on ]
- strong fixed income activity among high-net-worth clients

. Private Equity assets under managemént décreased 20% in
. 2002 to $4.5 hillion from $5.6 billion in 2001

Client Services net revenues reflect earnings from the Com-
pany’s Private Client and Private Equity businesses. Private
Client net revenues reflect the Company’s high-net-worth retail
customer flow activities as well as asset management fees, where
the Company strives to add value to its client base of high-net-
worth individuals and mid-sized institutional investors through
innovative financial solutions, global access to capital, research,

global product depth and personal service and advice.

Private Equity net revenues include the management and incen-
tive fees earned in the Company’s role as general partner for
thirty-three private equity partnerships. Private Equity cur-
rently operates in five major asset classes: Merchant Banking,
Real Estate, Venture Capital, Fixed Income-related and Third
Party Funds. As of the fiscal year ended 2002, Private Equity had

$4.5 billion of assets under management.

Client Services net revenues were $804 million in 2002 as com-
pared to $787 million in 2001 and $839 million in 2000. Despite
the weak equity markets, Private Client net revenues increased
to $762 million in 2002 from $711 million in 2001 due to record
fixed income activity which more than offset decreased per-
formance in equities as the Company’s high-net-worth clients
continued to reposition their portfolios to more defensive asset
classes. Client Services net revenues were $787 million in 2001
compared to $839 million for 2000. Excluding a special per-
formance-based asset management fee of $73 million in 2000
and a $20 million merchant banking incentive fee in 2001,
Client Services results remained relatively flat in 2001, as the
Company’s high-net-worth sales force continued to produce

strong results despite the weak equity market environment.

Private Equity net revenues decreased $34 million in 2002 from
2001, principally as a result of lower incentive fees earned in
2002. Private Equity net revenues increased $32 million in 2001
from 2000, primarily due to a $15 million increase in manage-
ment fees from new funds sponsored by the Company and the
recognition of a $20 million incentive fee from a single merchant

banking investment.

Client Services pre-tax earnings of $191 million in 2002
increased 6% from 2001 as a result of higher net revenues. Non-
interest expenses of $613 million remained relatively flat in 2002
as compared to 2001. Client Services pre-tax earnings of $180
million in 2001 decreased 35% from $279 million in 2000 as a
result of a 6% decrease in net revenues, coupled with an 8%
increase in non-interest expenses, mainly attributable to the

increase in headcount during 2001.

The Company’s European and Asia

Geographic

Diversification Pacific regions continued to be

affected by the global economic

slowdown in 2002. Despite the

dampened economic environment,

the Company was able to improve
certain rankings and market share in Europe and Asia, most
prominently in M&A transactions, where market share in Euro-
pean completed transactions improved to 14.9% from 6.1% and
market share in European announced transactions increased to
13.2% from 6.0% in calendar year 2002 from calendar year 2001
(according to TFSD).

International net revenues were $2,286 million in 2002, $2,495
million in 2001 and $3,215 million in 2000, representing
approximately 37% of total net revenues in 2002 and 2001, and
42% in 2000. International net revenues as a percentage of total
net revenues remained flat from 2001 to 2002 as a higher pro-
portion of revenues earned from international Capital Markets
businesses was offset by a decrease in international Investment
Banking businesses. International net revenues, consistent with
U.S. revenues, saw declines in revenues from equity products as
such results were adversely impacted by declining equity indices.
Partially offsetting this decrease were increased revenues from

fixed income products in both Burope and Asia.

Net Revenues from the Company’s European region decreased
14% to $1,674 million in 2002 from $1,955 million in 2001.
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Europe’s fixed income capital markets business experienced
a record year driven: by continued growth in structured transac-
tions, including CDO’, as well as strong performance in
interest rate and real estate mortgage related products. This was
offset by a significant decline in equity capital markets and
investment banking net revenues due to a lack of corporate
demand for equity derivative products and a continued decline
in the European equity origination markets. Net revenues from
the Company’s European region decreased 18% in 2001 versus
2000 as the region encountered the same weak market condi-

tions experienced in the U.S. during 2001.

Net Revenues from the Com-
Net Revenue Diversity

by Gecgraphic Region pany’s Asia Pacific region of

$612 million in 2002 increased
13% from $540 million in 2001.
Asia’s fixed income capital mar-
kets business experienced their
second highest year ever, driven
by strength in derivatives, high
yield and mortgage-related
products as a result of strong
customer flow activities and new
transactions, particularly in the
distressed assets securitization

business. This performance was

C ; partially offset by a decline in
International net j

revenues represenied
approximately 37%

equity capital markets and
investment banking net rev-

enues due to a lack of corporate

of total net revenues
in 2002, compared:
with only 28% in 1997.

demand for equity derivatives,
depressed equity markets and

. E poor market conditions in the
investment banking environment. Net revenues from
the Company’s Asia Pacific region decreased 35% in 2001
from 2000 as a result of the difficult market conditions
experienced during 2001.
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LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity, . o

Funding Liquidity and liquidity manage-
and Capital ment are of paramount importance
Resources to the Company, providing a

framework which seeks to ensure
that the Company maintains suffi-
cient liquid financial resources to continually fund its balance
sheet and meet all of its funding obligations in all market envi-
ronments. Our liquidity management philosophy incorporates

the following principles:

B Liquidity providers are credit and market sensitive and quick
to react to any perceived market or firm specific risks. Conse-
quently, firms must be in a state of constant liquidity readiness.

The Company maintains a large cash position at
Holdings to help absorb the impact of a severe
liquidity event.

During a liquidity event, certain secured lenders will require
higher quality collateral, resulting in a lower availability of
secured funding for "harder to fund" asset classes. Firms
must therefore not overestimate the availability of secured
financing, and must fully integrate their secured and unse-
cured funding strategies.

The Company has established “Reliable Secured
Funding” levels by asset category and by counterparty

and ensures that any secured funding above those
levels is longer term.

E Firms should not rely on asset sales to generate cash or
believe that they can increase unsecured borrowings or
funding efficiencies in a liquidity crisis.

The Company does not rely on reducing its balance
sheet for liquidity reasons in a liquidity event (although
it may do so for risk reasons).

A firm’s legal entity structure may constrain liquidity. Regu-
latory requirements can restrict the flow of funds between
regulated and unregulated group entities and this should be
explicitly accounted for in liquidity planning.

The Company seeks to ensure that each regulated
entity and Holdings has sufficient stand-alone liquidity

and that there is no “cross subsidization” of liquidity
from the regulated entities to Holdings.

The Company’s Funding Framework incorporates the above
principles and seeks to mitigate liquidity risk by helping to
ensure that the Company maintains sufficient funding resources

to withstand a severe liquidity event, including:
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& Sufficient cash capital (i.e., liabilities with remaining maturi-
ties of over one year) to fund:
Secured funding “haircuts,” (i.e., the difference between
the market value of the available inventory and the
estimated value of cash that would be advanced to

the Company by counterparties against that inventory
in a stress environment).

Less liquid assets, including fixed assets, goodwill,
deferred taxes and prepaid assets.

Operational cash at banks and unpledged assets
regardless of collateral quality.

Anticipated draws of unfunded commitments.

To ensure that the Company is operating “within its means,” the
businesses operate within strict cash capital limits. This limit
culture has been institutionalized and engages the entire Com-

pany in managing liquidity.

Sufficient “Reliable Secured Funding” capacity to fund the
Company’s liquid inventory on a secured basis. This capac-
ity represents an assessment of the reliable secured funding
capacity, by asset class, that the Company would anticipate in
a liquidity event.

The Company pays careful attention to validating this
capacity through a periodic counterparty-by-counter-
party, product-by-product review, which draws upon

the Company’s understanding of the financing franchise
and the funding experience with the counterparties.

In cases where a business has inventory at a level above its “Reli-
able Secured Funding” capacity, the Company requires the

excess to be funded on a term basis.

The Company has increased the capacity for funding certain
asset classes through the growth of Lehman Brothers Bank (a
FDIC-insured thrift) and Lehman Brothers Bankhaus (a GDPF-
insured bank). These entities operate in a deposit-protected
environment and are able to source low cost unsecured funds
that are generally insulated from a company- or market-specific
event, thereby providing more reliable funding for mortgage

products and select loan assets.

B Sufficient liquidity to withstand a liquidity event character-
ized by:

The Company’s inability to issue any unsecured
short-term and long-term debt for one year.

Haircut widening for secured funding;

Funding requirements resulting from a credit rating
downgrade (e.g., the increased collateral requirements
for over-the-counter derivative transactions).

To provide liquidity to Holdings during periods of adverse mar-
ket conditions, the Company maintains a portfolio of cash and
unencumbered liquid assets, comprised primarily of U.S. Gov-
ernment and agency obligations, investment grade securities
and listed equities, which can be sold or pledged to provide lig-

uidity to Holdings where most of the unsecured debt is issued.

As of November 30, 2002, the estimated pledge value of this
portfolio, along with the undrawn portion of Holdings’ com-
mitted credit facility (see “Credit Facilities” below) amounted to
approximately $15.8 billion. Cash and unencumbered liquid
assets that are presumed to be “trapped” in a regulated entity
or required for operational purposes, and are therefore not
seen as a completely reliable source of cash to repay maturing
unsecured debt in a liquidity stress event, are not included in

this portfolio.

The Company has developed and regularly updates its Contin-
gency Funding Plan — which represents a detailed action plan to
manage a stress liquidity event — including a communication

plan for creditors, investors and customers during a funding crisis.

FUNDING

Short-Term Debt to
Total Assets Less
Matched Book

Short-Term Debt to
Total Debt

6% -[ 20%

o
n T . 15%

4%
~
o
o

[ Lehman Brothers has lowered its Short-Term Debt to Total

Assets Less Matched Book and its Short-Term Debt to Total
. Debt ratios over the past five years to lessen the impact of
" short-term dislocations in the unsecured funding markets.
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The Company issues debt in a variety of maturities and curren-
cies. The Company’s funding strategy emphasizes long-term
debt over short-term debt. As a result, the Company has reduced
its reliance on short-term debt, including commercial paper, as
a source of funding. As of November 30, 2002, the Company
had $2.4 billion of short-term unsecured debt outstanding as

compared to $7.8 billion five years ago.

In order to manage the refinancing risk of long-term debt the
Company sets limits for the amount maturing over any three,
six and twelve month horizon. The Company also manages the
maturity refinancing risk of its term secured borrowings. Addi-
tionally, in order to limit its reliance on any given borrower, the

Company also diversifies its lender base.

MANAGING LIQUIDITY, FUNDING AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company’s Finance Committee is responsible for develop-
ing, implementing and enforcing the liquidity, funding and cap-
ital policies. These policies include recommendations for capital
and balance sheet size, as well as the allocation of capital and
balance sheet to the business units. Through the establishment
and enforcement of capital and funding limits, the Company’s
Finance Committee ensures compliance throughout the organ-

ization so that the Company is not exposed to undue risk.

TOTAL CAPITAL

Total Capital
In millions
November 30 2002 2001 2000

Long-Term Debt

Senior Notes $36,283 $35373 $32,106

Subordinated Indebtedness 2,395 2,928 3,127
Subtotal 38,678 38,301 35,233
Preferred Securities Subject to
Mandatory Redemption 710 710 860
Stockholders' Equity
Preferred Equity 700 700 700
Common Equity 8,242 7,759 7,081
Subtotal 8,942 8,459 7,781
Total Capital $48,330 $47,470 $43,874

The Company’s Total Capital (defined as long-term debt, pre-
ferred securities subject to mandatory redemption and stockhold-
ers’ equity) increased 2% to $48.3 billion at November 30, 2002,
compared to $47.5 billion at November 30, 2001. The increase in
Total Capital principally resulted from increased equity from the

retention of earnings as well as a net increase in long-term debt.

46

Long-term debt increased to Total Capital

$38.7 billion at November 30,
2002 from $38.3 billion at
November 30, 2001 with a
weighted-average maturity of 4.0 ﬂ

In millions

$50,000

years at November 30, 2002 and
3.8 years at November 30, 2001.

$45,000

The Company operates in many T
regulated  businesses  that

require various minimum levels

$40,000

of capital. These businesses are

also subject to regulatory

requirements that may restrict
the free flow of funds to affili-
ates. Regulatory approval is gen-
erally required for paying

dividends in excess of certain

established levels and making
advancements to affiliated companies. Additional information
about the Company’s capital requirements can be found in Note

12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

CREDIT FACILITIES

Holdings maintains a Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”) with a syndicate of banks. Under the Credit
Agreement, the banks have committed to provide up to $1
billion through April 2005. The Credit Agreement contains
covenants that require, among other things, that the Company
maintain a specified level of tangible net worth. The Company
views the Credit Agreement as one of its many sources of lig-
uidity available through its funding framework, and as such the
Company utilizes this liquidity for general business purposes

from time to time.

The Company also maintains a backstop $750 million Commit-
ted Securities Repurchase Facility (the “Facility”) for Lehman
Brothers International {Europe) (“LBIE”), the Company’s
major operating entity in Europe. The Facility provides secured
multi-currency financing for a broad range of collateral types.
Under the terms of the Facility, the bank group has agreed to
provide funding for up to one year on a secured basis. Any loans
outstanding on the commitment termination date may be
extended for up to an additional year at the option of LBIE. The
Facility contains covenants which require, among other things,
that LBIE maintain specified levels of tangible net worth. This

commitment expires at the end of October 2003.

]
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There were no borrowings outstanding under either the Credit
Agreement or the Facility at November 30, 2002. The Company
has maintained compliance with the applicable covenants for
both the Credit Agreement and the Facility at all times.

BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL LEVERAGE

The Company’s balance sheet consists primarily of cash and
cash equivalents, securities and other financial instruments
owned, and collateralized short-term financing agreements. The
liquid nature of these assets provides the Company with flexi-
bility in financing and managing its business. The majority of
these assets are funded on a secured basis through collateralized

short-term financing agreements.

The Company’s total assets increased to $260 billion at Novem-
ber 30, 2002 from $248 billion at November 30, 2001. The Com-
pany’s net balance sheet, defined as total assets less the lower of
securities purchased under agreements to resell or securities
sold under agreements to repurchase, remained relatively con-
stant at $166 billion at November 30, 2002 compared to $165
billion at November 30, 2001. The Company believes that net
balance sheet is a more effective measure of evaluating balance
sheet usage when comparing companies in the securities indus-
try. The Company utilizes its net balance sheet primarily to
carry inventory necessary to facilitate customer flow trading
activities. As such, the Company’s mix of net assets is subject to
change depending principally upon customer demand. In addi-
tion, due to the nature of the Company’s customer flow activi-
ties and based upon the Company’s business outlook, the overall
size of the Company’s balance sheet fluctuates from time to time
and, at specific points in time, may be higher than the fiscal

year-end or quarter-end amounts.

The increase in the Company’s total assets at November 30, 2002
was primarily driven by an increase in the Company’s matched
book secured financing activities. The Company’s net balance
sheet size at November 30, 2002 remained consistent with the
prior year; however, 2002 saw a decrease in the level of equity
inventory, consistent with reduced customer demand for equity
products in light of the market weaknesses, with a correspon-
ding increase in high quality fixed income inventory levels

reflecting increased customer flow activities in these products.

Balance sheet leverage ratios are one measure used to evaluate
the capital adequacy of a company. Leverage ratios are com-
monly calculated using either total assets or net balance sheet.

The Company believes that net leverage (i.e., net balance sheet

wve—

divided by total stockholders’ equity and preferred securities
subject to mandatory redemption) is a more effective measure
of financial risk when comparing companies in the securities
industry. The Company’s net leverage ratios were 17.2x and
17.9x as of November 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Consis-
tent with maintaining a single A credit rating, the Company tar-
gets a net leverage ratio of under 20.0x. The Company continues

to operate below this level.

CREDIT RATINGS

The Company, like other companies in the securities industry,
relies on external sources to finance a significant portion of its
day-to-day operations. The cost and availability of unsecured
financing generally are dependent on the Company’s short-
term and long-term credit ratings. Factors that may be signifi-
cant to the determination of the Company’s credit ratings or
otherwise affect the ability of the Company to raise short-term
and long-term financing include its profit margin, its earnings
trend and volatility, its cash liquidity and liquidity manage-
ment, its capital structure, its risk level and risk management,
its geographic and business diversification, and its relative posi-
tions in the markets in which it operates. A deterioration in any
of the previously mentioned factors or combination of these
factors may lead rating agencies to downgrade the credit ratings
of the Company, thereby increasing the cost to the Company of,
or possibly limiting the access of the Company to, certain types
of unsecured financings. In addition, the Company’s debt rat-
ings can impact certain capital markets revenues, particularly
in those businesses where longer-term counterparty perform-
ance is critical, such as over-the-counter derivative transac-
tions, including credit derivatives and interest rate swaps. As of
November 30, 2002, the short- and long-term debt ratings of

Holdings and LBI were as follows:

Credit
Ratings Holdings LBI
Short-  Long- Short- Long-
ierm term term term™**
Fitch 1BCA, Inc. F-1 A+ F-1 A+/A
Moody's ™ P-1 A2 P-1  A1*/A2
Standard & Poor’s Corp. @ A-1 A A1 A+*/A

*Provisional ratings on shelf registration

**Senior/subordinated

(1) On October 8, 2002, Moody's revised its outlook to positive from stable for
all long-term debt ratings of Holdings. The short-term rating was affirmed.

(2) On August 15, 2002, Standard & Poor's revised its outlook on Holdings
to negative from stable. The ‘A’ long-term and ‘A-1" short-term ratings
were affirmed.
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MiGH YIELD SECURITIES

The Company underwrites, invests and makes markets in high
yield corporate debt securities. The Company also syndicates,
trades and invests in loans to below investment grade-rated
companies. For purposes of this discussion, high yield debt
instruments are defined as securities or loans to companies
rated BB+ or lower, or equivalent ratings by recognized credit
rating agencies, as well as non-rated securities or loans which, in
the opinion of management, are non-investment grade. Non-
investment grade securities generally involve greater risks than
investment grade securities, due to the issuer’s creditworthiness
and the liquidity of the market for such securities. In addition,
these issuers generally have relatively higher levels of indebted-
ness, resulting in an increased sensitivity to adverse economic
conditions. The Company recognizes these risks and aims to
reduce market and credit risk through the diversification of its
products and counterparties. High yield debt instruments are
carried at fair value, with unrealized gains or losses recognized
in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income. Such
instruments at November 30, 2002 and November 30, 200]
included long positions with an aggregate market value of
approximately $4.0 billion and $3.5 billion, respectively, and
short positions with an aggregate market value of approximately
$1.1 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively. The Company miti-
gates its aggregate and single-issuer net exposure through the
use of derivatives, non-recourse securitization financing and

other financial instruments.

PRIVATE EQUITY
The Company has investments in thirty-three private equity-
related partnerships, for which the Company acts as general

partner, as well as related direct investments.

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company’s private equity
related investments totaled $965 million and $826 million,
respectively. The Company’s policy is to carry its investments,
including the appreciation of its general partnership interests, at
fair value based upon the Company’s assessment of the under-
lying investments. Additional information about the Company’s
private equity activities, including related commitments, can be
found in Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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In the normal course of business,

Summary of . .

Contractual the Company enters into various
iqati commitments and guarantees,

Obligations 8

including lending commitments to
high grade and high yield borrow-
ers, liquidity commitments and
other guarantees. In all instances, the Company marks-to-mar-
ket these commitments and guarantees, with changes in fair

value recognized in Principal transactions revenues.

As of November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company was contin-
gently liable for $0.8 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively, of let-
ters of credit, primarily used to provide collateral for securities
and commodities borrowed and to satisfy margin deposits at

option and commodity exchanges.

In connection with its financing activities, the Company had
outstanding commitments under certain lending arrangements
of approximately $1.5 billion and $2.1 billion, at November 30,
2002 and 2001, respectively. These commitments require bor-
rowers to provide acceptable collateral, as defined in the agree-
ments, when amounts are drawn under the lending facilities.
Advances made under the above lending arrangements are typ-
ically at variable interest rates and generally provide for over-
collateralization based upon the borrowers’ creditworthiness. At
November 30, 2002, the Company had commitments to enter
into forward starting reverse repurchase and repurchase agree-
ments, principally secured by government and government
agency collateral, of $89.9 billion and $50.3 billion, respectively,
as compared to $52.3 billion and $26.5 billion, respectively, at
November 30, 2001.

The Company, through its high grade and high yield sales, trad-
ing and underwriting activities, makes commitments to extend
credit in loan syndication transactions. The Company utilizes
various hedging and funding strategies to actively manage its
market, credit and liquidity exposures on these commitments.
In addition, total commitments are not indicative of actual risk
or funding requirements, as the commitments may not be
drawn or fully utilized. These commitments and any related
draw downs of these facilities typically have fixed maturity dates
and are contingent upon certain representations, warranties and

contractual conditions applicable to the borrower.

The Company had credit risk associated with lending commit-
ments to investment grade borrowers (after consideration of
hedges) of $3.2 billion and $4.1 billion at November 30, 2002
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and November 30, 2001, respectively. In addition, the Company
had credit risk associated with lending commitments to non-
investment grade borrowers (after consideration of hedges) of
$1.7 billion and $1.4 billion at November 30, 2002 and Novem-
ber 30, 2001, respectively. Before consideration of hedges, the
Company had commitments to investment and non-investment
grade borrowers of $7.1 billion and $1.8 billion as compared to
$5.9 billion and $1.4 billion at November 30, 2002 and Novem-
ber 30, 2001, respectively. The Company had available undrawn
borrowing facilities with third parties of approximately $5.2 bil-
lion and $4.9 billion at November 30, 2002 and November 30,
2001, respectively, which can be drawn upon to provide funding
for these commitments. These funding facilities contain limits
for certain concentrations of counterparty, industry or credit

ratings of the underlying loans.

In addition, the Company provided high yield contingent
commitments related to acquisition financing of approximately
$2.8 billion and $0.6 billion at November 30, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The Company’s intent is, and its past practice has
been, to sell down significantly all the credit risk associated with
these loans, if closed, through loan svndications consistent with
the Company’s credit facilitation framework. These commit-
ments are not indicative of the Company’s actual risk, as the
borrower’s ability to draw is subject to there being no material
adverse change in either market conditions or the borrower’s

financial condition, among other factors. In addition, these

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

T

commitments contain certain flexible pricing features in order

to adjust for changing market conditions prior to closing.

At November 30, 2002, the Company had liquidity commit-
ments of approximately $4.4 billion related to trust certificates
backed by investment grade municipal securities, as compared
to $3.6 billion at November 30, 2001. The Company’s obligation
under such liquidity commitments is generally less than one
year and is further limited by the fact that the Company’s obli-
gation ceases if the underlying assets are downgraded below
investment grade or default. In addition, the Company had cer-
tain other commitments and guarantees associated with special
purpose entities of approximately $5.0 billion and $0.7 billion,
at November 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively. These commit-
ments consist of liquidity facilities and other default protection
to investors, which are principally overcollateralized with invest-

ment grade collateral.

As of November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had commit-
ments to invest up to $672 million and $555 million, respec-
tively, directly and through partnerships in private equity related
investments. These commitments will be funded as required
through the end of the respective investment periods, princi-

pally expiring in 2004.

Aggregate contractual obligations and other commitments as of

November 30, 2002 by maturity are as follows:

Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period

Total
In millions Contractual
November 30, 2002 Atnount
Lending commitments:
High grade $ 7117~
High yield 1,833**
Contingent acquisition facilities 2,775
Secured lending transactions, including forward
starting resale and repurchase agreements 141,762
Municipal securities related liquidity commitments 4,432
Other commitments and guarantees associated with
other special purpose entities 4,964
Standby letters of credit 835
Private equity investments 672
Operating lease obligations 1,887
Capital lease obligations 2,468
Long-term debt maturities 38,678

Less than 1-3 4-5 After 5
1 Year Years Years Years

§ 4,338 $ 1,826 $ 931 $ 22
466 831 467 69
2,775 - - -
125,952 13,223 500 2,089
3,056 136 67 1,173
3,050 308 1,033 573

- 835 - -

- 434 - 238

139 355 239 1,154

- 102 102 2,264

7.97 17,113 7.169 6,425

*The Company views its net credit exposure for high grade commitments, after consideration of hedges, to be $3.2 billion.
** The Company views its net credit exposure for high yield commitments, after consideration of hedges to be $1.7 biltion.
For additional information on contractual obligations see Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DERIVATIVES

Off-Balance-Sheet . . .
Overview Derivatives are financial

Arrangements
instruments, examples of which

include swaps, options, futures, for-
wards and warrants, whose value is
based upon an underlying asset
(e.g., treasury bond), index (e.g., S&P 500) or reference rate
(e.g., LIBOR). Derivatives are often referred to as “off-balance-
sheet instruments,” as a derivative’s notional amount is not
recorded on-balance-sheet. Notional amounts are generally not
exchanged, but rather represent the basis for exchanging cash
flows during the duration of the contract. Notional amounts are

generally not indicative of the Company’s at risk amount.

A derivative contract may be traded on an exchange or negoti-
ated in the over-the-counter markets. Exchange-traded deriva-
tives are standardized and include futures, warrants and certain
option contracts listed on an exchange. Over-the-counter
(“OTC”) derivative contracts are individually negotiated
between contracting parties and include forwards, swaps and
certain options, including caps, collars and floors. The use of
derivative financial instruments has expanded significantly over
the past decade. A primary reason for this expansion is that
derivatives provide a cost-effective alternative for managing
market risk. Additionally, derivatives provide users with access
to market risk management tools that are often unavailable in
traditional cash instruments, as derivatives can be tailored to
meet client needs. Derivatives can also be used to take propri-

etary trading positions.

Derivatives are subject to various risks similar to non-derivative
financial instruments including market, credit and operational
risk. Market risk is the potential for a financial loss due to
changes in the value of derivative financial instruments due to
market changes, including changes in interest rates, foreign
exchange rates and equity and commodity prices. Credit risk
results from the possibility that a counterparty to a derivative
transaction may fail to perform according to the terms of the
contract. Therefore, the Company’s exposure to credit risk is
represented by its net receivable from derivative counterparties,
after consideration of collateral. Operational risk is the possibil-
ity of financial loss resulting from a deficiency in the Company’s

systems for executing derivative transactions.
In addition to these risks, counterparties to derivative financial

instruments may also be exposed to legal risks related to deriv-

ative activities, including the possibility that a transaction may
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be unenforceable under applicable law. The risks of derivatives
should not be viewed in isolation but rather should be consid-
ered on an aggregate basis along with the Company’s other trad-

ing-related activities.

As derivative products have continued to expand in volume, so
has market participation and competition. As a result, addi-
tional liquidity has been added into the markets for conven-
tional derivative products, such as interest rate swaps.
Competition has also contributed to the development of more
complex products structured for specific clients. It is this rapid
growth and complexity of certain derivative products which has
led to the perception, by some, that derivative products are

unduly risky to users and the financial markets.

In order to remove the public perception that derivatives may be
unduly risky and to ensure ongoing liquidity of derivatives in
the marketplace, the Company supports the efforts of the regu-
lators in striving for enhanced risk management disclosures
which consider the effects of both derivative products and cash
instruments. In addition, the Company supports the activities of
regulators that are designed to ensure that users of derivatives
are fully aware of the nature of risks inherent within derivative
transactions. As evidence of this support, the Company has been
actively involved with the various regulatory and accounting
authorities in the development of additional enhanced report-

ing requirements related to derivatives.

The Company strongly believes that derivatives provide signif-
icant value to the financial markets and is committed to pro-
viding its clients with innovative products to meet their

financial needs.

LEHMAN BROTHERS' USE OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into deriv-

ative transactions both in a trading capacity and as an end-user.

As an end-user, the Company utilizes derivative products to
adjust the interest rate nature of its funding sources from fixed
to floating interest rates, and to change the index upon which
floating interest rates are based (e.g., Prime to LIBOR) (collec-
tively, “End-User Derivative Activities”). For a further discussion
of the Company’s End-User Derivative Activities, see Note 15 to

the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company utilizes derivative products in a trading capacity

as a dealer to satisfy the financial needs of its clients, and in each
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of its trading businesses (collectively, “Trading-Related Deriva-
tive Activities”). In this capacity the Company transacts exten-
sively in derivatives including interest rate, credit (both single
name and portfolio), foreign exchange and equity derivatives.
The Company’s use of derivative products in its trading busi-
nesses is combined with transactions in cash instruments to

allow for the execution of various trading strategies.

The Company conducts its derivative activities through a num-
ber of wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Company’s fixed income
derivative products business is conducted through its sub-
sidiary, Lehman Brothers Special Financing Inc., and separately
capitalized “AAA” rated subsidiaries, Lehman Brothers Financial
Products Inc. and Lehman Brothers Derivative Products Inc.
The Company’s equity derivative product business is conducted
through Lehman Brothers Finance S.A. In addition, as a global
investment bank, the Company is also a market-maker in a
number of foreign currencies and actively trades in the global
commodity markets. Counterparties to the Company’s deriva-
tive product transactions are primarily financial intermediaries
(U.S. and foreign banks), securities firms, corporations, govern-
ments and their agencies, finance companies, insurance compa-

nies, investment companies and pension funds.

The Company manages the risks associated with derivatives on
an aggregate basis, along with the risks associated with its non-
derivative trading and market-making activities in cash instru-
ments, as part of its firmwide risk management policies. The
Company utilizes industry standard derivative contracts when-
ever appropriate. These contracts may contain provisions
requiring the posting of additional collateral by the Company in
certain events, including a downgrade in the Company’s credit
rating (as of November 30, 2002, the Company would be
required to post additional collateral pursuant to derivative con-
tracts of approximately $400 million in the event that the Com-
pany were to experience a downgrade of its senior debt). The
Company believes that its funding framework incorporates all
reasonably likely collateral requirements related to these provi-
sions. For a further discussion of the Company’s risk manage-
ment policies, refer to the discussion which follows. For a
discussion of the Company’s liquidity management policies see
page 44.

See the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a
description of the Company’s accounting policies and further dis-

cussion of the Company’s Trading-Related Derivative Activities.

s

OYHER OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Special purpose entities (“SPEs”) are corporations, trusts or part-
nerships which are established for a limited purpose. SPEs by
their nature generally do not provide equity owners with signifi-
cant voting powers, as the SPE documents govern all material
decisions. The Company’s primary involvement with SPEs relates
to securitization transactions in which transferred assets, includ-
ing mortgages, loans, receivables and other assets, are sold to an
SPE and repackaged into securities (i.e. securitized). SPEs may
also be utilized by the Company to create securities with a unique
risk profile desired by invéstors, and as a means of intermediating
financial risk. In summary, in the normal course of business, the
Company may establish SPEs; sell assets to SPEs; underwrite, dis-
tribute, and make a market in securities issued by SPEs; transact
derivatives with SPEs; own securities or residual interests in SPEs;

and provide liquidity or other guarantees for SPEs.

The Company accounts for the transfers of financial assets,
including transfers to SPEs, in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 140, “Accounting
for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguish-
ments of Liabilities—a replacement of SFAS No. 125” (“SFAS
140”). In accordance with this guidance, the Company recognizes
transfers of financial assets as sales provided that contro} has been
relinquished. Control is deemed to be relinquished only when all
of the following conditions have been met: (i) the assets have been
isolated from the transferor, even in bankruptcy or other receiver-
ship (true sale opinions are required); (ii) the transferee has the
right to pledge or exchange the assets received and (iii) the trans-
feror has not maintained effective control over the transferred
assets (e.g. a unilateral ability to repurchase a unique or specific
asset). Therefore, in accordance with this guidance, the Company
derecognizes financial assets transferred in securitizations pro-

vided that the Company has relinquished control over such assets.

The Company is also required to follow the accounting guidance
under SFAS 140 and Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Topic
D-14, “Transactions Involving Special-Purpose Entities,” to deter-

mine whether or not an SPE is required to be consolidated.

The majority of the Company’s involvement with SPEs relates to
securitization transactions meeting the SFAS 140 definition of a
qualifying special purpose entity (“QSPE”). A QSPE can generally
be described as an entity with significantly limited powers which
are intended to limit it to passively holding financial assets and
distributing cash flows based upon pre-set terms. Based upon the

guidance in SFAS 140, the Company is not required to and does
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not consolidate such QSPEs. Rather, the Company accounts for its
involvement with QSPEs under a financial components approach
in which the Company recognizes only its retained involvemnent
with the QSPE. The Company accounts for such retained interests

at fair value with changes in fair value reported in earnings.

The Company is a market leader in mortgage (both residential
and commercial), municipal and other asset-backed securitiza-
tions which are principally transacted through QSPEs. The
Company securitized approximately $155 billion of financial
assets during fiscal 2002 including $108 billion of residential,
$15 billion of cornmercial and $32 billion of municipal and
other financial assets. As of November 30, 2002, the Company
had approximately $1.1 billion of non-investment grade
retained interests from its securitization activities. Retained
interests are recorded in Securities and Other Financial Instru-
ments Owned within the Company’s Consolidated Statement of
Financial Condition and primarily represent junior interests in
commercial and residential securitization transactions. The
Company records its trading assets, including retained interests
on a mark-to-market basis, with related gains or losses recog-
nized in Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement of

Income. (See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)

Certain special purpose entities do not meet the QSPE criteria due
to their permitted activities not being sufficiently limited, or
because the assets are not deemed qualifying financial instruments
(e.g. real estate). In instances in which the Company is either the
sponsor of or transferor to a non-qualifying SPE, the Company
follows the accounting guidance provided by EITF Topic D-14 to
determine whether consolidation is required. Under this guid-
ance, the Company would not be required to, and does not con-
solidate such SPE if a third party investor made a substantive
equity investment in the SPE (minimum of 3%), was subject to
first dollar risk of loss of such SPE, and had a controlling financial
interest. Examples of the Company’s involvement with such SPEs
include: CDOs, where the Company’s role is principally limited to
acting as structuring and placement agent, warehouse provider
and underwriter for CDO transactions; and Synthetic Credit
Transactions, where the Company’s role is primarily that of

underwriter and buyer of credit risk protection from SPEs.

On January 17, 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities — an interpretation of ARB No. 51,
(“Interpretation No. 46”). This interpretation provides new

consolidation accounting guidance for entities involved with
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special purpose entities and will replace guidance provided by
EITF Topic D-14. This guidance does not impact the accounting
for securitizations transacted through QSPEs. This interpreta-
tion will require a primary beneficiary, defined as an entity
which participates in either a majority of the risks or rewards of
such SPE, to consolidate the SPE. An SPE would not be subject
to this interpretation if such entity has sufficient voting equity
capital (presumed to require a minimum of 10%), such that the
entity is able to finance its activities without additional subordi-
nated financial support from other parties. While the Company
has not yet completed its analysis of the impact of the new inter-
pretation, the Company does not anticipate that the adoption of
this interpretation will have a material impact to the Company’s

financial condition or its results of operations.

In addition to the above consolidation policies related to SPEs,
the Company follows SFAS No. 94, “Consolidation of All Major-
ity-Owned Subsidiaries,” for its dealings with operating entities.
The Company consolidates operating entities when the Com-
pany has a controlling financial interest over the business activ-
ities of such entities. Non-controlled operating entities are
accounted for under the equity method when the Company is
able to exercise significant influence over the business activities
of such entities. The cost method is applied when the ability to

exercise significant influence is not present.

As a leading global investment

Risk

Management banking company, risk is an inher-

ent part of the Company’s busi-
nesses. Global markets, by their
nature, are prone to uncertainty
and subject participants to a variety
of risks. The Company has developed policies and procedures to
identify, measure and monitor each of the risks involved in its
trading, brokerage and investment banking activities on a global
basis. The principal risks to Lehman Brothers are market, credit,
liquidity, legal and operational risks. Risk Management is
considered to be of paramount importance in the Company’s
day-to-day operations. Consequently, the Company devotes sig-
nificant resources (including investments in personnel and
technology) across all of its worldwide trading operations to the

measurement, management and analysis of risk.

The Company seeks to reduce risk through the diversification of
its businesses, counterparties and activities in geographic regions.

The Company accomplishes this objective by allocating the usage
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of capital to each of its businesses, establishing trading limits and
setting credit limits for individual counterparties, including
regional concentrations. The Company seeks to achieve adequate
returns from each of its businesses commensurate with the risks
that they assume. Nonetheless, the effectiveness of the Company’s
policies and procedures for managing risk exposure can never be
completely or accurately predicted or fully assured. For example,
unexpectedly large or rapid movements or disruptions in one or
more markets or other unforeseen developments can have an
adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and financial
condition. The consequences of these developments can include
losses due to adverse changes in inventory values, decreases in the
liquidity of trading positions, higher volatility in the Company’s
earnings, increases in the Company’s credit exposure to customers

and counterparties and increases in general systemic risk.

Overall risk management policy is established at the Office of the
Chairman level and begins with The Capital Markets Committee
which consists of the Chief Executive Officer, other members of
the Company’s Executive Committee, the Global Head of Risk,
the Chief Economist and Strategist as well as various other busi-
ness heads. The Capital Markets Committee serves to frame the
Company’s risk opinion in the context of the global market envi-
ronment. The Company’s Risk Committee, which consists of the
Chief Executive Officer, members of the Executive Committee
and the Global Head of Risk, meets weekly and reviews all risk

exposures, position concentrations and risk taking activities.

The Global Risk Management Group (the “Group”) is independent
of the trading areas and reports directly into the Office of the Chair-
man. The Group includes credit risk management, market risk
management and operational risk management. Combining these
disciplines facilitates the analysis of risk exposures, while leveraging
personnel and information technology resources in a cost-efficient
manner. The Group maintains staff in each of the Company’s
regional trading centers and has daily contact with trading staff and
senior management at all levels within the Company. These discus-

sions include a review of trading positions and risk exposures.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk represents the possibility that a counterparty will be
unable to honor its contractual obligations to the Company.
Credit risk management is therefore an integral component of
the Company’s overall risk management framework. The Credit
Risk Management Department (“CRM Department”) has
global responsibility for implementing the Company’s overall

credit risk management framework.

| e —

The CRM Department manages the credit exposure related to
trading activities by giving initial credit approval for counter-
parties, establishing credit limits by counterparty, country and
industry group and by requiring collateral in appropriate cir-
cumstances. In addition, the CRM Department strives to ensure
that master netting agreements are obtained whenever possible.
The CRM Department also considers the duration of transac-
tions in making its credit decisions, along with the potential
credit exposure for complex derivative transactions. The CRM
Department is responsible for the continuous monitoring and
review of counterparty credit exposure and creditworthiness
and recommending valuation adjustments, where appropriate.
Credit limits are reviewed periodically to ensure that they
remain appropriate in light of market events or the counter-

party’s financial condition.

MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the potential change in value of a portfo-
lio of financial instruments due to changes in market rates,
prices and volatilities. Market risk management also is an essen-
tial component of the Company’s overall risk management
framework. The Market Risk Management Department
(“MRM Department”) has global responsibility for implement-
ing the Company’s overall market risk management framework.
It is responsible for the preparation and dissemination of risk
reports, developing and implementing the firmwide Risk Man-
agement Guidelines, and evaluating adherence to these guide-
lines. These guidelines provide a clear framework for risk
management decision making. To that end, the MRM Depart-
ment identifies and quantifies risk exposures, develops limits
and reports and monitors these risks with respect to the
approved limits. The identification of material market risks
inherent in positions includes, but is not limited to, interest rate,
equity and foreign exchange risk exposures. In addition to these
risks, the MRM Department also evaluates liquidity risks, credit

and sovereign concentrations.

The MRM Department utilizes qualitative as well as quantitative
information in managing trading risk, believing that a combi-
nation of the two approaches results in a more robust and com-
plete approach to the management of trading risk. Quantitative
information is developed from a variety of risk methodologies
based upon established statistical principles. To ensure high
standards of qualitative analysis, the MRM Department has
retained seasoned risk managers with the requisite experience

and academic and professional credentials.
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Market risk is present in cash products, derivatives and contin-
gent claim structures that exhibit linear as well as non-linear
profit and loss sensitivity. The Company’s exposure to market
risk varies in accordance with the volume of client-driven mar-
ket-making transactions, the size of the Company’s proprietary
positions, and the volatility of financial instruments traded. The
Company seeks to mitigate, whenever possible, excess market
risk exposures through the use of futures and option contracts

and offsetting cash market instruments.

The Company participates globally in interest rate, equity and
foreign exchange markets. The Company’s Fixed Income divi-
sion has a broadly diversified market presence in U.S. and for-
eign government bond trading, emerging market securities,
corporate debt (investment and non-investment grade), money
market instruments, mortgages and mortgage-backed securi-
ties, asset-backed securities, municipal bonds and interest rate
derivatives. The Company’s Equities division facilitates domes-
tic and foreign trading in equity instruments, indices and
related derivatives. The Company’s foreign exchange businesses
are involved in trading currencies on a spot and forward basis as

well as through derivative products and contracts.

The Company incurs short-term interest rate risk when facili-
tating the orderly flow of customer transactions through the
maintenance of government and high grade corporate bond
inventories. Market-making in high yield instruments exposes
the Company to additional risk due to potential variations in
credit spreads. Trading in international markets exposes the
Company to spread risk between the term structure of interest
rates in different countries. Mortgages and mortgage-related
securities are subject to prepayment risk and changes in the
level of interest rates. Trading in derivatives and structured
products exposes the Company to changes in the level and
volatility of interest rates. The Company actively manages inter-
est rate risk through the use of interest rate futures, options,
swaps, forwards and offsetting cash market instruments. Inven-
tory holdings, concentrations and agings are monitored closely
and used by management to selectively hedge or liquidate unde-

sirable exposures.

The Company is a significant intermediary in the global equity
markets through its market-making in U.S. and non-U.S. equity
securities, including common stock, convertible debt, exchange-
traded and OTC equity options, equity swaps and warrants.
These activities expose the Company to market risk as a result of

price and volatility changes in its equity inventory. Inventory
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holdings are also subject to market risk resulting from concen-
trations and changes in liquidity conditions that may adversely
impact market valuation. Equity market risk is actively managed
through the use of index futures, exchange-traded and OTC

options, swaps and cash instruments.

The Company enters into foreign exchange transactions in
order to facilitate the purchase and sale of non-dollar instru-
ments, including equity and interest rate securities. The Com-
pany is exposed to foreign exchange risk on its holdings of
non-doliar assets and liabilities. The Company is active in many
foreign exchange markets and has exposure to the Euro, Japan-
ese yen, British pound, Swiss franc and Canadian dollar, as well
as a variety of developed and emerging market currencies. The
Company hedges its risk exposures primarily through the use of

currency forwards, swaps, futures and options.

If any of the strategies utilized to hedge or otherwise mitigate
exposures to the various types of risks described above are not

effective, the Company could incur losses.

OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational Risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting
from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and sys-
tems, or from external events. Operational Risk Management
(ORM) is responsible for implementing and maintaining the
Company’s overall global operational risk management frame-
work, which seeks to minimize these risks through assessing,

reporting, monitoring and tracking operational risks.

VALUE-AT-RISK

For purposes of Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
risk disclosure requirements, the Company discloses an entity-
wide value-at-risk for virtually all of its trading activities. In gen-
eral, the Company’s value-at-risk measures potential oss of
trading revenues at a given confidence level over a specified time
horizon. Value-at-risk over a one-day holding period measured
at a 95% confidence level implies that the potential loss of daily
trading revenue will be at least as large as the value-at-risk

amount on one out of every 20 trading days.

The Company’s methodology estimates a reporting day value-
at-risk using actual daily trading revenues over the previous 250
trading days. This estimate is measured as the loss, relative to the
median daily trading revenue. The Company also estimates an
average value-at-risk measure over 250 rolling reporting days,
thus looking back a total of 500 trading days.
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Value-at-Risk
As of Asof Year Ended November 30, 2002
In millions November 30, 2002 November 30, 2001 Average High Low
Interest rate risk $15.8 $14.6 $14.9 $16.0 $126
Equity price risk 8.0 15.1 1.3 15.1 8.0
Foreign exchange risk 2.2 1.9 19 2.2 1.7
Diversification benefit (5.2) (8.3) (7.1)
Total Company $208 $23.3 $21.0 $234 $17.5

The average, high and low value-at-risk for the year ended November 30, 2001 were $23.8 million, $25.1 million and $22.4 million, respectively.

The above table sets forth the daily value-at-risk for each com-

ponent of market risk as well as total value-at-risk.

Value-at-risk is one measurement of potential loss in trading
revenues that may result from adverse market movements over
a specified period of time with a selected likelihood of occur-
rence. As with all measures of value-at-risk, the Company’s
estimate has substantial limitations due to its reliance on his-
torical performance, which is not necessarily a predictor of the
future. Consequently, this value-at-risk estimate is only one of
a number of tools the Company utilizes in its daily risk man-
agement activities. The increase in interest rate risk as of
November 30, 2002 from November 30, 2001 reflects higher
volatility in fixed income securities, while the decrease in equity
risk is primarily related to lower equity positions held for cus-

tomer flow purposes.

DISTRIBUTION OF TRADING REVENUES
Substantially all of the Company’s inventory positions are
marked-to-market on a daily basis as part of the Company’s
Capital Markets business segment with changes recorded in net
revenues. The following chart sets forth the frequency distribu-
tion for weekly net revenues for the Company’s Capital Markets
and Client Services segments (excluding asset management fees)
for the years-ended November 30, 2002 and 2001.

As discussed throughout Management’s Discussion and Analy-
sis, the Company seeks to reduce risk through the diversification
of its businesses and a focus on customer flow activities. This
diversification and focus, combined with the Company’s risk
management controls and processes, helps mitigate the net rev-
enue volatility inherent in the Company’s trading activities.
Although historical performance is not necessarily indicative of
future performance, the Company believes its focus on business
diversification and customer flow activities should continue to

reduce the volatility of future net trading revenues.

Trading Net Revenues
Distribution for 2002 and 2009

In weeks
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- Average weekly trading net revenues for 2002 and 2001 were
- approximately $89 million and $90 million, respectively.
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In May 2002, the Securities and

Critical S
Accounting Exchange Commission proposed
Policies rules to require disclosures associ-

ated with critical accounting polices
which are most important in gain-
ing an understanding of an entity’s
financial statements. The following is a summary of the Com-
pany’s critical accounting policies. For a full description of these
and other accounting policies, see Note 1 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The Company’s financial statements are prepared in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles, many of which
require the use of estimates and assumptions. Management
believes that the estimates utilized in preparing its financial state-
ments are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ
from these estimates particularly in light of the industry in which

the Company operates.

FAIR VALUE

The determination of fair value is a critical accounting policy
which is fundamental to the Company’s financial condition and
results of operations. The Company records its inventory posi-
tions including Securities and other financial instruments
owned and Securities sold but not yet purchased at market or
fair value with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal
transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income. In all
instances, the Company believes that it has established rigorous
internal control processes to ensure that the Company utilizes

reasonable and prudent measurements of fair value.

When evaluating the extent to which management estimates
may be required to be utilized in preparing the Company’s
financial statements, the Company believes it is useful to analyze

the balance sheet as follows:

November 30, 2002

In millions
Assets:
Securities and other financial

instruments owned $119,278 46%
Secured financings 114,838 44%
Receivables and other assets 26,220 10%
Total Assets § 260,336 100%
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November 30, 2002

In millions

Liabilities & Equity

Securities and other financial instruments

sold but not yet purchased $ 69,034 26%
Secured financings 114,706 44%
Payables and other

liabilities 28,266 11%
Total capital 48,330 19%
Liabilities & Equity $ 260,336 100%

A significant majority of the Company’s assets and liabilities are
recorded at amounts for which significant management esti-
mates are not utilized. The following balance sheet categories
comprising 54% of total assets and 74% of liabilities and equity
are valued at either historical cost or at contract value (includ-
ing accrued interest) which by their nature, do not require the
use of significant estimates: Secured financings, Receivables/
Payables and Other assets/liabilities and Total capital. The
remaining balance sheet categories, comprised of Securities and
other financial instruments owned and Securities and other
financial instruments sold but not yet purchased (long and
short inventory positions, respectively), are recorded at market
or fair value, the components of which may require, to varying

degrees, the use of estimates in determining fair value.

The majority of the Company’s long and short inventory is
recorded at market value based upon listed market prices or uti-
lizing third party broker quotes and therefore do not incorpo-
rate significant estimates. Examples of inventory valued in this
manner include government securities, agency mortgage-
backed securities, listed equities, money markets, municipal

securities, corporate bonds and listed futures.

If listed market prices or broker quotes are not available, fair
value is determined based on pricing models or other valuation
techniques, including use of implied pricing from similar instru-
ments. Pricing models are typically utilized to derive fair value
based upon the net present value of estimated future cash flows
including adjustments, where appropriate, for liquidity, credit
and/or other factors. For the vast majority of instruments valued
through pricing models, significant estimates are not required, as
the market inputs into such models are readily observable and
liquid trading markets provide clear evidence to support the val-
uations derived from such pricing models. Examples of inventory
valued utilizing pricing models or other valuation techniques
include: OTC derivatives, private equity investments, certain
high-vield positions, certain mortgage loans and direct real estate

investments and non-investment grade retained interests.
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Fair Value of OTC Derivative Contracts by Maturity
At November 30, 2002

In millions Less than I year 2-5 years 5-10 years Greater than 10 years Total
Assets
Interest rate, currency and credit default swaps and options $1,079 $3,012 $ 3,395 $ 1,560 $ 9,046
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options 769 45 - - 814
Other fixed income securities contracts 602 - - - 602
Equity contracts (including swaps, warrants and options) 1,624 380 347 33 2,384
Total $4,074 $ 3,437 $3,742 $1,593 $12,846
32% 27% 29% 12% 100%
Liabilities
Interest rate, currency and credit default swaps and options $ 943 $2,254 $ 2,766 $1,124 $ 7,087
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options 1,093 64 - - 1,157
Other fixed income securities contracts 215 - - - 215
Equity contracts (including swaps, warrants and options) 491 195 329 14 1,029
Total $2,742 $2,513 $ 3,095 $1,138 $ 9,488
29% 26% 33% 12% 100%

OTC DERIVATIVES

The fair value of the Company’s OTC derivative assets and lia-
bilities at November 30, 2002 were $12.8 billion and $9.5 billion,
respectively. OTC derivative assets represent the Company’s
unrealized gains, net of unrealized losses for situations in which
the Company has a master netting agreement. Similarly, liabili-

ties represent net amounts owed to counterparties.

The vast majority of the Company’s OTC derivatives are trans-
acted in liquid trading markets for which fair value is deter-
mined utilizing pricing models with readily observable market
inputs. Examples of such derivatives include: interest rate swaps
contracts, TBA’s (classified in the above table as other fixed
income securities contracts), foreign exchange forward and
option contracts in G-7 currencies and equity swap and option
contracts on listed securities. However, the determination of fair
value for certain less liquid derivatives requires the use of signif-
icant estimates and include: certain credit derivatives, equity
option contracts greater than 5 years, and certain other complex
derivatives utilized by the Company in providing clients with
hedging alternatives to unique exposures. The Company strives
to limit the use of significant judgment by using consistent pric-
ing assumptions between reporting periods and utilizing
observed market data for model inputs whenever possible. As
the market for complex products develops, the Company refines
its pricing models based upon market experience in order to

utilize the most current indicators of fair value.

PRIVATE EQUITY INVESTMENTS

The Company’s private equity investments of $965 million at
November 30, 2002 include both public and private equity posi-
tions. The determination of fair value for these investments
may require the use of estimates and assumptions as these
investments are generally less liquid and often contain trading
restrictions. The determination of fair value for private equity
investments is based on estimates incorporating valuations
which take into account expected cash flows, earnings multiples
and/or comparison to similar market transactions. Valuation
adjustments are an integral part of pricing these instruments,
reflecting consideration of credit quality, concentration risk, sale

restrictions and other liquidity factors.

HIGH YIELD

At November 30, 2002, the Company had high vyield long and
short positions of $4.0 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively. The
majority of these positions are valued utilizing broker quotes or
listed market prices. In certain instances, when broker quotes or
listed prices are not available the Company utilizes prudent
judgment in determining fair value which may involve the uti-
lization of analysis of credit spreads associated with pricing of

similar instruments, or other valuation techniques.
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MORTGAGE LOANS AND REAL ESTATE

The Company is a market leader in mortgage-backed securities
trading and mortgage securitizations (both residential and
commercial). The Company’s inventory of mortgage loans
principally represents loans held prior to securitization. In this
activity, the Company purchases mortgage loans from loan
originators or in the secondary markets and then aggregates
pools of mortgages for securitization. The Company records
mortgage loans and direct real estate investments at fair value,
with related mark-to-market gains and losses recognized in

Principal transactions revenues.

As the Company’s inventory of residential loans turns over
through sale to securitization trusts rather frequently, such loans

are generally valued without the use of significant estimates.

The Company is also a market leader in the commercial lending
and securitization markets. Commercial real estate loans are
generally valued based upon an analysis of the loans’ carrying
value relative to the value of the underlying real estate, known as
loan-to-value ratios. As the loan-to-value ratio increases, the fair
value of such loan is influenced to a greater extent by a combi-
nation of cash flow projections and underlying property values.
Approximately $5.6 billion of the Company’s commercial real
estate loans and direct real estate investments are valued using
both cash flow projections as well as underlying property values.
The Company utilizes independent appraisals to support man-
agement’s assessment of the property in determining fair value

for these positions.

In addition, the Company held approximately $1.1 billion of
non-investment grade retained interests at November 30, 2002,
down from $1.6 billion at November 30, 2001. As these interests
primarily represent the junior interests in commercial and resi-
dential mortgage securitizations, for which there are not active
trading markets, estimates are generally required to be utilized
in determining fair value. The Company values these instru-
ments using prudent estimates of expected cash flows, and con-
siders the valuation of similar transactions in the market. (See
Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information on the impact of adverse changes in assumptions

on the fair value of these interests.)
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New Accounting
Developments

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intan-
gible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). Under
SFAS 142, intangible assets with
indefinite lives and goodwill will no
longer be amortized. Instead, these
assets are required to be tested annually for impairment. The
Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 142 as of the beginning
of fiscal 2002, and such adoption did not have a material effect on

the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS
1447). SFAS 144 provides accounting guidance for the impair-
ment or disposal of long-lived assets, such as property, plant and
equipment. In addition, SFAS 144 amends Accounting Research
Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements” to elimi-
nate the exception to consolidation for a subsidiary for which
control is likely to be temporary. The Company will adopt this
standard in the first quarter of fiscal 2003. The Company does
not expect that the adoption will have a material impact to the

Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” (“SFAS 146”).
This Statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for
costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies EITF
Issue 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termi-
nation Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity {including
Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” The Company will
adopt the provisions of SFAS 146 at the beginning of fiscal 2003
and does not expect the adoption to have a material impact to

the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

In October 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 02-
03, “Issues Involved in Accounting for Derivative Contracts
Held for Trading Purposes and Contracts Involved in Energy
Trading and Risk Management Activities.” This issue clarifies the
FASB staff view that profits should not be recognized at the
inception of a derivative contract if the contract does not have
observable pricing. In such instances, the transaction price is
viewed by the FASB to be the best indicator of fair value. The
Company does not expect the application of this guidance to
have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition or

results of operations.
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On January 17, 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities ~ an interpretation
of ARB No. 51, (“Interpretation 46”). This interpretation pro-
vides new consolidation accounting guidance for entities
involved with special purpose entities. This guidance does not
impact the accounting for securitizations transacted through
QSPEs. This interpretation will require a primary beneficiary,
defined as an entity which participates in either a majority of the
risks or rewards of such SPE, to consolidate the SPE. An SPE
would not be subject to this interpretation if such entity had
sufficient voting equity capital, such that the entity is able to
finance its activities without the additional subordinated finan-
cial support from other parties. Interpretation 46 also requires
additional disclosures related to involvement with SPEs. The
accounting provisions of this interpretation are effective for new
transactions executed after January 31, 2003. The interpretation
will be effective for all existing transactions with SPEs beginning
in the Company’s fourth quarter of 2003. While the Company
has not yet completed its analysis of the impact of the new inter-
pretation, the Company does not anticipate that the adoption of
this interpretation will have a material impact to the Company’s

financial condition or results of operations.

Because the Company’s assets are,

Effects of

. to a large extent, liquid in nature,
Inflation & 4

they are not significantly affected
by inflation. However, the rate of
inflation affects the Company’s
expenses, such as employee com-
pensation, office space leasing costs and communications
charges, which may not be readily recoverable in the price of
services offered by the Company. To the extent inflation results
in rising interest rates and has other adverse effects upon the
securities markets, it may adversely affect the Company’s finan-

cial position and results of operations in certain businesses.

T
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Report of
Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Stockhelders of
Lehman Brothers Holdings Iac.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial condition of Lehman Brothers Holdings
Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of November 30, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated
statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended November 30, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the L
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. and Subsidiaries at November 30, 2002 and 2001, and
the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

November 30, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Sameit ¢ LLP

New York, New York
January 10, 2003
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Consolidated Statement

of Income

Twelve months ended November 30 2002 2001 2000
Revenues
Principal transactions $ 1,851 $ 2,779 $ 3,713
Investment banking 1,771 2,000 2,216
Commissions 1,286 1,091 944
Interest and dividends 11,728 16,470 19,440
Other 45 52 134
Total revenues 16,781 22,392 26,447
Interest expense 10,626 15,656 18,740
Net revenues 6,155 6,736 7,707
Non-Interest Expenses
Compensation and benefits 3,139 3,437 3,931
Technology and communications 552 501 341
Brokerage and clearance 329 308 264
Cccupancy 287 198 135
Business development 146 183 182
Professional fees 129 152 184
Other 74 82 91
September 11th related (recoveries)yexpenses, net (108) 127 -
Other real estate reconfiguration charge 128 - -
Regulatory settlement 80 - -
Total non-interest expenses 4,756 4,988 5,128
Income before taxes and dividends on trust preferred securities 1,399 1,748 2,579
Provision for income taxes 368 437 748
Dividends on trust preferred securities 56 56 56
Net income § 975 $ 1,255 $ 1,775
Net income applicable to common stock $ 906 $ 1,161 $ 1,679
Earnings per common share
Basic $ 3.69 $ 477 $ 689
Diluted $ 347 $ 438 $ 638

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement
of Financial Condition

In millions

November 30 2002 2001
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,699 $ 2,561
Cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes 2,803 3,289

Securities and other financial instruments owned: (includes $22,211 in 2002
and $28,517 in 2001 pledged as collateral) 119,278 119,362

Collateralized short-term agreements:

Securities purchased under agreements to resell 94,341 83,278

Securities borrowed 20,497 17,994
Receivables:

Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations 3,775 3,455

Customers 8,279 12,123

Others 1,910 1,479

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements

(net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $590 in 2002

and $424 in 2001) 2,075 1,495
Other assets 3,466 2,613
Excess of cost over fair value of net assets acquired (net of accumulated

amortization of $155 in 2002 and $151 in 2001) 213 167

Total assets $ 260,336 $ 247816

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement
of Financial Condition continued

In millions, except per share data

November 30 2002 2001
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Commercial paper and short-term debt $ 2,369 $ 3,992
Securities and other financial instruments sold but not yet purchased 69,034 51,330
Collateralized short-term financing:

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 94,725 102,104

Securities loaned 8,137 12,541

Cther secured borrowings 11,844 7,784
Payables:

Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations 1,787 2,805

Customers 17,477 13,831
Accrued liabilities and other payables 6,633 5,959
Long-term debt:

Senior notes 36,283 35,373

Subordinated indebtedness 2,395 2,928

Total liabilities 250,684 238,647
Commitments and contingencies
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption 710 710
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock 700 700
Common stock, $0.10 par value;

Shares authorized: 600,000,000 in 2002 and 2001,

Shares issued; 258,791,416 in 2002 and 256,178,907 in 2001;

Shares outstanding: 231,131,043 in 2002 and 237,534,091 in 2001 25 25
Additional paid-in capital 3,628 3,562
Accumulated other comprehensive income (net of tax) (13) oy
Retained earnings 5,608 4,798
Other stockholders’ equity, net 949 746
Common stock in treasury, at cost: 27,660,373 shares in 2002 and

18,644,816 shares in 2001 (1,955) (1,362)

Total stockholders' equity 8,942 8,459
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 260,336 $ 247,816

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement

of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

In millions

Twelve months ended November 30 2002 2001 2000
Preferred Stoclt
5% Cumulative Convertible Voting, Series A and B:
Beginning balance $ - $ - § 238
Shares subject to redemption - - (150)
Shares repurchased - - (88)
Ending balance - - -
5.94% Cumulative, Series C:
Beginning and ending balance 250 250 250
5.67% Cumulative, Series D:
Beginning and ending balance 200 200 200
7.115% Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative, Series E:
Beginning balance 250 250 -
Shares issued - - 250
Ending balance 250 250 250
Redeemable Voting:
Beginning and ending balance - - -
Total Preferred Stock, ending balance 700 700 700
Common Stock ™ 25 25 25
Additional Paid-In Capital™
Beginning balance 3,562 3,589 3,374
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock 63 (13) (54)
Employee stock-based awards 53 53 101
Shares issued to RSU Trust (401) (628) (210
Tax benefits from the issuance of stock-based awards 347 549 373
Other, net 4 12 5
Ending balance 3 3,628 $ 3,562 $ 3,589

™ Amounts have been retroactively adjusted to give effect for the two-for-one common stock split, effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend,

which became effective on October 20, 2000.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



2002 Consolidated Financial Statements

T

Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity wnines

In millions

Twelve months ended November 30 2002 2001 2000
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Beginning balance 3 (0 $ (8 3 2
Transiation adjustment, net® (3 2 (6)
Ending balance (13) (10) 8
Retained Earnings
Beginning balance 4,798 3,713 2,094
Net income 975 1,255 1,775
Dividends declared:
5% Cumulative Convertible Voting Series A and B Preferred Stock - (1) (9)
5.94% Cumulative, Series C Preferred Stock (15) s) (15)
5.67% Cumulative, Series D Preferred Stock “amn n (11
7.115% Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative, Series £ Preferred Stock (18) (18) (12)
Redeemable Voting Preferred Stock (25) (50) (50)
Common Stock (96) (75) (59)
Ending balance 5,608 4,798 3,713
Common Stock issuable
Beginning balance 2,933 2,524 1,768
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock {463) (215) 247)
Deferred stock awards granted 407 624 1,003
Other, net (55) - -
Ending balance 2,822 2,933 2,524
Common Stock Held in RSU Trust
Beginning balance (827) (647) (717)
Shares issued to RSU Trust {297) (403) (231)
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock 387 223 301
Cther, net (17) - -
Ending balance (754) (827) (647)
Deferred Stock Compensation
Beginning balance (1,360} {1,280) (797)
Deferred stock awards granted (407) (624) (1,003)
Amortization of deferred compensation, net 570 544 520
Other, net 78 ~ -
Ending balance (1,119) (1,360) (1,280)
Common Stock In Treasury, at Cost
Beginning balance (1,362) (835) (150)
Treasury stock purchased (1,510) {1,676) (1,203)
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock - 5 -
Shares issued for preferred stock conversion - 44 -
Employee stock-based awards 219 69 77
Shares issued to RSU Trust 698 1,031 441
Ending balance (1,955) (1,362) (835)
Total stockholders’ equity $ 8,942 $ 8,459 $ 7,781

@Net of income taxes of $(1) in 2002, $(1) in 2001 and $(8) in 2000.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
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Consolidated Statement

of Cash Flows

In millions

Twelve months ended November 30 2002 2001 2000
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net Income § 975 § 1,255 $ 1,775
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 258 174 102
Deferred tax provision (benefit) (670) (643} (168)
Tax benefit from issuance of stock-based awards 347 549 373
Amortization of deferred stock compensation 570 544 520
September 11th (recoveries) expenses (108) 356 -
Other real estate reconfiguration charge 128 - -
Regulatory settlement 80 - -
Other adjustments 92 (1 65
Net change in:
Cash and securities segregated and on deposit 486 (855) (445)
Securities and other financial instruments owned 1,708 (13,219) (16,148)
Securities borrowed (2,503) (376) 1,779
Other secured financing 4,060 3,805 3,979
Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations (320) (1,793) 12
Receivables from customers 3,844 {4,538) 1,747
Securities and other financial instruments sold but not yet purchased 17,704 16,045 (11,325)
Securities loaned (4,404) 5,299 2,674
Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations (1,018) 883 738
Payables to customers 3,646 2,194 666
Accrued liabilities and other payables 277 (27) 1,262
Other operating assets and liabilities, net (693) (325) (1,136)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 24,459 9,327 (13,531)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes 8,415 9,915 14,225
Principal payments of senior notes (9,014) (7,646) (8,353)
Principal payments of subordinated indebtedness (715) (204) (192)
Net proceeds from (payments for) commercial paper and short-term debt (1,623) (1,808) 324
Resale agreements net of repurchase agreements (18,442) (8,957) 8,922
Payments for repurchases of preferred stock - (100) (88)
Payments for treasury stock purchases, net (1,303) (1,676) (1,203)
Dividends paid (165) (163} (149)
Issuances of common stock 61 54 99
Issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs - - 250
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (22,786) (10,585) 13,835
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net (656) (1,341) (289)
Proceeds from the sale of 3 World Financial Center, net 152 - -
Acquisition, net of cash acquired 31 - a1
Net cash used in investing activities (535) {1,347) (330)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1,138 (2,599) (26)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 2,561 5,160 5,186
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 3,699 $ 2,561 $ 5,160

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION (in millions):

Interest paid totaled $10,686 in 2002, $15,588 in 2001 and $18,500 in 2000.

income taxes paid totaled $436 in 2002, $654 in 2001 and $473 in 2000.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Note 1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Summary of The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
Significant of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (“Holdings”) and sub-
Accounting sidiaries (collectively, the “Company” or “Lehman Broth-
Policies ers”). Lehman Brothers is one of the leading global

investment banks serving institutional, corporate, govern-
ment and high-net-worth individual clients and customers. The Company’s worldwide
headquarters in New York and regional headquarters in London and Tokyo are com-
plemented by offices in additional locations in North America, Europe, the Middle
East, Latin America and the Asia Pacific region. The Company is engaged primarily in
providing financial services. The principal U.S. subsidiary of Holdings is Lehman
Brothers Inc. (“LBI”), a registered broker-dealer. All material intercompany accounts

and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles which require management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accom-
panying notes. Management estimates are required to be utilized in determining the
valuation of trading inventory particularly in the area of OTC derivatives, certain high
vield positions, private equity securities and mortgage loan positions. Additionally,
management estimates are required in assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets,
the outcome of litigation and determining the components of the September 11th
related (recoveries)/expenses, net and the other real estate reconfiguration charge.
Management believes that the estimates utilized in preparing its financial statements

are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
The Company uses the trade date basis of accounting.

Certain prior period amounts reflect reclassifications to conform to the current year’s

presentation.

SECURITIES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Securities and other financial instruments owned and Securities and other financial
instruments sold but not yet purchased are valued at market or fair value, as appropri-
ate, with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal transactions in the Consoli-
dated Statement of Income. Market value is generally based on listed market prices. If
listed market prices are not available, or if liquidating the Company’s position is rea-
sonably expected to affect market prices, fair value is determined based on broker
quotes, internal valuation models which take into account time value and volatility fac-
tors underlying the financial instruments or management’s estimate of the amounts
that could be realized under current market conditions, assuming an orderly liquida-

tion over a reasonable period of time.
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As of November 30, 2002 and 2001, all firm-owned securities
pledged to counterparties where the counterparty has the right,
by contract or custom, to sell or repledge the securities are clas-
sified as Securities owned (pledged as collateral) as required by
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities — a replacement of SFAS
No. 125”7 (“SFAS 140”).

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A derivative is typically defined as an instrument whose value is
“derived” from an underlying instrument, index or rate, such as
a future, forward, swap, or option contract, or other financial
instrument with similar characteristics. A derivative contract
generally represents future commitments to exchange interest
payment streams or currencies based on the contract or
notional amount or to purchase or sell other financial instru-

ments at specified terms on a specified date.

Derivatives are recorded at market or fair value in the Consoli-
dated Statement of Financial Condition on a net by counter-
party basis where a legal right of set-off exists and are netted
across products when such provisions are stated in the master
netting agreement. Derivatives are often referred to as off-bal-
ance-sheet instruments since neither their notional amounts
nor the underlying instruments are reflected as assets or liabili-
ties of the Company. Instead, the market or fair value related to
the derivative transactions is reported in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition as an asset or liability in
Derivatives and other contractual agreements, as applicable.
Margin on futures contracts is included in receivables and
payables from/to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations, as
applicable. Changes in fair values of derivatives are recorded as
Principal transactions revenues in the current period. Market or
fair value is generally determined by either quoted market prices
(for exchange-traded futures and options) or pricing models
(for swaps, forwards and options). Pricing models utilize a series
of market inputs to determine the present value of future cash
flows, with adjustments, as required for credit risk and liquidity
risk. Further valuation adjustments may be recorded, as deemed
appropriate for new or complex products or for positions with
significant concentrations. These adjustments are integral com-
ponents of the mark-to-market process. Credit-related valua-
tion adjustments incorporate business and economic
conditions, historical experience, concentrations, estimates of
expected losses and the character, quality and performance of

credit sensitive financial instruments.
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As an end-user, the Company primarily utilizes derivatives to
modify the interest rate characteristics of its long-term debt and
secured financing activities. The Company also utilizes equity
derivatives to hedge its exposure to equity price risk embedded
in certain of its debt obligations and foreign exchange forwards
to manage the currency exposure related to its net monetary
investment in non-U.S. dollar functional currency operations

(collectively, “end-user derivative activities”).

Effective December 1, 2000, the Company adopted SFAS No.
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended by SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Cer-
tain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities”
(collectively, “SFAS 133”), which requires that all derivative
instruments be reported on the Consolidated Statement of

Financial Condition at fair value.

Under SFAS 133, the accounting for end-user derivative activi-
ties is dependent upon the nature of the hedging relationship.
In certain hedging relationships, both the derivative and
the hedged item will be marked-to-market through earnings
for changes in fair value (“fair value hedge”). In many instances,
the hedge relationship is fully effective so that the mark-to-mar-
ket on the derivative and the hedged item will offset. In other
hedging relationships, the derivative will be marked-to-market
with the offsetting gains or losses recorded in Accumulated
other comprehensive income, a component of Stockholder’s
Equity, until the related hedged item is realized in earnings
(“cash flow hedge”). SFAS 133 also requires certain derivatives
embedded in long-term debt to be bifurcated and marked-to-

market through earnings.

SFAS 133 changed the accounting treatment for the hedged item
in a fair value hedge (e.g., long-term debt or secured financing
activities) from what was an accrual basis to a modified mark-
to-market value. The hedged item’s carrying value may differ
from a full mark-to-market value since SFAS 133 requires that
the hedged item be adjusted only for changes in fair value
associated with the designated risks being hedged during the
hedge period.

The Company principally utilizes fair value hedges to convert a
substantial portion of the Company’s fixed rate debt and certain
long-term secured financing activities to floating interest rates.
Any hedge ineffectiveness in these relationships is recorded as a
component of Interest expense on the Company’s Consolidated

Statement of Income. Gains or losses from revaluing foreign
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exchange contracts associated with hedging the Company’s net
investments in foreign affiliates are reported within Accumulated
other comprehensive income in Stockholder’s Equity. Unrealized
receivables/payables resulting from the mark-to-market on end-
user derivatives are included in Securities and other financial

instruments owned or sold but not yet purchased.

The adoption of SFAS 133, as of December 1, 2000, did not have
a material effect on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of
Financial Condition or the results of operations, as most of the
Company’s derivative transactions are entered into for trading-
related activities for which the adoption of SFAS 133 had no
impact. Prior year amounts have not been restated to conform
with the current SFAS 133 accounting treatment. Therefore,
end-user derivative activities for all periods prior to December
1, 2000 are recorded on an accrual basis provided that the deriv-
ative was designated and deemed to be a highly effective hedge.
For periods prior to fiscal 2001, realized gains or losses on early
terminations of derivatives that were designated as hedges were
deferred and amortized to interest income or interest expense

over the remaining life of the instrument being hedged.

SECURED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repurchase and Resale Agreements Securities purchased under
agreements to resell and Securities sold under agreements to
repurchase, which are treated as financing transactions for
financial reporting purposes, are collateralized primarily by
government and government agency securities and are carried
net by counterparty, when permitted, at the amounts at which
the securities will be subsequently resold or repurchased plus
accrued interest. It is the policy of the Company to take posses-
sion of securities purchased under agreements to resell. The
Company monitors the market value of the underlying posi-
tions on a daily basis as compared to the related receivable or
payable balances, including accrued interest. The Company
requires counterparties to deposit additional collateral or
return collateral pledged as necessary, to ensure that the market
value of the underlying collateral remains sufficient. Securities
and other financial instruments owned that are financed under
repurchase agreements are carried at market value with
changes in market value reflected in the Consolidated State-

ment of Income.

The Company utilizes interest rate swaps as an end-user to
modify the interest rate exposure associated with certain fixed
rate resale and repurchase agreements. In accordance with SFAS

No. 133, the Company adjusted the carrying value of these

T

secured financing transactions that have been designated as the

hedged item.

Securities Borrowed and Loaned Securities borrowed and secu-
rities loaned are carried at the amount of cash collateral
advanced or received plus accrued interest. It is the Company’s
policy to value the securities borrowed and loaned on a daily
basis, and to obtain additional cash as necessary to ensure such

transactions are adequately collateralized.

Other Secured Borrowings Other secured borrowings are

recorded at contractual amounts plus accrued interest.

PRIVATE EQUITY INVESTMENTS
The Company carries its private equity investments, including
its partnership interests, at fair value based upon the Company’s

assessment of each underlying investment.

INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes under the provisions
of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”).
The Company recognizes the current and deferred tax conse-
quences of all transactions that have been recognized in the

financial statements using the provisions of the enacted tax laws.

In this regard, deferred tax assets are recognized for temporary
differences that will result in deductible amounts in future years
and for tax loss carry-forwards, if in the opinion of manage-
ment, it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will
be realized. SFAS 109 requires companies to set up a valuation
allowance for that component of net deferred tax assets which
does not meet the “more likely than not” criterion for realiza-
tion. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for temporary differ-

ences that will result in taxable income in future years.

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries having non-U.S. dol-
lar functional currencies are translated at exchange rates at the
statement of financial condition date. Revenues and expenses
are translated at average exchange rates during the period. The
gains or losses resulting from translating foreign currency finan-
cial statements into U.S. dollars, net of hedging gains or losses
and taxes, are included in Accumulated other comprehensive
incorne, a separate component of Stockholders’ Equity. Gains or
losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included

in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income.
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PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded
at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amorti-
zation. Depreciation is recognized on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives. Buildings are depreciated up to a max-
imum of 40 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over
the lesser of their economic useful lives or the terms of the
underlying leases, ranging up to 30 years. Equipment, furniture
and fixtures are depreciated over periods of up to 15 years. Inter-
nal use of software which qualifies for capitalization under
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”)
Statement of position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Com-
puter Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use” is capi-
talized and subsequently amortized over the estimated useful life

of the software, generally 3 years, with a maximum of 7 years.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

In accordance with SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impair-
ment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Dis-
posed of” the Company reviews assets, such as property,
equipment and leasehold improvements for impairment when-
ever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carry-
ing amount of the assets may not be recoverable. If the total of
the expected future undiscounted cash flows is less than the car-
rying amount of the asset, then an impairment loss would be
recognized to the extent that the carrying value of such asset

exceeded its fair value.

GOODWILL

As of December 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 141,
“Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”), and SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). SFAS 141
requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to
be accounted for using the purchase method. Under SFAS 142,
intangible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill are no longer
required to be amortized. Instead, these assets are evaluated annu-
ally for impairment. The Company adopted the provisions of
SFAS 142 at the beginning of fiscal year 2002 and the change did
not have a material impact to the Company’s financial position or
its results of operations. Prior to December 1, 2001, the Company
amortized goodwill using the straight-line method over periods
not exceeding 35 years. Goodwill is reduced upon the recognition

of certain acquired net operating loss carryforward benefits.
STOCK-BASED AWARDS

SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
(“SFAS 123”), established financial accounting and reporting
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standards for stock-based employee compensation plans. SFAS
123 permits companies either to continue accounting for stock-
based compensation using the intrinsic value method pre-
scribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (“APB
25”) or using the fair value method prescribed by SFAS 123. The
Company continues to follow APB 25 and its related interpreta-
tions in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans.
Accordingly, no compensation expense has been recognized for
stock option awards because the exercise price was at or above
the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the

grant date.

STATEMENT OF CASK FLOWS

For purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the
Company defines cash equivalents as highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, other than

those held for sale in the ordinary course of business.

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The Company computes earnings per common share in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share” (“EPS”). Basic
earnings per share is computed by dividing income available to
common stockholders by the weighted-average number of com-
mon shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the
assumed conversion of all dilutive securities. All share and per
share amounts have been restated for the two-for-one common
stock split, effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend, which
became effective October 20, 2000. See Notes 9 and 11 of Notes

to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

CONSOLIDATION ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Operating Companies The Company follows SFAS No. 94,
“Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries” and con-
solidates operating entities when the Company has a controlling
financial interest over the business activities of such entities.
Non-controlled operating entities are accounted for under the
equity method when the Company is able to exercise significant
influence over the business activities of such entities. The cost
method is applied when the ability to exercise significant influ-

ence is not present.

Special Purpose Entities For those entities which do not meet
the definition of conducting a business, often referred to as spe-
cial purpose entities (“SPEs”), the Company follows the
accounting guidance under SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguish-
ments of Liabilities — a replacement of FASB No. 125, and
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Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Topic D-14, “Transactions
Involving Special-Purpose Entities,” to determine whether or
not such SPEs are required to be consolidated. The majority of
the Company’s involvement with SPEs relates to securitization
transactions meeting the SFAS 140 definition of a qualifying
special purpose entity (“QSPE”). A QSPE can generally be
described as an entity with significantly limited powers which
are intended to limit it to passively holding financial assets and
distributing cash flows based upon predetermined criteria.
Based upon the guidance in SFAS 140, the Company does not
consolidate such QSPEs. Rather, the Company accounts for its
involvement with such QSPEs under a financial componeﬁts
approach in which the Company recognizes only its retained
involvement with the QSPE. The Company accounts for such

retained interests at fair value.

Certain special purpose entities do not meet the QSPE criteria
due to their permitted activities not being sufficiently limited, or
because the assets are not deemed qualifying financial instru-
ments (e.g., real estate). In the instances in which the Company
is either the sponsor of or transferor of assets to a non-qualify-
ing SPE, the Company follows the accounting guidance pro-
vided by EITF Topic D-14 to determine whether consolidation
is required. Under this guidance, the Company would not con-
solidate such SPE if a third party investor made a substantial
equity investment in the SPE (minimum of 3%), was subject to
first dollar risk of loss of such SPE, and had a controlling finan-

cial interest.

Transfers of Financial Assets The Company accounts for trans-
fers of financial assets in accordance with SFAS 140. In accor-
dance with this guidance, the Company recognizes the transfer
of financial assets as sales provided that control has been relin-
quished. Control is deemed to be relinquished only when all of
the following conditions have been met; i) the assets have been
isolated from the transferor even in bankruptcy or other
receivership (true sale opinions are required), ii) the transferee
has the right to pledge or exchange the assets received and iii)
the transferor has not maintained effective control over the
transferred assets (e.g., through a unilateral ability to repurchase

a unique or specific asset).

REVENUE RECOGNITION POLICIES

Principal Transactions Securities and other financial instru-
ments owned and Securities and other financial instruments sold
but not vet purchased (both of which are recorded on a trade

date basis) are valued at market or fair value, as appropriate,

with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal transac-
tions in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Market value is
generally based on listed market prices. If listed market prices
are not available, or if liquidating the Company’s position is rea-
sonably expected to affect market prices, fair value is determined
based on broker quotes, internal valuation pricing models
which take into account time value and volatility factors under-
lying the financial instruments, or management’s estimate of the
amounts that could be realized under current market condi-
tions, assuming an orderly liquidation over a reasonable period

of time.

Investment Banking Underwriting revenues and fees for merger
and acquisition advisory services are recognized when services
for the transactions are determined to be completed. Under-
writing expenses are deferred and recognized at the time the

related revenues are recorded.

Commissions Commissions primarily include fees from executing
and clearing client transactions on stock, options and futures mar-

kets worldwide. These fees are recognized on a trade date basis.

Interest Revenue/Expense The Company recognizes contractual
interest on Securities and other financial instruments owned
and Securities and other financial instruments sold but not yet
purchased on an accrual basis as a component of Interest and
dividends revenues and Interest expense, respectively. Interest
flows on the Company’s derivative transactions are included as
part of the Company’s mark-to-market valuation of these con-
tracts within Principal transactions and are not recognized as a

component of interest revenue/expense.

The Company accounts for its secured financing activities
and short and long-term borrowings on an accrual basis with
related interest recorded as interest revenue or interest expense,
as applicable.
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As a result of the September 11th,

Note 2 .

September 11th 2001 terrorist attack, the Com-
Related pany’s leased facilities in the World
(Recoveries)/ Trade Center were destroyed and its

Expenses, Net leased and owned facilities in the
World Financial Center (“WFC”)
complex (including the 3 World Financial Center building
owned jointly with American Express) were significantly dam-
aged. All employees and operations in the downtown New York
area were displaced. Key business activities and necessary sup-
port functions were quickly relocated to the Company’s back-up

facilities in New Jersey and to various other temporary sites.

The Company had insurance in place to cover the losses result-
ing from the terrorist attack, including a policy covering damage
to the core and shell of the 3 WFC building and a separate pol-
icy covering the property damage at the WTC and WEFC facili-
ties, losses resulting from business interruption and extra
expenses associated with the Company’s relocation to, and

occupancy of, the temporary facilities.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company settled its
insurance claim for $700 million, the policy limit, with its insur-
ance carriers. This resulted in the recording of a net pre-tax
recovery of $108 million ($60 million after-tax) in the fourth
quarter of 2002.

The net gain of $108 million in fiscal 2002 included insurance
recoveries of approximately $340 million, costs associated with
exiting certain of the Company’s New York area facilities of $189
million, and $43 million of other costs resulting from the events
of September 11th (primarily technology restoration and other
costs associated with unusable facilities). Insurance recoveries
represent the Company’s settlement of $700 million offset by
insurance recoveries previously recognized of approximately
$360 million during 2001.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company purchased a new
building in midtown Manhattan located at 745 7th Avenue and
entered into long-term leases in Jersey City, New Jersey and mid-
town Manhattan, as uncertainties continued to persist associated
with the Company’s ability to utilize its previous downtown
headquarters at 3 World Financial Center. During the fourth
quarter of 2002, after further consideration of maintaining real
estate in both downtown and midtown New York City locations,
the Company decided to completely exit its do’wntown area facil-

ities and dispose of certain other excess New York City area space
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acquired as a result of the events of September 11th, resulting in
a charge of approximately $189 million. This charge is comprised
of the estimated costs to dispose of facilities at the World Finan-

cial Center, Jersey City, New Jersey and midtown Manbhattan.

During 2001, the Company recognized a pre-tax charge of $127
million ($71 million after-tax) associated with the net losses
stemming from the events of September 11, 2001. These losses
and costs included the write-off of property damaged, destroyed
or abandoned at the Company’s downtown facilities (approxi-
mately $340 million), compensation paid to employees in lieu of
utilizing external consultants for business recovery efforts and
to employees for the time they were idled (approximately $100
million), costs incurred to maintain the facilities while they were
unusable (approximately $16 million), and other costs associ-
ated with redeployment of the Company’s workforce to the
temporary facilities (approximately $31 million). The losses and
costs in 2001 were offset by estimated insurance recoveries of
$360 million. All expenses associated with the Company’s use of
temporary facilities during this period have been reflected as
part of Occupancy (approximately $18 million) or Technology
and communications expenses (approximately $4 million) in
the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Income. The
insurance recovery recorded through November 30, 2001 was
limited to the net historical book value of assets believed dam-
aged, destroyed or abandoned and the out-of-pocket costs for

certain extra expenses incurred during the period.

During 2002, the Company recorded

Note 3 i

Other Real Estate @ Pre-tax charge of approximately
Reconﬁguration $128 million ($82 million after-tax)
Charge for costs associated with reconfigur-

ing certain of its global real estate
facilities utilized by the Company in
conducting its on-going business activities. The charge resulted
from management’s analysis of the Company’s global real estate
needs and subsequent decisions made by management to no

longer utilize certain facilities in Europe, Asia and the U.S.

Approximately $115 million of the charge relates to estimated
sublease losses associated with the Company’s decision to exit its
primary London office facilities at Broadgate and move its Euro-
pean headquarters to a new facility just outside the city of Lon-
don, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2003. The remaining
portion of the charge relates to the Company’s decision to con-

solidate certain branch locations.
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In the fourth quarter of 2002, the

Note 4
Regulatory Company recorded a pre-tax charge
Settlement of $80 million ($56 million after-

tax) associated with a proposed

agreement reached with various

Federal and State regulatory
authorities to settle inquiries related to alleged conflicts of inter-
est involving equity research analysts. This agreement in princi-
pal was signed on December 20, 2002 and included certain
organizational structural reforms, including providing inde-
pendent research to clients in the future, as well as the payment
of $80 million, including $50 million in retrospective relief, $5
million for investor education and $25 million (over the course

of five years) to purchase independent research.

The Company obtains short-term

Note 5 i
Short-Term financing on both a secured and
Financings unsecured basis. Secured financing

is obtained through the use of
repurchase agreements and securi-
ties loaned agreements, which are
primarily collateralized by government, government agency and
equity securities. The unsecured financing is generally obtained

through short-term debt and the issuance of commercial paper.

The Company’s commercial paper and short-term debt financ-

ing is comprised of the following:

Short-Yerm Debt

November 30
In millions 2002 2001
Commercial paper $ 1,622 $ 1,986
Short-term debt
Secured bank loans 457 672
Payables to banks 95 502
Other short-term debt® 195 832
Commercial paper & short-term debt®?  $ 2,369 $ 3,992

(1) Includes master notes, corporate loans and other short-term financings.

(2) At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the weighted-average interest rates for short-
term borrowings, including commercial paper, were 1.7% and 2.9%, respective-
ty. includes $116 miliion and $827 million of short-term debt as of November 30,

2002 and 2001, respectively, related to non-U.S. dollar obligations.

— 7

CREDIT FACILITIES

Holdings maintains a Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”) with a syndicate of banks. Under the Credit Agree-
ment, the banks have committed to provide up to $1 billion
through April 2005. The Credit Agreement contains covenants
that require, among other things, that the Company maintain a
specified level of tangible net worth. The Company views the
Credit Agreement as one of its many sources of liquidity available
through its funding framework, and as such the Company utilizes

this liquidity for general business purposes from time to time.

The Company also maintains a backstop $750 million Commit-
ted Securities Repurchase Facility (the “Facility”) for LBIE, the
Company’s major operating entity in Europe. The Facility pro-
vides secured multi-currency financing for a broad range of col-
lateral types. Under the terms of the Facility, the bank group has
agreed to provide funding for up to one year on a secured basis.
Any loans outstanding on the commitment termination date
may be extended for up to an additional year at the option of
LBIE. The Facility contains covenants which require, among
other things, that LBIE maintain specified levels of tangible net

worth. This commitment expires at the end of October 2003.

There were no borrowings outstanding under either the Credit
Agreement or the Facility at November 30, 2002. The Company
has maintained compliance with the applicable covenants for
both the Credit Agreement and the Facility at all times.
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Note 6

Long-Term

Debt
Long-Term Debt

U.S. Dollar Non-U.S. Dollar

In millions Fixed Floating Fixed Floating
Novernber 30 Rate Rate Rate Rate 2002 2001
Senior Motes
Maturing in Fiscal 2002 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 8,051
Maturing in Fiscal 2003 2,213 3,634 786 851 7,484 5,952
Maturing in Fiscal 2004 1,579 3,076 1,245 1,346 7.246 4,706
Maturing in Fiscal 2005 2,142 724 311 1,003 4,180 3,822
Maturing in Fiscal 2006 3,057 468 629 637 4,791 4,080
Maturing in Fiscal 2007 1,568 294 1,409 935 4,206 2,612
December 1, 2007 and thereafter 5,627 601 534 1,614 8,376 6,150

Senior Notes $16,186 $ 8797 $ 4,914 $ 6,386 $ 36,283 $ 35,373
Subordinated indebtedness
Maturing in Fiscal 2002 $ - $ $ - $ - $ - $ 483
Maturing in Fiscal 2003 487 - - 487 475
Maturing in Fiscal 2004 210 234 - - 444 191
Maturing in Fiscal 2005 106 9 - 115 101
Maturing in Fiscal 2006 337 ~ - 337 300
Maturing in Fiscal 2007 339 8 - 347 307
December 1, 2007 and thereafter 665 - 665 1,071

Subordinated Indebtedness 2,144 234 17 - 2,395 2,928
Long-Term Debt $ 18,330 $ 9,031 $ 4,931 $ 6,386 $ 38,678 $ 38,301

Of the Company’s long-term debt outstanding as of November
30, 2002, $837 million is repayable prior to maturity at the
option of the holder, at par value. These obligations are reflected
in the above table as maturing at their put dates, which range
from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004, rather than at their contractual
maturities, which range from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2026. In addi-
tion, $720 million of the Company’s long-term debt is
redeemable prior to maturity at the option of the Company
under various terms and conditions. These obligations are

reflected in the above table at their contractual maturity dates.

As of November 30, 2002, the Company’s U.S. dollar and non-
U.S. dollar debt portfolios included approximately $1,416 mil-
lion and $2,972 million, respectively, of debt for which the
interest rates and/or redemption values have been linked to the
performance of various indices including industry baskets of
stocks, commodities or events. Generally, such notes are issued

as floating rate notes or the interest rates on such index notes are
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effectively converted to floating rates based primarily on LIBOR

through the use of interest rate, currency and equity swaps.

END-USER DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

The Company utilizes a variety of derivative products including
interest rate, currency and equity swaps as an end-user to mod-
ify the interest rate characteristics of its long-term debt portfo-
lio. The Company utilizes interest rate swaps to convert a
substantial portion of the Company’s fixed rate debt to floating
interest rates to more closely match the terms of assets being
funded and to minimize interest rate risk. In addition, the
Company utilizes cross-currency swaps to hedge its exposure to
foreign currency risk as a result of its non-U.S. dollar debt obli-
gations, after consideration of non-U.S. dollar assets which are
funded with long-term debt obligations in the same currency. In
certain instances, two or more derivative contracts may be uti-
lized by the Company to manage the interest rate nature and/or

currency exposure of an individual long-term debt issuance.
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debt was designated as the hedged item of a fair value hedge.

Notioral Amounts of End-User
Derivative Activities

Effective fiscal 2001, the Company adopted SFAS 133 and as such
all end-user derivatives at November 30, 2001 are recorded at fair
value on the balance sheet (see Note 1: Significant Accounting
Policies—Derivative Financial Instruments). The Company
adjusted the carrying value of its hedged fixed rate debt to a mod-

ifted mark-to-market value in accordance with SFAS 133, as such

=

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the notional amounts of the
Company’s interest rate, currency and equity swaps related to its
long-term debt obligations were approximately $49.1 billion
and $35.1 billion, respectively. In terms of notional amounts

outstanding, these derivative products mature as follows:

(2) Other derivatives include basis swaps and hedges of embedded derivatives.

rate debt and effective weighted-average rates of interest:

Effective Weighted-Average
Interest Rates of Long-Term Debt

(1) Weighted-average interest rates were calculated utitizing non-U.S. dollar interest rates, where applicable.

Long-Term Debt

Fair Value Hedge Other”
In millions U.s. Non-U.S. Cross- u.s. Non-U.S.
November 30 Dollar Dollar Currency Dollar Dollar 2002 2001
Maturing in Fiscal 2002 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ § 4,684
Maturing in Fiscal 2003 2,638 693 192 4,159 978 8,650 4,580
Maturing in Fiscal 2004 1,688 832 690 4,118 1,070 8,398 4,731
Maturing in Fiscal 2005 2,048 282 852 2,690 338 6,210 3,442
Maturing in Fiscal 2006 3,135 604 598 1,779 903 7,019 4,778
Maturing in Fiscal 2007 1,669 1,459 1,176 1,099 1,999 7,402 3,727
December 1, 2007 and thereafter 5,629 498 923 1,704 2,626 11,380 9,135
Total $ 16,807 § 4,368 $ 4,431 $15,549 $ 7914 $ 49,069 $ 35,077
Weighted-average interest rate at November 30
Receive rate 7.14% 5.03% 3.65% 2.16% 2.98% 4.39% 5.32%
Pay rate 2.41% 3.56% 2.35% 1.75% 3.44% 247% 2.81%

In addition, the Company’s end-user derivative activities resulted in the following changes to the Company’s mix of fixed and floating

Weighted-Average

Before After Contractual Effective Rate
In millions End-User End-User Interest After End-User
November 30, 2002 Activities Activities Rate Activities
?
USD Obligations
Fixed rate $18,330 $ 170
Floating rate 9,031 31,729
Tota! USD 27,361 31,899 5.25% 2.14%
Non-USD Obligations 1,317 6,779
Total $ 38,678 $ 38,678 4.73% 2.29%
Before After Contractual Effective Rate
In millions End-User End-User Interest After End-User
November 30, 2001 Activities Activities Rate Activities
USD Obligations
Fixed rate $19,674 $ 537
Floating rate 9,287 32,702
Total USD 28,961 33,239 5.55% 2.79%
Non-USD Obligations 9,340 5,062
Total $ 38,301 $ 38,301 5.19% 2.89%

{1} Weighted-average interest rates were calculated using non-U.S. dollar interest rates, where applicable.
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In March 2002, the Company issued $575 million of floating
rate convertible notes. These notes bear an interest rate equiva-
lent to LIBOR minus 90 basis points per annum (subject to
adjustment in certain events) and mature on April 1, 2022. The
notes are convertible at $96.10 per share (resulting in approxi-
mately 6 million shares), in certain circumstances. These cir-
cumstances include Holdings’ common stock trading at or

about $120.125 for a specified number of trading days, as well

as the trading price of the notes declining to certain levels, a sig-
nificant downgrade in the ratings of the notes below a specified
level and other events. Holdings has the option to repurchase
these notes on or after April 1, 2004. The holders of the notes
may cause Holdings to repurchase the notes at par on April 1,
2004, 2007, 2012 or 2017, or upon a change of control of Hold-
ings. In such instances, the Company may elect to redeem these

notes for stock.

Note 7

Preferred
Securities Subject
to Mandatory
Redemption

Preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption are com-

prised of the following issues:

Preferred Securities Subject
tc Mandatory Redemption

In millions

November 30 2002 2001
Lehman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust | $ 325 $ 325
Lehman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust Il 385 385

Total $ 710 $ 710

The following table summarizes the financial structure of each

such trust at November 30, 2002:

Trust Securities

Issuance date

Preferred securities issued
Liquidation preference per security
Liquidation value (in millions)
Coupon rate

Distributions payable

TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES SUBJECT TO MANDATORY REDEMPTION
During 1999, the Company formed two Delaware business
trusts for the purposes of: (a) issuing trust securities represent-
ing ownership interests in the assets of the trust; (b) investing
the gross proceeds of the trust securities in junior subordinated
debentures of the Company; and (c) engaging in activities nec-
essary or incidental thereto. The Company owns the residual
equity of the trusts and as such these trusts are consolidated.
The loans from the trust to the Company represented by the
junior subordinated debentures are eliminated in consolidation.
To date, the two trusts have issued redeemable equity securities
having an aggregate liquidation value of $710 million. Dividends
on the trust preferred securities are presented on a basis consis-
tent with minority interest in the income of subsidiaries and are
shown as a reduction to the Company’s income from continuing

operations, net of tax in accordance with EITF Issue 86-32.

Lehman Brothers Holdings Lehman Brothers Holdings

Capital Trust I Capital Trust II
January 1999 April 1999
13,000,000 Series | 15,400,000 Series J
$ 25 $ 25
$ 325 $ 385

8% 7.875%
Quarterly Quarterly

Distributions guaranteed by
Mandatory redemption date
Redeemable by issuer on or after

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.
March 31, 2048
March 31, 2004

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.
June 30, 2048
June 30, 2004

Junior Subordinated Debentures
Principal amount outstanding (in millions)
Coupon rate

Interest payable

Maturity date

Redeemable by issuer on or after
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$ 325

8%
Quarterly
March 31, 2048
March 31, 2004

$ 385
7.875%
Quarterly
June 30, 2048
June 30, 2004
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Note 8 Holdings is authorized to issue a
Preferred total of 38,000,000 shares of pre-

Stock ferred stock. At November 30, 2002,
Holdings had 590,000 shares issued
and outstanding under various
series as described below. All pre-

ferred stock has a dividend preference over Holdings’ common
stock in the paying of dividends and a preference in the liquida-

tion of assets.

SERIES C

On May 11, 1998, Holdings issued 5,000,000 Depository
Shares, each representing 1/10th of a share of 5.94% Cumula-
tive Preferred Stock, Series C (“Series C Preferred Stock”), $1.00
par value. The shares of Series C Preferred Stock have a
redemption price of $500 per share, together with accrued and
unpaid dividends. Holdings may redeem any or all of the out-
standing shares of Series C Preferred Stock beginning on May
31, 2008. The $250 million redemption value of the shares out-
standing at November 30, 2002 is classified on the Company’s
Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as a compo-

nent of Preferred stock.

SERIES D

On July 21, 1998, Holdings issued 4,000,000 Depository Shares,
each representing 1/100th of a share of 5.67% Cumulative Pre-
ferred Stock, Series D (“Series D Preferred Stock”), $1.00 par
value. The shares of Series D Preferred Stock have a redemption
price of $5,000 per share, together with accrued and unpaid
dividends. Holdings may redeem any or all of the outstanding
shares of Series D Preferred Stock beginning on August 31,
2008. The $200 million redemption value of the shares out-
standing at November 30, 2002 is classified on the Company’s
Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as a compo-

nent of Preferred stock.

SERIES E

On March 28, 2000, Holdings issued 5,000,000 Depository
Shares, each representing 1/100th of a share of Fixed/Adjustable
Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series E (“Series E Preferred
Stock™), $1.00 par value. The initial cumulative dividend rate on
the Series E Preferred Stock is 7.115% per annum through May
31, 2005; thereafter the rate will be the higher of either the three-
month U.S. Treasury Bill rate, the 10-year Treasury constant
maturity rate or the 30-year U.S. Treasury constant maturity rate,
in each case plus 1.15%, but in any event not less than 7.615%

nor greater than 13.615%. The shares of Series E Preferred

T

Stock have a redemption price of $5,000 per share, together with
accrued and unpaid dividends. Holdings may redeem any or all
of the outstanding shares of Series E Preferred Stock beginning
on May 31, 2005. The $250 million redemption value of the
shares outstanding at November 30, 2002 is classified on the
Company’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as a

component of Preferred stock.

REDEEMABLE VOTING

In 1994, Holdings issued the Redeemable Voting Preferred Stock
to American Express and Nippon Life for $1,000. The holders of
the Redeemable Voting Preferred Stock were entitled to receive
annual dividends through May 31, 2002, in an amount equal to
50% of the amount, if any, by which the Company’s net income
for each fiscal year exceeded $400 million, up to a maximum of
$50 million per year ($25 million on a pro-rated basis, for the
last dividend period, which ran from December 1, 2001 to May
31, 2002). For the years ended November 30, 2002, 2001 and
2000, the Company’s net income resulted in the recognition of
dividends in those years in the amounts of $25 million, $50 mil-
lion and $50 million respectively, on the Redeemable Voting
Preferred Stock. On the final dividend payment date, July 15,
2002, Holdings redeemed all of the Redeemable Preferred Stock,
for a total of $1,000.
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In October 2000, Lehman Brothers’

Note 9 ]
Common Board of Directors declared a two-
Stock for-one common stock split,

effected in the form of a 100% stock
dividend. All share and per share
data presented in this Annual

Report to Stockholders reflect the effect of the split.

In April 2001, the Company’s shareholders approved the adop-
tion of an amendment of the Company’s Restated Certificate of
Incorporation to increase the aggregate number of authorized

shares of common stock from 300 million to 600 million.

During the years ended November 30, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the
Company repurchased or acquired shares of its Common Stock
at an aggregate cost of approximately $1,510 million, $1,676
million and $1,203 million, respectively. These shares were
acquired in the open market and from employees who had ten-
dered mature shares to pay for the exercise cost of stock options
or for tax withholding obligations on RSU issuance or option

exercises.

Changes in shares of Holdings’ common stock outstanding are

as follows:

Common Stock

In 1997, the Company established an irrevocable grantor trust
(the “RSU Trust”) in order to provide common stock voting
rights to employees who hold outstanding restricted stock units
and to encourage employees to think and act like owners. The
RSU Trust was initially funded in 1997 with a total of 32.0 mil-
lion shares consisting of 10.0 million treasury shares for
restricted stock unit (“RSU”) awards under the Employee
Incentive Plan and 22.0 million new issue shares of Common
Stock for RSU awards under the 1994 Management Ownership
Plan. In 2002, 2001 and 2000, 9.3 million, 16.0 million and 11.8
million treasury shares, respectively, were transferred into the
RSU Trust. At November 30, 2002, approximately 36.6 million
shares were held in the RSU Trust with a total value of approxi-
mately $754 million. For accounting purposes, these shares are

valued at weighted-average grant prices.

Shares transferred to the RSU Trust do not impact the total
number of shares used in the computation of earnings per com-
mon share because the Company considers the RSUs as com-
mon stock equivalents for purposes of this computation.
Accordingly, the RSU Trust has had no effect on the total equity,

net income or earnings per share of the Company.

November 30 2002 2001 2000
Shares outstanding, beginning of period 237,534,091 236,395,332 239,825,620
Exercise of stock options and other share issuances 10,455,954 8,369,721 10,015,048
Treasury stock purchases (26,159,002) (23,230,962) (25,245,336)
Issuances of shares to the RSU Trust 9,300,000 16,000,000 11,800,000
Shares outstanding, end of period 231,131,043 237,534,091 236,395,332

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

Note 10
Incentive The Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Plans (the “ESPP”) allows employees to

purchase Common Stock at a 15%

discount from market value, with a

maximum of $25,000 in annual
aggregate purchases by any one individual. The number of
shares of Common Stock authorized for purchase by eligible
employees is 12.0 million. As of November 30, 2002 and 2001,
5.8 million shares and 5.5 million shares, respectively, of Com-
mon Stock had cumulatively been purchased by eligible
employees through the ESPP.
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1994 MANAGERMENT OWNERSHIP PLAN

The Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. 1994 Management Owner-
ship Plan (the “1994 Plan”) provides for the issuance of
restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance stock units
(“PSUs”), stock options and other equity awards for a period of
up to ten years to eligible employees. A total of 33.3 million
shares of Common Stock may be granted under the 1994 Plan.
At November 30, 2002, RSU, PSU and stock option awards with
respect to 31.2 million shares of Common Stock have been
made under the 1994 Plan of which 1.5 million are outstanding
and 29.7 million have been converted to freely transferable

Common Stock.
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1995 MANAGEMENT QWNERSHIP PLAN

During 1996, the Company’s stockholders approved the 1996
Management Ownership Plan (the “1996 Plan”) under which
awards similar to those of the 1994 Plan may be granted, and
under which up to 42.0 million shares of Common Stock may
be subject to awards. At November 30, 2002, RSU, PSU and
stock option awards with respect to 34.8 million shares of Com-
mon Stock have been made under the 1996 Plan of which 19.2
million are outstanding and 15.6 million have been converted to

freely transferable Common Stock.

EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE PLAN

The Employee Incentive Plan (“EIP”) has provisions similar to
the 1994 Plan and the 1996 Plan, and authorization from the
Board of Directors for the issuance of up to 246.0 million shares
of Common Stock which may be subject to awards. At Novem-
ber 30, 2002, awards with respect to 186.7 million shares of
Common Stock have been made under the EIP of which 132.2
million are outstanding and 54.5 million have been converted to

freely transferable Common Stock.

The following is a summary of RSUs outstanding under Hold-

ings’ stock-based incentive plans:

Restricted
Stock Units
Total
Balance, November 30, 1999 83,065,780
Granted 22,220,829
Canceled (3,416,523)

Exchanged for stock without restrictions (19,247,545)

Balance, Movember 30, 2000 82,622,541
Granted 15,292,447
Canceled (3,268,825)
Exchanged for stock without restrictions (18,189,092)

Balance, November 36, 2001 76,457,071
Granted 9,178,667
Canceled (1,750,479)

Exchanged for stock without restrictions (14,547,191)

Balance, November 30, 2002 69,338,068

Eligible employees receive RSUs as a portion of their total com-
pensation in lieu of cash. There is no further cost to employees
associated with the RSU awards. The Company measures com-
pensation cost for RSUs based on the market value of its Com-
mon Stock at the grant date and amortizes this amount to
expense over the applicable vesting periods. RSU awards made
to employees have various vesting provisions and generally con-

vert to unrestricted freely transferable Common Stock five years

from the grant date. Holdings accrues a dividend equivalent on
each RSU outstanding (in the form of additional RSUs), based

on dividends declared on its Common Stock.

The Company has repurchased approximately 47 million shares
to offset the future delivery requirements associated with
the above RSUs. These shares have either been transferred to
the RSU trust (see Note 9 Common Stock) or are held as Trea-

sury stock.

In 2002, the Company delivered 10.9 million shares of its Com-
mon Stock to current and former employees in satisfaction of
RSUs awarded in 1997. Substantially all of the shares delivered
were funded from the RSU Trust. The Company also received
3.4 million shares from current and former employees in satis-
faction of applicable tax withholding requirements. Shares
received were recorded as Treasury stock at an aggregate value of
$207 million.

Of the RSUs outstanding at November 30, 2002, approximately
46.7 million RSUs were amortized, approximately 9.4 million
RSUs will be amortized during fiscal 2003, and the remaining
RSUs will be amortized subsequent to November 30, 2003.

Included in the previous table are PSUs the Company has
awarded to certain senior officers. The number of PSUs which
may be earned is dependent upon the achievement of certain
performance levels within predetermined performance periods.
During the performance period these PSUs are accounted for as
variable awards. At the end of a performance period, any PSUs
earned will convert one-for-one to RSUs which then vest in
three or more years. As of November 30, 2002, approximately
10.4 million PSUs have been awarded to date, subject to vesting
and transfer restrictions. The compensation cost for the RSUs
payable in satisfaction of PSUs is accrued over the combined

performance and vesting periods.

Total compensation cost recognized during 2002, 2001 and 2000
for the Company’s stock-based awards was approximately $570

million, $544 million and $520 million, respectively.

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, approximately 13.0 million
and 14.8 million stock options, respectively, were exercisable at
weighted-average prices of $29.95 and $25.04, respectively. The
weighted-average remaining contractual life of the stock options
outstanding at November 30, 2002 is 6.52 years. The exercise
price for all stock options awarded has been equal to the market

price of Common Stock on the day of grant.
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Stock Options

Weighted-Average Expiration

Total Exercise Price Dates

Balance, November 30, 1999 44,278,756 $22.15 6/00-11/09
Granted 25,107,075 $34.89
Exercised (9,476,558) $17.04
Canceled (5,341,634} $24.89

Balance, November 30, 2000 54,567,639 $2862 2/01-11/10
Granted 21,529,844 $53.28
Exercised (6,261,030) $16.49
Canceled (1,442,239) $27.01

Balance, November 30, 2001 68,394,214 $37.53 1/02-11/1
Granted 26,211,500 $54.04
Exercised (9,652,041) $25.02
Canceled (1,413,181) $43.20

83,540,492 $44.21 11/03-1112

Balance, November 30, 2002

The disclosure requirements of SFAS 123 require companies
which elect not to record the fair value of stock-based compen-
sation awards in the Consolidated Statement of Income to pro-
vide pro forma disclosures of net income and earnings per
share in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as
if the fair value of stock-based compensation had been
recorded. The Company utilized the Black-Scholes option-pric-
ing model to quantify the pro forma effects on net income and
earnings per common share of the fair value of the stock
options granted and outstanding during 2002, 2001 and 2000.
Based on the results of the model, the weighted-average fair
value of the stock options granted was $19.07,$13.54 and $9.91
for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The weighted-average
assumptions which were used for 2002, 2001 and 2000 included
risk-free interest rates of 3.26%, 4.16% and 6.27%, an expected
life of 5.3 years, 4.5 years and 3.6 years, and expected volatility
of 35%, 30% and 35%, respectively. In addition, annual divi-
dends of $0.36, $0.28 and $0.22 were used for the 2002, 2001
and 2000 options, respectively.

Stock Options

Under the retroactive alternative to SFAS 123, the Company’s
2002, 2001 and 2000 pro forma net income would have been $830
million, $1,183 million and $1,725 million, respectively, com-
pared to actual net income of $975 million, $1,255 million and
$1,775 million, respectively. Pro forma earnings per common
share for 2002, 2001 and 2000 would have been $2.95, $4.20 and
$6.32, respectively, compared to actual earnings per common
share of $3.47, $4.38 and $6.38, respectively. The pro forma
amounts reflect the effects of the Company’s stock option grants
and the 15% purchase discount from market value offered to the

Company’s employees who participate in the ESPP.

Had the Company elected to expense its stock options in fiscal
2002 under the prospective alternative to SFAS 123, net income
and earnings per share would have decreased by $81 million

and $0.31 per share, respectively.

The following table provides further details relating to
Holdings’ stock options outstanding as of November 30, 2002:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Weighted- Remaining Weighted- Remaining
Range of Number Average Contractual Number Average Contractual
Exercise Prices Outstanding  Exercise Price  Life (in years) Exercisable  Exercise Price  Life (in years)
$ 9.00-% 9.99 357,880 $ 9.00 1.49 357,880 $ 39.00 1.49
$10.00-319.99 27,308 $19.88 2.00 27,308 $19.88 2.00
$20.00-$29.99 15,685,323 $22.96 3.26 4,955,278 $ 21.61 2.27
$30.00-$39.99 15,644,540 $ 33.67 3.68 6,733,809 $33.84 3.27
$40.00-$49.99 13,572,883 $47.87 8.01 588,904 $ 48.25 443
$50.00-$59.99 28,233,102 $53.76 8.82 28,867 $57.23 6.19
$60.00-$69.99 10,019,456 $ 63.40 7.75 339,247 $63.40 4.98
Batance, Movember 30, 2002 83,540,492 $44.21 6.52 13,031,293 $29.95 2.94
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Note 11
Earnings Per
Common Share

Earnings per share was calculated as follows:

Earnings Per Common Share

Fiscal year ended
In millions, except for per share data 2002 2001 2000
Numerator:
Net income § 975 $1,255 $1,775
Preferred stock dividends 69 94 96
Numerator for basic earnings per share—income
available to common stockholders § 906 $1,161 $ 1,679
Convertible preferred stock dividends - - 8
Numerator for diluted earnings per share—income available to common stockholders
(adjusted for assumed conversion of preferred stock) § 906 $1,161 $ 1,687
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share—weighted-average shares 2454 2431 243.8
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options 12.4 16.2 13.0
Restricted stock units 34 6.0 5.0
Preferred shares assumed converted into common - - 24
Dilutive potential common shares 15.8 22.2 204
Denominator for diluted earnings per share—adjusted weighted-average shares 261.2 265.3 264.2
Basic Earnings Per Share § 3.69 $ 477 $ 6.89
Diluted Earnings Per Share § 3.47 $ 4.38 $ 638

For 2000, Convertihle Voting Preferred Shares were convertible into common shares at a conversion price of approximately $61.50 per share, However, for purposes of calculating
dilutive earnings per share, preferred shares were assumed to be converted into common shares when basic earnings per share exceed preferred dividends per share obtainable

upon conversion (approximately $3.08 on an annualized basis).

Note 12 The Company operates globally

Capital
Requirements

through a network of subsidiaries,
with several subject to regulatory
requirements. In the United States,
LBI, as a registered broker-dealer,
is subject to the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Rule 15¢3-1, the Net Capital Rule,
which requires LBI to maintain net capital of not less than the
greater of 2% of aggregate debit items arising from customer trans-
actions, as defined, or 4% of funds required to be segregated for
customers’ regulated commodity accounts, as defined. At Novem-
ber 30, 2002, LBT’s regulatory net capital, as defined, of $1,485 mil-

lion exceeded the minimum requirement by $1,357 million.

LBIE, a United Kingdom registered broker-dealer and sub-
sidiary of Holdings, is subject to the capital requirements of the
Financial Services Authority (“FSA”) of the United Kingdom.
Financial resources, as defined, must exceed the total financial

resources requirement of the FSA. At November 30, 2002,

LBIE’s financial resources of approximately $2,648 million
exceeded the minimum requirement by approximately $801
million. Lehman Brothers Japan Inc’s Tokyo branch, a regu-
lated broker-dealer, is subject to the capital requirements of the
Financial Services Agency and at November 30, 2002, had net
capital of approximately $386 million which was approximately
$132 million in excess of the specified levels required. Lehman
Brothers Bank, FSB (the “Bank”), the Company’s thrift sub-
sidiary, is regulated by the Office of Thrift Supervision
(“OTS”). The Bank exceeds all regulatory capital requirements
and is considered well capitalized by the OTS. Certain other
non-U.S. subsidiaries are subject to various securities, com-
modities and banking regulations and capital adequacy
requirements promulgated by the regulatory and exchange
authorities of the countries in which they operate. At Novem-
ber 30, 2002, these other subsidiaries were in compliance with
their applicable local capital adequacy requirements. In addi-
tion, the Company’s “AAA” rated derivatives subsidiaries,
Lehman Brothers Financial Products Inc. (“LBFP”) and
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Lehman Brothers Derivative Products Inc. (“LBDP”), have The regulatory rules referred to above, and certain covenants con-

established certain capital and operating restrictions which are tained in various debt agreements, may restrict Holdings’ ability to

reviewed by various rating agencies. At November 30, 2002, withdraw capital from its regulated subsidiaries, which in turn

LBFP and LBDP each had capital which exceeded the require- could limit its ability to pay dividends to shareholders. At Novem- i
ment of the most stringent rating agency by approximately $60 ber 30,2002, approximately $5.4 billion of net assets of subsidiaries

million and $35 million, respectively. were restricted as to the payment of dividends to Holdings.

Note 13
Employee

Benefit Plans The Company provides various pension plans for the majority of its employees worldwide. In addition,
the Company provides certain other postretirement benefits, primarily health care and life insurance, to

eligible employees. The following summarizes these plans:

Empioyee Benefit Plans

Rate of compensation increase

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
e November 30 November 30
In millions,
Except for weighted-average 2002 2001 2002 2001
Change in Benefit Obligation J
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 776 $ 667 $ 53 $ 50
Service cost 23 15 1 1
Interest cost 54 49 4 3
Plan amendment - 4 - -
Actuarial loss 72 67 15 3
Benefits paid 27 24) (5) L)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 19 2) - -
Projected Benefit obligation at end of year $ 917 $ 776 $ 68 § 53
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 803 $ 914
Actual return on plan assets, net of expenses (100) (88) P
Employer contribution 177 2 '
Benefits paid 27) (24)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 14 &)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 867 $ 803
(Underfunded) funded status (50) $ 27 $ (68) $ (53)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss {gain) 512 284 3) (19)
Unrecognized prior service cost (credit) 18 20 ) )
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $ 480 $ 331 $ (75) $ (76)
Weighted-Average Assumptions
Discount rate 6.44% 6.89% 6.75% 7.25%
Expected return on plan assets 8.92% 10.81%

4.60% 4.82% 5.00% 5.00%

At November 30, 2002 plan assets exceeded the accumulated benefit obligation by approximately $21 million.

Components of Net Periodic Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
Cost/ {Benefit) Twelve Months Ended Twelve Months Ended
November 30 November 30

In millions 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000
Service cost $ 24 $ 15 $ 14 $ 01 $ 1 $ 1
Interest cost 54 49 46 4 3 4
Expected return on plan assets (72) 97) (96) - - -
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain) 18 - 1 (1 n 2
Recognized prior service cost 2 1 1
Net periodic cost (benefit) $ 26 $32) $ (34) $ 4 $ 3 $ 3
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For measurement purposes, the annual health care cost trend Assumed health care cost trend rates have an effect on the
rate was assumed to be 12.0% for the year ending November 30, amount reported for postretirement benefits. A one-percentage-
2003. The rate was assumed to decrease 1.0% per year until it point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have
reaches 5.0% and remain at that level thereafter. the following effects:

In millions 1% Point Increase 196 Point Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost components in fiscal 2002 $0.4 $(0.1)

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation at November 30, 2002 336 $(3.2)

Note 14
Income
Taxes
The Company files a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return reflecting the income of Holdings

and its subsidiaries. The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

income Taxes

In millions

Twelve months ended November 30 2002 200! 2000
Current
Federal $ 371 $ 491 $ 295
State 208 148 45
Foreign 459 441 577
1,038 1,080 817
Deferred
Federal (462) (4086) (114)
State (166) (65) (54)
Foreign (42) (172) &)
670) (643) (169)
Provision for income taxes $ 368 $437 $ 748

Income before taxes included $406 million, $(50) million and $1,287 million that has also been subject to income taxes of
foreign jurisdictions for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The income tax provision differs from that computed by using the statutory federal income tax rate for the reasons
shown below:

In millions
Twelve months ended November 30

Federal income taxes at statutory rate
State and local taxes

Tax-exempt income

Amortization of goodwili

Foreign operations

Other, net

Provision for income taxes
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The increase in the Company’s effective tax rate in 2002 from
2001 was primarily due to a less favorable mix of geographic
earnings, which is partially offset by a greater impact of perma-
nent differences, including tax-exempt income. The decrease in
the effective tax rate in 2001 from 2000 was primarily due to a
greater impact of permanent differences due to a decrease in the
level of pre-tax income, an increase in tax-exempt income and a

higher level of income from foreign operations.

Income tax benefits of approximately $347 million, $549 mil-
lion and $373 million were allocated to Additional paid-in cap-
ital related to various employee compensation plans for 2002,
2001 and 2000. In addition, the Company recorded $(1) million,
$(1) million and ${8) million of tax (benefits)/provisions from
the translation of foreign currencies, which was recorded
directly in Accumulated other comprehensive income, for the
fiscal years 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These benefits will

reduce the amount of current income taxes payable.

At November 30, 2002 and 2001 the deferred tax assets and lia-

bilities consisted of the following:

Deferred Tax Assets
and Liabilities

In millions

The Company permanently reinvested its earnings in certain
foreign subsidiaries. As of November 30, 2002, $178 million of
the Company’s accumulated earnings were permanently rein-
vested. At current tax rates, additional federal income taxes (net
of available tax credits) of $70 million would become payable if

such income were to be repatriated.

Deferred income taxes are provided for the differences between
the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in
the Consolidated Financial Statements. These temporary differ-
ences will result in future income or deductions for income tax
purposes and are measured using the enacted tax rates that will be
in effect when such items are expected to reverse. The Company
provides for deferred income taxes on undistributed earnings of

foreign subsidiaries which are not permanently reinvested.

The net deferred tax assets are included in Other assets in the

accompanying Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition.

November 30 2002 2001
Deferred Tax Assets
Liabilities/accruals not currently deductible $ 698 $ 459
Deferred compensation 898 782
Unrealized trading activity 336 01
Foreign tax credits including carryforwards 284 309
NOL carryforwards 53 148
Other 214 168
$ 2,483 $ 1,967
Less: Valuation allowance (25) (18)
Total deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance $ 2,458 $ 1,949
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Excess tax over financial depreciation, net $ 2 $ (119)
Pension and retirement costs (128) (96}
Other %] (55)
Total deferred tax liabilities $ (133) $ (270
Net Deferred Tax Assets § 2,325 $ 1,679

The Company has approximately $151 million of net operating
loss carryforwards associated with foreign subsidiaries, all of
which have no expiration date. The Company utilized $168
million of foreign tax credit carryforwards during 2002. The
carryforward limitation period for the remaining foreign tax

credits has not begun.
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As of November 30, 2002, $18 million of the valuation
allowance relates to temporary differences resulting from the
1988 acquisition of E.F Hutton Group, Inc. (now known as LB I
Group Inc.) which are subject to separate company limitations.
If future circumstances permit the recognition of the acquired
tax benefit, then goodwill will be reduced.
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Derivatives are financial instru-

Note 15 )

Derivative ments whose value is based upon
Financial an underlying asset (e.g., Treasury
Instruments bond), index (e.g., S&P 500) or

reference rate (e.g., LIBOR). Over-

the-counter (“OTC”) derivative
products are privately negotiated contractual agreements that
can be tailored to meet individual client needs and include for-
wards, swaps and certain options including caps, collars and
floors. Exchange-traded derivative products are standardized
contracts transacted through regulated exchanges and include

futures and certain option contracts listed on an exchange.

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into
derivative transactions both in a trading capacity and as an end-
user. The Company’s derivative activities (both trading and end-
user) are recorded at fair value on the Company’s Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition. Acting in a trading capacity,
the Company enters into derivative transactions to satisfy the
needs of its clients and to manage the Company’s own exposure
to market and credit risks resulting from its trading activities
(collectively, “Trading-Related Derivative Activities”). As an
end-user, the Company primarily enters into interest rate swap
and option contracts to adjust the interest rate nature of its
funding sources from fixed to floating rates, and to change the
index upon which floating interest rates are based (e.g., Prime to
LIBOR) (collectively, “End-User Derivative Activities”). There is
an extensive range of derivative products available in the mar-
ketplace, which can vary from a simple forward foreign
exchange contract to a complex derivative instrument with mul-
tiple risk characteristics involving the aggregation of the risk
characteristics of a number of derivative product types includ-
ing swap products, options and forwards. Listed below are
examples of various derivative product types along with a brief
discussion of the performance mechanics of certain specific

derivative instruments.

SWAP PRODUCTS

Swap products include interest rate and currency swaps, lever-
aged swaps, swap options, other interest rate option products
including caps, collars and floors, and credit default swaps. An
interest rate swap is a negotiated OTC contract in which two par-
ties agree to exchange periodic interest payments for a defined
period, calculated based upon a predetermined notional amount.
Interest payments are usually exchanged on a net basis through-
out the duration of the swap contract. A currency swap is an

OTC agreement to exchange a fixed amount of one currency

i

for a specified amount of a second currency at the outset and
completion of the swap term. Leveraged swaps involve the mul-
tiplication of the interest rate factor upon which the interest
payment streams are based (e.g., Party A pays three times the
six-month LIBOR). Caps are contractual commitments that
require the writer to pay the purchaser the amount by which an
interest reference rate exceeds a defined contractual rate, if any,
at specified times during the contract. Conversely, a floor is a
contractual commitment that requires the writer to pay the
amount by which a defined contractual rate exceeds an interest
reference rate at specified times over the life of the contract, if
any. Equity swaps are contractual agreements whereby one party
agrees to receive the appreciation (or depreciation) value over a
strike price on an equity investment in return for paying
another rate, which is usually based upon equity index move-
ments or interest rates. Commodity swaps are contractual com-
mitments to exchange the fixed price of a commodity for a
floating price (which is usually the prevailing spot price)
throughout the swap term. Credit derivatives are contractual
agreements that provide insurance against a credit event of one
or more referenced credits. The nature of the credit event is
established by the buyer and seller at the inception of the trans-
action, and such events include bankruptcy, insolvency, rating
agency downgrade and failure to meet payment obligations
when due. The buyer of the credit derivative pays a periodic fee
in return for a contingent payment by the seller (insurer) fol-
lowing a credit event. The Company acts as both a buyer and

seller of credit derivatives,

OPTIONS

Option contracts provide the option purchaser (holder) with
the right but not the obligation to buy or sell a financial instru-
ment, commodity or currency at a predetermined exercise price
(strike price) during a defined period (American Option) or at
a specified date (European Option). The option purchaser pays
a premium to the option seller (writer) for the right to exercise
the option. The option seller is obligated to buy (put) or sell
(call) the item underlying the contract at a set price, if the
option purchaser chooses to exercise. Option contracts also exist
for various indices and are similar to options on a security or
other instrument except that, rather than physical settling with
delivery of the underlying instrument, they are cash settled. As a
purchaser of an option contract, the Company is subject to
credit risk, since the counterparty is obligated to make payments
under the terms of the option contract, if the Company exer-
cises the option. As the writer of an option contract, the Com-

pany is not subject to credit risk but is subject to market risk,
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v ey

since the Company is obligated to make payments under the

terms of the option contract if exercised.

Option contracts may be exchange-traded or OTC. Exchange-
traded options are the obligations of the exchange and generally
have standardized terms and performance mechanics. In con-
trast, all of the terms of an OTC option including the method of
settlement, term, strike price, premium and security are deter-

mined by negotiation of the parties.

FUTURES AND FORWARDS

Futures contracts are exchange-traded contractual commit-
ments to either receive {purchase) or deliver (sell) a standard
amount or value of a financial instrument or commodity at a
specified future date and price. Maintaining a futures contract
requires the Company to deposit with the exchange an amount
of cash or other specified assets as security for its obligation.
Therefore, the potential for losses from exchange-traded prod-
ucts is limited. As of November 30, 2002 the Company had
approximately $2.2 billion on deposit with futures exchanges
consisting of cash and securities (customer and proprietary).
Additionally, futures exchanges generally require the daily cash
settlement of unrealized gains/losses on open contracts with the
futures exchange. Therefore, futures contracts provide a reduced
funding alternative to purchasing the underlying cash position
in the marketplace. Futures contracts may be settled by physical
delivery of the underlying asset or cash settlement (for index
futures) on the settlement date or by entering into an offsetting
futures contract with the futures exchange prior to the settle-

ment date.

Forwards are OTC contractual commitments to purchase or sell
a specified amount of a financial instrument, foreign currency
or commodity on a future date at a predetermined price. TBAs
are forward contracts which give the purchaser/seller an obliga-
tion to obtain/deliver mortgage securities in the future. There-
fore, TBAs subject the holder to both interest rate risk and
principal prepayment risk.

TRADING-RELATED DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

Derivatives are subject to various risks similar to other financial
instruments including market, credit and operational risk. In
addition, the Company may be exposed to legal risks related to
its derivative activities including the possibility that a transac-
tion may be unenforceable under applicable law. The risks of
derivatives should not be viewed in isolation, but rather should

be considered on an aggregate basis along with the Company’s
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other trading-related activities. The Company manages the risks
associated with derivatives on an aggregate basis along with the
risks associated with its proprietary trading and market-making
activities in cash instruments as part of its firmwide risk man-

agement policies.

Derivatives are generally based upon notional amounts.
Notional amounts are not recorded on-balance sheet, but rather
are utilized solely as a basis for determining future cash flows to
be exchanged. Therefore, notional amounts provide a measure
of the Company’s involvement with such instruments, but are

not indicative of actual or potential risk.

As of November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had total
notional/contract amounts of trading related derivative activi-
ties of $7,488 billion and $5,394 billion, respectively. Of the total
notional amounts, approximately $7,116 billion and $4,917 bil-
lion are over-the-counter and $372 billion and $477 billion are
exchange-traded as of November 30, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. The total weighted-average maturity at November 30,
2002, for over-the-counter and exchange-traded contracts was
4.2 years and 0.7 years, respectively. Approximately $2,445 bil-
lion of the notional/contract amount of the Company’s Trad-
ing-Related Derivative Activities mature within the year ending
November 30, 2003.

The Company records its Trading-Related Derivative Activities
on a mark-to-market basis with realized and unrealized gains
and losses recognized currently in Principal transactions in the
Consolidated Statemnent of Income. Unrealized gains and losses
on derivative contracts are recorded on a net basis in the Con-
solidated Statement of Financial Condition for those transac-
tions with counterparties executed under a legaily enforceable
master netting agreement and are netted across products when
such provisions are stated in the master netting agreement. The
Company offers equity, fixed income and foreign exchange
products to its customers. Because of the integrated nature of
the market for such products, each product area trades cash

instruments as well as derivative products.

Listed in the following table is the fair value of the Company’s
Trading-Related Derivative Activities as of November 30, 2002
and 2001.

Assets included in the following table represent the Company’s
unrealized gains, net of unrealized losses for situations in

which the Company has a master netting agreement. Similarly,
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Fair Value of Trading-Related
Derivative Financizl instruments

Fair Value*
November 30, 2002

Fair Value*
November 30, 2001

In millions Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Interest rate, currency and credit default swaps and options
(including caps, collars and floors) $ 9,046 $ 7,087 $ 6,482 $ 6,485
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options 814 1,157 740 1,111
Other fixed income securities contracts ‘
{including futures contracts, options and TBAs) 602 215 747 226
Equity contracts (including equity swaps, warrants and options) 3,400 1,667 3,586 2,502
$ 13,862 $10,126 $ 11,555 $10,324

*Amounts represent carrying value (exclusive of collateral) and do not include receivables or payables related to exchange-traded futures contracts.

liabilities represent net amounts owed to counterparties. The
fair value of assets/liabilities related to derivative contracts at
November 30, 2002 and 2001 represents the Company’s net
receivable/payable for derivative financial instruments before
consideration of collateral. Included within the $13,862 million
fair value of assets at November 30, 2002 was $12,846 million
related to swaps and other OTC contracts and $1,016 million
related to exchange-traded option and warrant contracts.
Included within the $11,555 million fair value of assets at
November 30, 2001 was $10,555 million related to swaps and
other OTC contracts and $1,000 million related to exchange-

traded option and warrant contracts.

Counterparties to the Company’s OTC derivative products are
primarily financial intermediaries (U.S. and foreign banks),
securities firms, corporations, governments and their agencies,
finance companies, insurance companies, investment compa-
nies and pension funds. Collateral held related to OTC contracts
generally includes cash and U.S. government and federal agency
securities. Presented below is an analysis of the Company’s net
credit exposure at November 30, 2002 for OTC contracts based
upon actual ratings made by external rating agencies or by
equivalent ratings established and utilized by the Company’s
Credit Risk Management Department.

R . L Counterparty S&-P/ Net Credit
The primary difference in risks between OTC and exchange- Risk Rating Moody’s Equivalent Exposure
traded contracts is credit risk. OTC contracts contain credit risk 1 AAA/AZE 15%
for unrealized gains from various counterparties for the dura- 5 AA-/Aa3 or higher 30%
tion of the contract, net of collateral. With respect to OTC
et of collate P 0 3 A-/A3 or higher 33%
contracts, including swaps, the Company views its net credit ,
) ) o 4 BBB-/Baa3 or higher 17%
exposure to third-parties to be $8,223 million at November 30,
. . R 5 BB-/Ba3 or higher 4%
2002, representing the fair value of the Company’s OTC
. . . . . . 6 B+/B1 or lower 1%
contracts in an unrealized gain position, after consideration
of collateral.
The Company’s net credit exposure from OTC contracts, by maturity, is set forth below:
Less Greater
Counterparty than 2-5 5-10 than
Risk Rating 1 Year Years Years 10 Years Total
3% 3% 6% 3% 15%
7% 7% 8% 8% 30%
7% 12% 6% 8% 33%
4% 5% 3% 5% 17%
- - 3% 1% 4%
1% - - - 1%
22% 27% 26% 25% 100%
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The Company is also subject to credit risk related to its
exchange-traded derivative contracts. Exchange-traded con-
tracts, including futures and certain options, are transacted
directly on exchanges. To protect against the potential for a
default, all exchange clearinghouses impose net capital require-
ments for their membership. Additionally, exchange clearing-
houses require counterparties to futures contracts to post
margin upon the origination of the contracts and for any
changes in the market value of the contracts on a daily basis
(certain foreign exchanges provide for settlement within three
days). Therefore, the potential for losses from exchange-traded

products is limited.

END-USER DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

The Company utilizes a variety of derivative products for non-
trading purposes as an end-user to modify the interest rate char-
acteristics of its long-term debt portfolio and certain secured
financing activities. In this regard, the Company primarily
enters into fair value hedges utilizing interest rate swaps to con-
vert a substantial portion of the Company’s fixed rate long-term
debt and certain term fixed rate secured financing activities to a
floating interest rate. The ineffective portion of the fair value
hedges were included in Interest expense on the Consolidated
Statement of Income and were not material to the Company’s
results for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2002 and 2001.

—

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the notional amounts of the
Company’s end-user derivative activities related to its long-term
debt obligations were approximately $49.1 billion and $35.1 bil-
lion, respectively. (For a further discussion of the Company’s

long-term debt related end-user derivative activities see Note 6.)

The Company also utilizes derivative products as an end-user to
modify its interest rate exposure associated with its secured
financing activities, including Securities purchased under agree-
ments to resell, Securities borrowed, Securities sold under agree-
ments to repurchase, Securities loaned and Other secured
borrowings. As with the Company’s long-term debt, its secured
financing activities expose the Company to interest rate risk.
The Company, as an end-user, manages the interest rate risk
related to these activities by utilizing derivative financial instru-
ments, including interest rate swaps and purchased options. The
Company designates certain specific derivative transactions
against specific assets and liabilities with matching maturities.
At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company, as an end-user,
utilized derivative financial instruments with an aggregate
notional amount of $6.9 billion and $8.8 billion, respectively, to
modify the interest rate characteristics of its secured financing
activities. The total notional amount of these agreements had
a weighted-average maturity of 5.3 years and 5.1 years as of
November 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company is a market leader in

Note 16

Securitizations mortgage- and asset-backed securi-

tizations and other structured

financing arrangements. In connec-

tion with these activities, the Com-

pany utilizes special purpose
entities principally for (but not only limited to) the securitiza-
tion of commercial and residential mortgages, home equity
loans, government and corporate bonds, and lease and trade
receivables. The Company derecognizes financial assets trans-
ferred in securitizations provided that the Company has relin-
quished control over such assets. For further information
regarding the accounting for securitization transactions, refer to
Note 1, Basis of Presentation — Consolidation Accounting Poli-
cies — Transfers of Financial Assets. The Company may retain an
interest in the financial assets it securitizes (“retained interests”),
which may include assets in the form of residual interests in the
special purpose entities established to facilitate the securitiza-

tion. Any retained interests are included in Securities and other
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financial instruments owned (principally Mortgages and mort-
gage-backed) within the Company’s Consolidated Statement of
Financial Condition. During fiscal 2002 and 2001, the Company
securitized approximately $155 billion and $110 billion of
financial assets, including: $108 billion and $50 billion of resi-
dential mortgages, $15 billion and $11 billion of commercial
mortgages and $32 billion and $49 billion of other asset-backed

financial instruments, respectively.

As of November 30, 2002 and November 30, 2001, the Com-
pany had approximately $1.1 billion and $1.6 billion, respec-
tively, of non-investment grade retained interests from its
securitization activities {principally junior security interests in
securitizations) including $0.5 billion and $1.0 billion of com-
mercial mortgages, $0.4 billion and $0.3 billion of residential
mortgages, and $0.2 billion and $0.3 billion of other asset-
backed financial instruments, respectively. The Company
records its trading assets on a mark-to-market basis, including

those assets held prior to securitization, as well as any retained
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interests post securitization. Mark-to-market gains or losses are
recorded in “Principal transactions” in the Consolidated State-
ment of Income. Fair value is determined based upon market
prices, if available. When market prices are not available, fair
value is determined based on valuation pricing models which

take into account relevant factors such as discount, credit and

At November 30, 2002:

Weighted-average life

Annual prepayment rate

Credit loss assumption
Weighted-average discount rate

At November 30, 2001:

Weighted-average life

Annual prepayment rate

Credit loss assumption
Weighted-average discount rate

T

prepayment assumptions, and also considers comparisons to

similar market transactions.

The tables below outline the key economic assumptions used in

measuring the fair value of retained interests:

Residential Commercial Other
Mortgages Mortgages Asset Backed
3 years 1 year 5 years

4 -65CPR 0-15CPR 8- 15 CPR
5-6% 2-17% 3-10%
17% 20% 5%
Residential Commercial Other
Mortgages Mortgages Asset Backed
4 years 1 year 2 years
6-45CPR 0-10CPR 6-12CPR
5-6% 2-17% 3-10%
19% 20% 8%

The table below outlines the sensitivity of the fair value of the retained interests to immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in the

above assumptions:

At November 30, 2002

At November 30, 2001

Residential Commercial Other Residential Commercial Other
In millions Mortgages Mortgages  Asset Backed Mortgages Mortgages Asset Backed
Prepayment speed:
Impact of 10% adverse change 3 4 $ - $ 1 $ 9 $ - $ -
impact of 20% adverse change $ 8 $ - $ 2 $ 17 $ - 31
Assumed credit losses:
Impact of 10% adverse change $ 17 $ $ 12 $ 16 $ - $ 3
Impact of 20% adverse change $ 33 $ 12 $ 24 $ 32 $ - $ 5
Discount rate:
Impact of 10% adverse change $ 17 3 - $ 12 $ 26 $ 2 $ 2
Impact of 20% adverse change $ 34 $ - $ 24 $ 52 $ 5 $ 5

The sensitivity analysis in the preceding table is hypothetical
and should be used with caution as the above stresses are per-
formed without consideration of the impact of hedges, which
serve to reduce the Company’s actual risk. In addition, these
results are calculated by stressing a particular economic assump-
tion independent of changes in any other assumption (as
required by U.S. GAAP); in reality, changes in one factor often

result in changes in another (for example, changes in discount

In millions

Purchases of delinquent loans
Cash flows received on retained interests

rates will often impact expected prepayment speeds). Further,
changes in the fair value based upon a 10% or 20% variation in
an assumption should not be extrapolated because the relation-
ship of the change in the assumption to the change in fair value

may not be linear.

The following table summarizes cash flows from securitization

trusts for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2002:

Residential Commercial Other
Mortgages Mortgages Asset Backed
¢ - $ (22) $ -
$ 240 $ 73 $ 133
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SFAS No. 107 “Disclosures about

Note 17

. Fair Value of Financial Instru-
Fair Value
of Financial ments” requires the Company to
Instruments report the fair value of financial

instruments, as defined. Assets and
labilities that are carried at fair
value include all of the Company’s trading assets and liabilities
including derivative financial instruments used for trading pur-
poses as described in Note 1, which are recorded as Securities
and other financial instruments owned and Securities and other

financial instruments sold but not yet purchased.

Assets and liabilities, which are recorded at contractual amounts,
that approximate market or fair value include cash and cash
equivalents, cash and securities segregated and on deposit for
regulatory and other purposes, receivables, certain other assets,
commercial paper and short-term debt and payables. The market
value of such items is not materially sensitive to shifts in market
interest rates because of the limited term to maturity of these

instruments and their variable interest rates.

In 2002 and 2001, the Company’s long-term debt was recorded
at historical amounts, unless designated as the hedged item in a
fair value hedge under SFAS 133. The Company carries such
hedged debt on a modified mark-to-market basis, which

amount could differ from fair value.

The following table provides a summary of the fair value of the
Company’s long-term debt and related end-user derivative
activities. The fair value of the Company’s iong-term debt was

estimated using either quoted market prices or discounted cash

flow analyses based on the Company’s current borrowing rates

for similar types of borrowing arrangements.

Fair Value of Long-Term Debt

In millions 2002 2001
Carrying value of long-term debt $ 38,678 $ 38,301
Fair value of long-term debt $ 38,968 $ 38,458
Unrecognized net (loss)

on long-term debt $ (290 (157

The Company carries its secured financing activities, including
Securities purchased under agreements to resell, Securities bor-
rowed, Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, Securities
loaned and Other secured borrowings, at their original contract
amount plus accrued interest. As the majority of such financing
activities are short-term in nature, carrying value approximates
fair value. At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had
$230 billion and $224 billion, respectively, of such secured financ-
ing activities. As with the Company’s long-term debt, its secured

financing activities expose the Company to interest rate risk.

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company, as an end user,
utilized derivative financial instruments with an aggregate
notional amount of $6.9 billion and $8.8 billion, respectively, to
modify the interest rate characteristics of its secured financing
activities. At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the carrying value of
these secured financing activities designated as a fair value hedge
approximated its fair value. Additionally, at November 30, 2002
and 2001, the Company had approximately $30 million and $20
million, respectively, of unrecognized losses related to approxi-
mately $3.9 billion and $8.5 billion, respectively, of long-term

fixed rate repurchase agreements.

Note 18
Financial
Instruments

Securities and other financial instruments owned and Securities and other financial instruments sold but

not yet purchased are recorded at fair value and were comprised of the following:

In millions

Securities and other financial instruments owned:

November 30, 2002 November 30, 2001

Mortgages and mortgage-backed $ 34431 $ 33,210
Government and agencies 28,543 26,697
Derivatives and other contractual agreements 13,862 11,555
Corporate debt and other 15,620 20,969
Corporate equities 21,252 23,480
Certificates of deposits and other money market instruments 5,570 3,451

$119,278 $119,362

Securities and other financial instruments sold but not yet purchased:

Government and agencies $ 40,852 $ 25,547
Derivatives and other contractual agreements 10,126 10,324
Corporate debt and other 8,927 6,482
Corporate equities 9,129 8,977

$ 69,034 $ 51,330

90




2002 Notes to Consolidated Statements

The Company enters into secured

Note 19 . }

Securities borrowing and lending transac-
Pledged as tions to finance trading inventory
Collateral positions, obtain securities for set-

tlement and meet customers’ needs.

The Company primarily receives
collateral in connection with resale agreements, securities bor-
rowed transactions, customer margin loans and certain other
loans. The Company is generally permitted to sell or repledge
these securities held as collateral and use the securities to secure
repurchase agreements, enter into securities lending transac-
tions or deliver to counterparties to cover short positions. The
Company carries secured financing agreements for financial
reporting purposes on a net basis when permitted under the
provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpreta-
tion No. 41 (“FIN 417).

At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the fair value of securities
received as collateral and securities owned that have not been
sold, repledged or otherwise encumbered totaled approximately
$51 billion and $38 billion, respectively. At November 30, 2002
and 2001, the gross fair value of securities received as collateral
where the Company was permitted to sell or repledge the secu-
rities was approximately $345 billion and $245 billion, respec-
tively. Of this collateral, approximately $338 billion and $234
billion at November 30, 2002 and 2001, respectively, has been
sold or repledged, generally as collateral under repurchase
agreements or to cover securities and other financial instru-

ments sold but not yet purchased.

The Company also pledges its own assets, principally to collat-
eralize certain financing arrangements. These pledged securi-
ties, where the counterparty has the right, by contract or
custom, to rehypothecate the financial instruments are classified
as Securities and other financial instruments owned, (pledged as
collateral), on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Finan-
cial Condition as required by SFAS 140.

In addition, the carrying value of securities and other financial
instruments owned that have been pledged to counterparties
where those counterparties do not have the right to sell or
repledge were approximately $39 billion and $52 billion at
November 30, 2002 and November 30, 2001, respectively.

As of November 30, 2002 and 2001,

Note 20 A

Other the Company was contingently
Comm|tments liable fOr $08 billion and $11 bll-
And lion, respectively, of letters of credit,
Contingencies primarily used to provide collateral

for securities and commodities bor-
rowed and to satisfy margin deposits at option and commodity

exchanges.

In connection with its financing activities, the Company had out-
standing commitments under certain lending arrangements of
approximately $1.5 billion and $2.1 billion at November 30, 2002
and 2001, respectively. These commitments require borrowers to
provide acceptable collateral, as defined in the agreements, when
amounts are drawn under the lending facilities. Advances made
under the above lending arrangements are typically at variable
interest rates and generally provide for over-collateralization
based upon the borrowers’ creditworthiness. At November 30,
2002, the Company had commitments to enter into forward
starting reverse repurchase agreements and repurchase agree-
ments, principally secured by government and government
agency collateral, of approximately $85.9 billion and $50.3 billion,
respectively, as compared to $52.3 billion and $26.5 billion,
respectively, at November 30, 2001.

The Company, through its high grade and high yield sales, trad-
ing and underwriting activities, makes commitments to extend
credit in loan syndication transactions. The Company utilizes
various hedging and funding strategies to actively manage its
market, credit and liquidity exposures on these commitments.
In addition, total commitments are not indicative of actual risk
or funding requirements, as the commitments may not be
drawn or fully utilized. These commitments and any related
draw downs of these facilities typically have fixed maturity dates
and are contingent upon certain representations, warranties and

contractual conditions applicable to the borrower.

The Company had credit risk associated with lending commit-
ments to investment grade borrowers (after consideration of
hedges) of $3.2 billion and $4.1 billion at November 30, 2002 and
November 30, 2001, respectively. In addition, the Company had
credit risk associated with lending commitments to non-invest-
ment grade borrowers (after consideration of hedges) of $1.7 bil-
lion and $1.4 billion at November 30, 2002 and November 30, 2001,
respectively. Before consideration of hedges, the Company had
commitments to investment and non-investment grade borrowers
of $7.1 billion and $1.8 billion as compared to $5.9 billion and $1.4
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billion at November 30, 2002 and November 30, 2001, respectively.
The Company had available undrawn borrowing facilities with
third parties of approximately $5.2 billion and $4.9 billion at
November 30, 2002 and November 30, 2001, respectively, which
can be drawn upon to provide funding for these commitments.
These funding facilities contain limits for certain concentrations of

counterparty, industry or credit ratings of the underlying loans.

In addition, the Company provided high yield contingent com-
mitments related to acquisition financing of approximately $2.8
billion and $0.6 billion at November 30, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. The Company’s intent is, and its past practice has been, to
sell down significantly all the credit risk associated with these
loans, if closed, through loan syndications consistent with the
Company’s credit facilitation framework. These commitments
are not indicative of the Company’s actual risk as the borrower’s
ability to draw is subject to there being no material adverse
change in either market conditions or the borrower’s financial
condition, among other factors. In addition, these commitments
contain certain flexible pricing features in order to adjust for

changing market conditions prior to closing.

As of November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had pledged
securities, primarily fixed income, having a market value of
approximately $41.6 billion and $31.8 billion, respectively, as
collateral for securities borrowed having a market value of

approximately $40.6 billion and $31.2 billion, respectively.

Securities and other financial instruments sold but not yet
purchased represent obligations of the Company to purchase
the securities at prevailing market prices. Therefore, the future
satisfaction of such obligations may be for an amount greater or
less than the amount recorded. The ultimate gain or loss is
dependent upon the price at which the underlying financial
instrument is purchased to settle the Company’s obligation

under the sale commitment.

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to
credit and market risk as a result of executing, financing and set-
tling various customer security and commodity transactions.
These risks arise from the potential that customers or counter-
parties fail to satisfy their obligations and that the collateral
obtained is insufficient. In such instances, the Company may be
required to purchase or sell financial instruments at unfavorable
market prices. The Company seeks to control these risks by
obtaining margin balances and other collateral in accordance

with regulatory and internal guidelines,
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At November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had commit-
ments to invest up to $672 million and $555 million, respec-
tively, directly and through partnerships in private equity related
investments. These commitments will be funded as required
through the end of the respective investment periods, princi-

pally expiring in 2004.

Subsidiaries of the Company, as general partner, are contingently
liable for the obligations of certain public and private limited part-
nerships organized as pooled investment funds or engaged prima-
rily in real estate activities. In the opinion of the Company,
contingent liabilities, if any, for the obligations of such partnerships
will not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the

Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

In the normal course of its business, the Company has been
named a defendant in a number of lawsuits and other legal pro-
ceedings. After considering all relevant facts, and established
reserves, in the opinion of the Company such litigation will not,
in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the Com-
pany’s consolidated financial position or cash flows, but may be
material to the Company’s operating results for any particular

period, depending on the level of income for such period.

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

As a leading global investment bank, the Company is actively
involved in securities underwriting, brokerage, distribution and
trading. These and other related services are provided on a
worldwide basis to a large and diversified group of clients and
customers, including multinational corporations, governments,
emerging growth companies, financial institutions and individ-

ual investors.

A substantial portion of the Company’s securities and com-
modities transactions are collateralized and are executed with,
and on behalf of, commercial banks and other institutional
investors, including other brokers and dealers. The Company’s
exposure to credit risk associated with the non-performance of
these customers and counterparties in fulfilling their contrac-
tual obligations pursuant to securities transactions can be
directly impacted by volatile or illiquid trading markets, which
may impair the ability of customers and counterparties to sat-

isfy their obligations to the Company.

Securities and other financial instruments owned by the Com-
pany include U.S. government and agency securities, and secu-

rities issued by non-U.S. governments, which in the aggregate,
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represented 10% of the Company’s total assets at November 30,
2002. In addition, collateral held by the Company for resale
agreements represented approximately 36% of total assets at
November 30, 2002, and primarily consisted of securities issued
by the U.S. government, federal agencies or non-U.S. govern-
ments. The Company’s most significant industry concentration
is financial institutions, which includes other brokers and deal-
ers, commercial banks and institutional clients. This concentra-

tion arises in the normal course of the Company’s business.

LEASE CORMMITMENTS

The Company leases office space and equipment throughout the
world. Total rent expense for 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $148 mil-
lion, $98 million and $47 million, respectively. Certain leases on
office space contain escalation clauses providing for additional

payments based upon maintenance, utility and tax increases.

Minimum future rental commitments under non-cancelable

operating leases (net of subleases of $74 million) are as follows:

Minimum Future Rental Commitments
Under Cperating Lease Agreements

In millions

Fiscal 2003 $ 139
Fiscal 2004 109
Fiscal 2005 122
Fiscal 2006 124
Fiscal 2007 121
December 1, 2007 and thereafter 1,272

$1,887

Included in the above table are rental commitments of approx-
imately $991 million associated with properties that have been
or will be vacated resulting from the Company’s decision to exit
certain of its New York City facilities (resulting from occupancy
actions taken after the events of September 11th), and the con-
solidation of certain U.S. and foreign branches (See Notes 2 and
3 for additional information regarding September 11th Related
{Recoveries)/Expenses, Net and Other Real Estate Reconfigura-
tion Charge).

The Company has entered into a lease for its new European head-
quarters being constructed at Canary Wharf in London. This
lease qualifies for capital lease treatment under SFAS No. 13
“Accounting for Leases.” The Company’s lease at Canary Wharf

expires in September 2033. Occupancy is scheduled to begin late

—

in 2003, The Company has capitalized approximately $440 mil-

lion in construction in progress as of November 30, 2002.

Minimum Future Commitments
Under The Capital Lease Agreement

In millions
Fiscal 2003 $ -
Fiscal 2004 -
Fiscal 2005 51
Fiscal 2006 51
Fiscal 2007 51
December 1, 2007 and thereafter 2,315
Total minimum lease payments 2,468
Less: Amounts of these payments

which represent interest 1,605

Present value of future minimum

capital lease payments $ 863

OTHER OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

SPEs are corporations, trusts or partnerships which are estab-
lished for a limited purpose. SPEs by their nature generally do
not provide equity owners with significant voting powers, as
the SPE documents govern all material decisions. The Com-
pany’s primary involvement with SPEs relates to securitization
transactions in which transferred assets, including mortgages,
loans, receivables and other assets, are sold to an SPE and
repackaged into securities (i.e. securitized). SPEs may also be
utilized by the Company to create securities with a unique risk
profile desired by investors, and as a means of intermediating
financial risk. In summary, in the normal course of business,
the Company may establish SPEs; sell assets to SPEs; under-
write, distribute and make a market in securities issued by SPEs;
transact derivatives with SPEs; own securities or residual inter-

ests in SPEs; and provide liquidity or other guarantees for SPEs.

The Company follows the consolidation accounting guidance
under SFAS 140 and EITF Topic D-14 to determine whether or
not an SPE is required to be consolidated. The majority of the
Company’s involvement with SPEs relates to securitization
transactions meeting the SFAS 140 definition of a qualifying
special purpose entity (“QSPE”). A QSPE can generally be
described as an entity with significantly limited powers which
are intended to limit it to passively holding financial assets and
distributing cash flows based upon pre-set terms. Based upon
the guidance in SFAS 140, the Company is not required to and
does not consolidate such QSPEs. Rather the Company

accounts for its involvement with QSPEs under a financial
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components approach in which the Company recognizes only

its retained involvement with the QSPE.

The Company is a market leader in mortgage (both residential
and commercial), municipal and other asset-backed securitiza-
tions which are principally transacted through QSPEs. The Com-
pany securitized approximately $155 billion of financial assets
during fiscal 2002 including $108 billion of residential, $15 billion
of commercial and $32 billion of municipal and other financial
assets. As of November 30, 2002 and 2001, the Company had
approximately $1.! billion and $1.6 billion of non-investment
grade retained interests from its securitization activities, respec-
tively. The Company accounts for such retained interests at fair
value with changes in fair value reported in earnings. In addition
to these retained interests, the Company also provides certain lig-
uidity commitments to QSPEs, particularly with respect to its
municipal securitizations. At November 30, 2002, the Company
had liquidity commitments of approximately $4.4 billion related
to trust certificates issued by SPEs, backed by investment grade
municipal securities, as compared to $3.6 billion at November 30,
2001. The Company’s obligation under such liquidity commit-
ments is generally less than one year and is further limited by the
fact that the Company’s abligation ceases if the underlying assets
are downgraded below investment grade or default. (For a further
discussion of the Company’s securitization activities, see Note 16

Securitizations.)

Certain special purpose entities do not meet the QSPE criteria
due to their permitted activities not being sufficiently limited, or
because the assets are not deemed qualifying financial instru-
ments (e.g. real estate). In instances in which the Company is
either the sponsor of or transferor to a non-qualifying SPE, the
Company follows the accounting guidance provided by EITF
Topic D-14 to determine whether consolidation is required.
Under this guidance, the Company would not be required to,
and does not consolidate such SPE if a third party investor made
a substantive equity investment in the SPE (minimum of 3%),
was subject to first dollar risk of loss of such SPE, and had a con-
trolling financial interest. The Company’s principal involvement
with non-QSPEs relates to CDOs, synthetic credit transactions
and other structured financing transactions to facilitate cus-

tomers’ investment and/or funding needs.

With respect to CDO transactions, in which a diversified port-
folio of securities and/or loans are owned by a SPE and man-
aged by an independent asset manager, the Company’s role is

principally limited to acting as structuring and placement agent,
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warehouse provider, underwriter and market maker in the
related CDO securities. In a typical CDQ, at the direction of the
asset manager, the Company will warehouse securities and/or
loans on its balance sheet pending the transfer to the SPE once
capital markets permanent financing is completed. During
2002, the Company acted as structuring and placement agent
for approximately $3.1 billion of CDO transactions. At Novem-
ber 30, 2002, the Company did not have any significant contin-
uing involvement in the CDOs arranged by the Company other

than acting as market maker.

The Company is a dealer in credit default swaps and, as such,
makes a market in buying and selling credit protection on single
issuers as well as on portfolios of credit exposures. One of the
financial instruments used by the Company to mitigate credit risk
is synthetic credit transactions entered into with SPEs. In these
transactions, the Company purchases credit protection in the
form of a credit default swap from the SPE on referenced obliga-
tions (single issuer or portfolio). The Company pays a premium
to the SPE for this protection and is secured by high quality col-
lateral purchased by the SPE. Third party investors in these SPEs
are subject to default risk associated with the referenced obliga-
tions under the default swap as well as credit risk to the assets held
by the SPE. The Company’s maximum loss associated with its
involvement with such synthetic credit transactions is the present
value of the premium paid by the Company to purchase the
related credit protection from investors in such SPEs. At Novem-
ber 30, 2002, the carrying value of the Company’s credit default
swaps with such SPEs approximated $731 million (however, the
collateral held by such SPEs approximated $5.1 billion).

The Company also enters into certain structured financing
transactions with SPEs to facilitate customers’ investment
and/or funding needs. The Company’s involvement in these
transactions is generally limited to providing liquidity or other
default protection to investors. At November 30, 2002 and 2001,
the Company had approximately $5.0 billion and $0.7 billion,
respectively, of such commitments, which were principally over-

collateralized with investment grade collateral.

On January 17, 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities — an interpretation
of ARB No. 51, (“Interpretation No. 46”). This interpretation
provides new consolidation accounting guidance for entities
involved with SPEs. This guidance does not impact the account-
ing for securitizations transacted through QSPEs, but rather will
replace EITF Topic D-14 as it is applied to non-QSPEs. This
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interpretation will require a primary beneficiary, defined as an
entity which participates in either a majority of the risks or
rewards of such SPE, to consolidate the SPE. An SPE would not
be subject to this interpretation if such entity has sufficient voting
equity capital (presumed to require a minimum of 10%), such
that the entity is able to finance its activities without the addi-
tional subordinated financial support from other parties. The
interpretation will be effective for all existing transactions with
SPEs beginning in the Company’s fourth quarter of 2003. While
the Company has not yet completed its analysis of the impact of
the new interpretation, the Company does not anticipate that the
adoption of this interpretation will have a material impact on the

Company’s financial condition or its results of operations.

Lehman Brothers operates in three

Note 21

Segments segments: Investment Banking,

Capital Markets, and Client Services.

The Investment Banking Division
provides advice to corporate, insti-
tutional and government clients throughout the world on merg-
ers, acquisitions and other financial matters. This Division also
raises capital for clients by underwriting public and private offer-

ings of debt and equity securities.

The Capital Markets Division includes the Company’s institu-
tional sales, trading, research and financing activities in equity
and fixed income cash and derivatives products. Through this
Division, the Company is a global market-maker in numerous
equity and fixed income products, including U.S., European and
Asian equities, government and agency securities, money mar-
ket products, corporate high grade, high yield and emerging
market securities, mortgage- and asset-backed securities,
municipal securities, bank loans, foreign exchange and deriva-
tives products. This Division also includes the Company’s risk
arbitrage and secured financing businesses, as well as realized
and unrealized gains and losses related to the Company’s private
equity investments. The financing business manages the Com-
pany’s equity and fixed income matched book activities, supplies
secured financing to institutional clients and customers, and
provides secured funding for the Company’s inventory of equity

and fixed income products.

Client Services revenues reflect earnings from the Company’s
Private Client and Private Equity businesses. Private Client rev-

enues reflect the Company’s high-net-worth retail customer

=

flow activities as well as asset management fees earned from
these clients. Private Equity revenues include the management
and incentive fees earned in the Company’s role as general part-

ner for thirty-three Private Equity partnerships.

The Company’s segment information for the years ended
November 30, 2002, November 30, 2001 and November 30,
2000 is prepared utilizing the following methodologies:

B Revenues and expenses directly associated with each seg-
ment are included in determining pre-tax earnings.

B Expenses not directly associated with specific segments
are allocated based upon the most relevant measures appli-
cable, including each segment’s revenues, headcount and

other factors.

& Net revenues include allocations of interest revenue and
interest expense to securities and other positions in relation
to the cash generated by, or funding requirements of, the

underlying positions.

B Segment assets include an allocation of indirect corporate
assets which have been fully allocated to the Company’s busi-
ness segments, generally based on each segment’s respective

headcount figures.
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2002 Notes to Consolidated Statements

Segments
Investment Capital Client

In millions Banking Markets Services Total

Movember 30, 2002
Gross revenues $ 1,731 $ 14,225 $ 825 $ 16,781
Interest expense ~ 10,605 21 10,626
Net revenues 1,731 3,620 804 6,155
Depreciation and amortization expense 45 188 25 258
Cther expenses 1,276 2,534 588 4,398
Earnings before taxes™? $ 410 § 898 $ 191 $ 1,499
Segment assets (billions) $ 1.6 § 2537 $ 5.0 $ 2603

November 30, 2001
Gross revenues $ 1,925 $ 19,605 $ 862 $ 22,392
Interest expense - 15,581 75 15,656
Net revenues 1,925 4,024 787 6,736
Depreciation and amortization expense 25 134 15 174
Other expenses 1,527 2,568 592 4,687
Earnings before taxes ®@ 3 373 $ 1,322 3 180 $ 1875
Segment assets (billions) £ 1.7 $ 2403 $ 5.8 $ 2478

Movember 30, 2000
Gross revenues $ 2,179 $ 23,290 § 978 $ 26,447
Interest expense - 18,601 139 18,740
Net revenues 2,179 4,689 839 7,707
Depreciation and amortization expense 20 73 9 102
Other expenses 1,660 2,815 551 5,026
Earnings before taxes $ 499 $ 1,801 $ 279 $ 2,579
Segment assets (billions) $ 1.3 § 2183 $ 5.1 $ 2247

(1) Before dividends on preferred securities.

(2) Excludes the impact of the real estate reconfiguration charge of $128 million, September 11th related (recoveries)/expenses, net gain of ($108) million and regulatory

settlement charge of $80 million.
(3) Excludes the impact of September 11th refated expenses, net of $127 million,

Net Revenues by
Geographic Region

In millions

Twelve months ended Noverber 30 2002 2001 2000
us. $ 3,869 $ 4,241 $4,492
Europe 1,674 1,955 2,389
Asia Pacific 612 540 826

Total $6,155 $6,736 $7,707

The following information describes the Company’s methods of
allocating consolidated net revenues to geographic regions. Net
revenues, if origination or trading-related, have been distributed
based upon the location where the primary or secondary posi-
tion was fundamentally risk managed,; if fee-related, by the loca-

tion of the senior coverage banker; if commission-related, by the
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location of the salespeople. In addition, certain revenues associ-
ated with domestic products and services which resulted from
relationships with international clients and customers have been
reclassified as international revenues using an allocation consis-

tent with the Company’s internal reporting.




Note 22
Quarterly
Information
(unaudited)

2002 Notes to Consolidated Statements

ter due to the nature of the Company’s business activities.

Quarterly Information

The following information represents the Company’s unaudited quarterly results of operations for 2002 and
2001. Certain amounts reflect reclassifications to conform to the current period’s presentation. These quarterly
results reflect all normal recurring adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair

presentation of the results. Revenues and earnings of the Company can vary significantly from quarter to quar-

(unaudited)
In millions 2002 2001
Except per share amounts Nov. 30 Aug. 31 May 31 Feb. 28 Nov. 30 Aug. 31 May 31 Feb. 28
Total revenues $ 4133 $4075 $ 4347 % 4,226 $ 4300 §$ 5057 $6284 § 6,752
Interest expense 2,594 2,728 2,684 2,620 3,097 3,429 4,262 4,869
Net revenues 1,539 1,347 1,663 1,606 1,203 1,628 2,022 1,883
Non-interest expenses:
Compensation and benefits 785 687 848 819 615 830 1,032 960
Nonpersonnel expenses 400 391 379 347 345 363 365 350
September 11th related
(recoveriesyexpenses, net (108) ~ - - 127 - - -
Other real estate reconfiguration charge 128 - - - - - - -
Regulatory settlement 80 - - - - - - -
Total non-interest expenses 1,285 1,078 1,227 1,166 1,087 1,193 1,397 1,310
Income before taxes and dividends
on trust preferred securities 254 269 436 440 116 435 625 573
Provision for income taxes 53 61 126 128 (28) 112 181 172
Dividends on trust preferred
securities 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14
Net income $ 187 $ 194 § 296 $ 298 $ 130 $ 309 § 430 $ 387
Net income applicable to
common stock $ 176 $ 183 $ 285 § 262 $§ 119 $ 298 §$ 369 §$ 375
Weighted-average shares
Basic 2439 2467 245.8 2453 241.9 240.4 2439 246.2
Diluted 2551 261.0 263.5 265.2 2615 261.8 266.9 270.7
Earnings per common share
Basic $ 072 % 074 $ 116 § 1.07 $§ 049 $ 124 % 15 % 1.52
Diluted $ 069 § 070 $ 108 % 0.99 $ 046 $ 114 § 138 § 1.39
Dividends per common share $ 009 $ 009 $ 009 §$ 0.09 $ 007 ¢ 007 $ 007 § 007
Book value per common share
(at period end) $ 3415 §$ 3349 § 3322 § 3247 $ 3181 $3083 $ 2993 1§ 2890
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Selected Financial Data

The following table summarizes certain consolidated financial information included in the audited consolidated financial statements.

Selected Financial Data

In millions, except per share data, other data and financial ratios
Twelve months ended November 30 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Consolidated Statement Of Income

Revenues:
Principal transactions $ 1,851 $ 2,77¢ $ 3,713 2,341 $ 1,373
Investment banking 1,771 2,000 2,216 1,682 1,441
Commissions 1,286 1,091 944 651 513
interest and dividends 11,728 16,470 19,440 14,251 16,542
Other 45 52 134 64 25
Total revenues 16,781 22,392 26,447 18,989 19,894
Interest expense 10,626 15,656 18,740 13,649 15,781
Net revenues 6,155 6,736 7,707 5,340 4,113
Non-interest expenses:
Compensation and benefits 3,139 3,437 3,931 2,707 2,086
Nonpersonnel expenses 1,517 1,424 1,197 1,002 975
September 11th related
(recoveries)/expenses, net (108) 127 - - -
Other real estate reconfiguration charge 128 - - - -
Regulatory settlement 80 - - - -
Total non-interest expenses 4,756 4,988 5,128 3,709 3,061
Income before taxes and dividends
on trust preferred securities 1,399 1,748 2,579 1,631 1,052
Provision for income taxes 368 437 748 457 316
Dividends on trust preferred securities 56 56 56 42 -
Net income 3 975 $ 1,255 $ 1,775 $ 1,132 $ 736
Net income applicable to common stock $ 906 $ 1,161 $ 1,679 $ 1,037 $ 649
Consolidated Statement Of Financial Condition (at period end)
Total assets $260,336 $247,816 $224,720 $192,244 $153,890
Total assets excluding matched book @ 165,995 164,538 143,478 130,022 111,509
Long-term debt ® 38,678 38,301 35,233 30,691 27,341
Preferred securities (subject to mandatory redemption) 710 710 860 710 -
Total stockholders’ equity 8,942 8,459 7,781 6,283 5,413
Total capital @ 48,330 47,470 43,874 37,684 32,754
Per Share Data®
Net Income © $ 347 § 438 $ 638 $  4.08 $ 260
Dividends declared per common share $ 036 $ 028 $ 022 $ 018 $ 015
Book value per common share (at period end) § 34.15 § 31.81 § 2878 § 2275 $ 18.53

Qther Data (at period end)

Ratio of total assets to total stockholders’

equity and preferred securities 27.0x 27.0x 26.0x 27.5x 28.4x
Ratio of total assets excluding matched book to

total stockholders’ equity and preferred securities @ 17.2x 17.9x 16.6x 18.6x 20.6x
Employees 12,343 13,090 11,326 8,393 8,873
Financial Ratios {%)
Compensation and benefits/net revenues 51.0 51.0 51.0 50.7 50.7
Pretax operating margin @ 227 26.0 335 30.5 25.6
Effective tax rate @ 26.3 25.0 290 28.0 30.0
Return on average common equity @ 11.2 15.9 26.6 20.8 15.2
Return on average common equity (@nnualized, excluding
redeemable preferred dividend)®¢ 11.5 16.5 27.4 21.8 16.3
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{a) Matched book represents “securities purchased under agreements to resell” ("reverse repos”) to the extent that such balance is less than “securities sold under agreements to repurchase” {“repos”) as
of the statement of financial condition date. Several nationally recognized rating agencies consider such reverse repos to be a proxy for matched book assets when evaluating the Company’s capital
strength and financial ratios. Such agencies consider matched book assets to have a low risk profile and exclude such amounts in the calculation of leverage (total assets divided by total stockhclders’
equity and trust preferred securities). Although there are other assets with similar risk characteristics on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition, the exclusion of reverse repos from
total assets in this calculation reflects the fact that these assets are matched against liabilities of a similar nature, and therefore require minimal amounts of capital support. Accordingly, the Company
believes the ratio of tctal assets excluding matched book to total stockholders’ equity and trust preferred securities to be a more meaningful measure of the Company’s leverage.

b} Long-term debt includas senior notes and subordinated indebtedness.

<) Total capital includes long-term debt, stockholders’ equity and preferred securities subject to mandatary redemption.

d) All share and per shara data have been restated for the two-far-one common stock split effective October 2000.

e) Diluted £PS was reduced by $0.30 in 2002, as a result of the real estate reconfiguration charge, September 11th related (recoveries)/expenses, net and regulatory settiement charge. Diluted EPS was

reduced by $0.26 in 2001 as a result of September 11th related expenses, net.

{f) The book value per common share calculation includes restricted stock units granted under Lehman Brothers Stock Award Programs included in stockholders' equity.

{g) Pre-tax operating margin was reduced by approximately 1,7% in 2002, as a result of the real estate reconfiguration charge, September 11th related (recoveries)/expenses, net and regulatary settlement

charge. Pre-tax operat ng margin was reduced by approximately 1.8% in 2001, as a result of September 11th related expenses, net.

{h) The effective tax rate increased by approximately 0.3% in 2002, as a result of the real estate reconfiguration charge, September 11th related (recoveries)expenses, net and regulatory settlement charge.

The effective tax rate decreased by approximately 1.3% in 2001, as a result of September 11th related expenses, net.

(i) The Company's return on common equity was reduced by 1.0% in 2002, as a result of the real estate reconfiguration charge, September 11th related (recoveries)/expenses, net and regulatory settlement

charge. The Company's return on commaon equity was reduced by 1.0% in 2001, as a result of September 11th related expenses, net.

{j} Return on common equity calculated using net income before adjusting for special preferred dividends of $25 million in 2002 and $50 million in years 1998-2001. These dividends have been excluded

on an adjusted basis, as they will no longer be recurring after 2002,

(
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Other Stockholder Information

—

COMIMON STOCK

Ticker Symbol: LEH

The common stock of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. is listed on
the New York Stock Exchange and on the Pacific Exchange. As of
January 31, 2003, there were 22,677 holders of record of the
Company’s common stock. On January 31, 2003, the last report-

ed sales price of Lehman Brothers’ common stock was $54.53.

ANNUAL MEETING

Lehman Brothers’ annual meeting of stockholders will be held
on Tuesday, April 8, 2003 at 10:30 a.m. at 399 Park Avenue,
12th Floor Auditorium, New York, New York 10022.

DIVIDENDS

" Effective January 2003, Lehman Brothers’ Board of Directors
increased the fiscal 2003 dividend rate to $0.48 per common share
from an annual dividend rate of $0.36 per share in fiscal 2002.
Dividends on the Company’s common stock are generally
payable, following declaration by the Board of Directors, on the
last business day of February, May, August and Novernber.

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT FOR COMMON STOCK

Questions regarding dividends, transfer requirements, lost
certificates, changes of address, direct deposit of dividends,
the direct purchase and dividend reinvestment plan, or other

inquiries should be directed to:

The Bank of New York

Shareholders Services Department
P.O.Box 11258

Church Street Station

New York, New York 10286-1258
Telephone: (800) 824-5707 (U.S.)

(610) 312-5303 (non-US.)

E-mail: shareowner-sves@bankofny.com
Website: http://www.stockbny.com

Price Range Of Common Stock

DIRECT PURCHASE AND DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

Lehman Brothers’ Direct Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment
Plan provides both existing stockholders and first-time investors
with an alternative means of purchasing the Company’s stock. The
plan has no minimum stock ownership requirements for eligibility
and enrollment. Plan participants may reinvest all or a portion of
cash dividends and/or make optional cash purchases up to a max-
imum of $175,000 per year without incurring commissions or
service charges. Additional information and enrollment forms can

be obtained from the Company’s Transfer Agent listed above.

ANNUAL REPORT AND FORM 10-KX

Lehman Brothers will make available upon request, without
charge, copies of this Annual Report and the Annual Report
on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission. Requests may be directed to:

Jeffrey A. Welikson

Corporate Secretary

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.
399 Park Avenue

New York, New York 10022
Telephone: (212) 526-0858

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Ernst & Young LLP

5 Times Square

New York, New York 10036
Telephone: (212) 773-3000

INVESTOR RELATIONS
(212) 526-3267

MEDIA RELATIONS
(212) 526-4382

WEBSITE ADDRESS

http://www.lehman.com

Three months ended

Three months ended

2002 2001

Nov. 30 Aug. 31 May 31 Feb. 28 Nov. 30 Aug. 31 May 31 Feb. 28

High $63.20 $62.65 $66.52 $69.52 $71.93 $78.26 $82.25 $85.72
Low $42.59 $50.61 $57.22 $55.43 $46.64 $63.90 $55.35 $51.13
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